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General Overview

Efes Breweries International N.V. ("EBI") has a
strong presence in the countries where it
operates across a wide geography that consists
of Russia, the Commonwealth of Independent
States ("CIS") and South Eastern Europe. EBI
is registered in the Netherlands and listed in
the London Stock Exchange ("EBID") with a free
float of approximately 30%.

Commencing its operations in 1996, EBI
operates with 10 breweries across Russia,
Moldova, Kazakhstan and Serbia with a total
annual brewing capacity of 24.6 million
hectoliters ('mhl") and an annual malt production
capacity of 139,000 tonnes as of end of 2007.
In early 2008, EBI announced that it entered
Georgia through the acquisition of the leading
brewer in the market with 0.6 mhl annual
brewing capacity and that it set up a joint venture
with Heineken to jointly invest in the Uzbekistan
beer market.

Following the completion of the acquisition in
Georgia, EBI currently has 12 breweries with
an aggregate capacity of 25.2 mhl

Operational geography of EBI includes some
of the largest or fastest growing beer markets
in Eurasia with improving macroeconomic
trends. Consequently, increasing purchasing
power as well as the low base of per capita
beer consumption, indicate a significant potential
for further growth in these markets. In order
to meet the increasing demand in its operating
markets, EBI increases the capacities of its
existing brewing facilities, establishes additional
breweries through strategic acquisitions or
greenfield projects and expands its distribution
network.



EBlis a majorit'\;/ owned subsidiary of Anadolu Efes
Biracilik ve Malt Sanayii A.S.("Anadolu Efes"), the
leading beverage company in Turkey listed in the
Istanbul Stock Exchange (AEFES.IS). Anadolu Efes,
together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries and
affiliates, produces, markets and sells beer, malt, soft
drinks and bottled water across Turkey, Southeast
Europe, Russia, the CIS countries and the Middle
East. All beer operations of Anadolu Efes outside of
Turkey are conducted by EBI. Anadolu Efes comprises

e division of the Anadolu
A.S. ("Anadolu Group"), one of Turkey's leading
conglomerates. Anadolu Group operates with principal
interests in the beverage, automotive, finance, fast
service restaurants, writing instruments and office
supplies sectors through partnership and joint ventures
with a number of international corporations like Coca-
Cola, Heineken, Samsung, Isuzu, ltochu, Lombardini,
Faber-Castell and McDonald's.



At a Glance

y
J
2007 2006 % Change

Income Statement
Net Sales m USD 836 639 31%
Operating Profit m USD 81 55 45%
Operating Profit Margin 9.6% 8.7%
Depreciation and Amortization (Including Amortization of Goodwil) ~ m USD 73 57 27%
Net Income m USD 37 21 82%
Net Income Margin 4.5% 3.2%
EBITDA m USD 156 113 39%
EBITDA Margin 18.7% 17.6%
Balance Sheet
Cash& Cash Equivalents at the end of the year m USD 59 164 -64%
Total Assets m USD 1,684 1,529 10%
Shareholder's Equity m USD 863 763 13%
Total Financial Debt m USD 546 472 16%
Net Financial Debt/ EBITDA multiple 3.12 2.73
Other Data
Beer Sales Volumes m hectoliters 13.3 1.7 14%
Capital Expenditure (Gross) m USD 165 611 -73%
Earning per Share m USD 0.18 0.13
Average Number of Employees Number 4,416 4,872 -9%

Note 1: Interbrew Efes Brewery in which Efes Breweries International held
50% stake until August 2006, is accounted for by using proportionate
consolidation until the date of disposal and not included in the financial
statements of Efes Breweries International thereafter.

Note 2: EBITDA here means earnings before interest (financial income/
(expense) — net), tax, depreciation and amortisation, minus minority interest,
and as applicable, minus gain on holding activities, plus loss on sale of PPE
disposals, provisions, reserves and impairment.

Note 3: 1 Hectoliter=100 liters

Note 4: Capital expenditure means cash used in the purchase of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets and cash used for the acquisition
of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired).

Note 5: Earnings per Share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.






L etter to Shareholders

We completed a very challenging year with increasing commodity prices and concerns on global recession and inflation.

We are very glad to report today the satisfactory results that we obtained in 2007 through our dynamic execution
of our strategies as well as effective cost based management.

Our effective management enabled us to leverage our fast, flexible and focused organization to continue our
growth momentum.

On a consolidated basis, EBI increased its sales volume to 13.3 mhlin 2007 by recording a 13.8% growth year-on-year.

As you may recall; in order to solidify our market position and to increase our production capacity in the intensely
competitive Russian beer market, we acquired Krasny Vostok Brewing Group in February 2006. Also in August
2006 we disposed our 50% shareholding in our Romanian Joint Venture, based on a decision to re-allocate this
capital to our other, fastest growing businesses. Adjusting for these transactions, on a like-for-like basis, our
sales volume recorded 17% growth in 2007.

In 2007, our consolidated net sales revenue reached USD 836.2 million by increasing 30.9% over previous year and
our consolidated EBITDA grew by 38,5% over 2006 and reached USD 156.0 million. Likewise, our EBITDA margin
also expanded from 17.6% in 2006 to 18.7% in 2007. The dynamic top line growth is a function of effective price
management, returnable vs. non-returnable product portfolio management and weakening of USD against the local
currencies in our operating geographies. On the other hand, our profitability expansion is driven primarily by optimization
of our marketing expenses owing to our brand portfolio rationalization in Russia and economies of scale.

Russia is today the third largest beer market in the world. Our company continues its operations in Russia as the
fourth largest player in the market. We increased our sales volume by 20.1% in 2007 and reached 10.4 million
hectoliters in Russia against an estimated market growth of around 16%. This strong market growth in Russia was
assisted by the favorable weather conditions and continuing positive shift towards beer primarily in less saturated
regional markets. Consequently, our market share inreased to 8.8% in 2007 from 8.5% a year ago.

In Russia “Beliy Medved”, “Stary Melnik” and “Gold Mine Beer”, the main volume drivers in 2007, accounted
for more of 60% of our total sales volume in this market. The draught beer in bottle, “Stary Melnik iz Bochonka”
was introduced to the market in 2007 and rewarded with EFFIE “Brand of the year 2007" in the nomination for
beer in Russia.

The Mexican brand “SOL", which we brew under license in Russia since early 2007, also positively contributed
to our share in the premium segment in Russia.

We are also very proud to report that following the decision of the Council of the Union of Russian Brewers,
our company in Russia was awarded with the “2007 Amber Star” the highest award for the development of
beer industry in Russia in the nomination “Successful formation of business reputation”.

As end of 2007, we have five breweries in Russia with an aggregate capacity of 20.1 million hectoliters as well
as four malteries with a total capacity of 139,000 tonnes per annum.

In Kazakhstan we increased our sales volume by 45.8% over the previous year and recorded 1.3 mhl sales volume
in 2007. Our volume growth in Kazakhstan in 2007 was ahead of the estimated market growth of approximately 15%,
thereby resulting in a market share appreciation to 25.7% as of December 2007 from 18.7% in December 2006.

As of end of 2007, we are the second largest brewer operating two breweries with total annual brewing capacity
of 2.1 mhl in Kazakhstan.



In Moldova, our total sales volume including soft drinks has reached 1.2 mhl in 2007 and grew by 3.3% over
2006. As we announced in February 2007; we sold our soft drink brands “Viva” and “Real” to The Coca-Cola
Company, thereby focusing merely on our core beer business. Accordingly our beer only volume growth in 2007
was 14.0% over 2006, ahead of market growth. Therefore our market share in Moldova increased to 70.9%
in 2007 from 66.1% a year ago.

We operate one brewery in Moldova with an annual capacity of 0.9 mhl.

Serbia was the only market where our sales volume declined in 2007. We realized 0.5 mhl sales volume in 2007
in Serbia, indicating a decline of 5.1% over previous year. Our market share in Serbia was 11.2% as of December
2007 versus 11.0% in December 2006. We are currently the third largest brewer in the Serbian market.

Our achievements in 2007 which exceed the targets, indicates our determined approach to drive profitable
growth in the coming years. In addition to dynamic organic growth we also capitalize on strategic expansion
opportunities to further increase the value of our business. In line with this strategy, in February 2008, we
acquired Lomisi Ltd. (“Lomisi”) in Georgia. Lomisi is the leading brewer in the Georgian beer market with an
estimated market share of 42% by volume in 2007, up from 35% in 2006.

In January 2008, we also announced our intention to collaborate with Heineken in the Kazakh and Serbian beer
markets. The collaboration entails our taking over Heineken's brewing business and management of the combined
business in Kazakhstan and similarly Heineken's management of the combined businesses in Serbia. Accordingly
we will own 72% of the combined business in Kazakhstan and Heineken will own 72% of the combined business
in Serbia. We believe this collaboration will enable ourselves to command much stronger competitive positions
in Kazakhstan and Serbia.

On the other hand, in January 2008, we signed an agreement with Heineken to establish a Joint Venture to
jointly invest in the Uzbek beer market through acquisition of breweries. Accordingly we will have 60% and
Heineken will have 40% share in the JV, whereas we will also have the management control. We are very
excited to access the dynamic Uzbek market with Heineken as a strong ally. We believe this structure will enable
us to best capitalize on the future growth potential of the Uzbek market.

We anticipate 2008 to be another challenging year, as evidenced by the development in the first couple months.

In spite of the challenges, our primary goal includes outperforming the volume growth of our operating markets
and increasing our revenues ahead of our sales volume in 2008. We believe that our operational efficiencies
along with our effective strategic execution will also mitigate the negative impact of increasing raw material and
packaging costs as well as increasing inflationary pressures.

The strategic steps we took in line with our vision of being a strong independent regional brewer brought
successful results in 2007. We will continue to evaluate every value adding opportunity to further drive the value
of our business. We would like to thank our employees for their proven determinism and high performance.
We would also like to express our gratitude to our valued shareholders on behalf of the Supervisory Board and
the Board Management for their continuous support for our efforts.

M-

Tuncay Ozilhan Alejandro Jimenez

Best Regards,

Chairman of the Supervisory Board CEO and Chairman of the Board of Management
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Chronology

1996

1697

1998

1999

2000

2002

2003

EBI founded in the Netherlands.

Efes Karaganda Brewery ("Efes Kazakhstan") was acquired through privatization by Anadolu Efes
with an annual brewing capacity of 0.40 mhl.

JoLnt venture with the government of the City of Moscow to develop a maltery and a brewery.
Commercial production started in Romania.

Renovation of Efes Kazakhstan completed.

Moscow Efes Brewery ("MEB"), the first green-field modern brewery in Moscow, established in partnership
with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("EBRD") and the government of the
City of Moscow, commenced production with 1.5 mhl of annual brewing capacity.

‘Stary Melnik" launched in Russia.

Production started in the malt production facility in Moscow-Russia adjacent to MEB.

Romanian Efes Brewery restuctured as a 50%-50% JV with InBev, "Interbrew Efes Brewery", ("Efes
Romania") established.

Doubling of capacity in MEB to 3.0 mhl - 2 years ahead of schedule.
Efes Kazakhstan was acquired from Anadolu Efes by EBI.

EBI, increased its capital thereby allocating 15% of the capital to selected foreign institutional investors through
a private placement in order to provide external funding to further accelerate its rapidly growing operations.

Launch of leading German brand "Warsteiner Premium Verum" produced under licence in Russia.

Acquisition of the Vitanta Intravest S.A. ("Efes Moldova"), the leader of the Moldovan beer market, located
in Chisinau-Moldova with 0.8 mhl of annual brewing capacity.

Production commenced in Rostov, the new green-field brewery in Russia with 1.0 mhl of annual brewing capacity.
Production commenced in the brand new brewery in Almaty-Kazakhstan with 0.6 mhl of annual brewing capacity.

Acquisition of the Amstar Brewery located in Ufa, in the Urals region of Russian Federation, with 1.2 mhl
of annual brewing capacity.

Acquisition of the Pancevo Brewery in Serbia, located on the outskirts of Belgrade ("Efes Weifert") with
0.4 mhl of annual brewing capacity.



2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

Production capacity of MEB increased to 4.5 mhl.

Acquisition of the second brewery in Serbia, located in Zajecar ("Efes Zajecar") with 1.0 mhl of annual
brewing capacity.

Initial Public Offering of EBI and listing of GDRs in the London Stock Exchange with a free float of approx. 30%.
Launch of the Czech brand, "Zlatopramen", produced under licence in Russia.

Total beer production capacity of EBI increased to 11.8 mhl following the capacity increases in its Ufa
and Rostov plants in Russia to 2.0 mhl and 1.2 mhl, respectively, and in Chisinau plant in Moldova to 0.9 mhl.

Acquisition of the Krasny Vostok Brewing Group ("KV Group") in Russia completed with 10.0 mhl of annual
brewing and 93.000 tonnes of annual malt production capacities.

Acquisition of the 19.9% minority shares in MEB completed, increasing the effective ownership of EBI
in MEB t0 90.9%.

Launch of "Bavaria Premium" and "Bavaria Malt" produced under licence in Russia.

Total beer production capacity of EBI increased to 23.8 mhl following the capacity increases in Russia
to 20.2 mhl and in Kazakhstan to 1.3 mhl.

EBI's 50% stake in Efes Romania was sold to Inbev.

Capital increase by USD300 million through a Rights Issue, in which both Anadolu Efes and EBI's public
minority shareholders participated.

Launch of Mexican beer "SOL" produced under licence in Russia.

Mr. Alejandro Jimenez has been appointed as the new CEQO and the Chairman of the Board of Management
of EBI.

Efes Moldova's soft drink brand called "Viva" as well as "Real" brand of bottled water was sold to The
Coca-Cola Company.

EBI and Heineken International B.V (“Heineken”) established a joint venture to jointly invest in the Uzbek
beer market through acquisition of breweries. Accordingly EBI and Heineken has 60% and 40% shares
in the joint venture, respectively, whereas EBI also has the management control.

EBI and Heineken announced their intention to collaborate in the Kazakh and Serbian beer markets.

Acquisition of the leading brewer in Georgia, Lomisi Ltd. ("Lomisi"), with two breweries, 0.6 mhl aggregate
production capacity and 42% market share as of end of 2007.

Restructuring of EBI’'s Russian business initiated, whereby the KV Group will become a subsidiary of MEB.
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Company Profile

Shareholding & Group Structure

Efes Breweries
International

Moscow
Efes Brewery

Efes Vitanta
| 1 Moldova Brewery |

Efes Karaganda
Brewery

"\90.9% "\100%

Efes Weifert

Efes Zajecar Efes Georgia**

\ 100%

73.0%

KV Group*

"\92 .9%

* EBI sold all of its shares in Krasny Vostok Brewing Group, representing 92.9% of the voting shares to Moscow Efes Brewery in March 2008.

** EBIl acquired 100% of Lomisi Ltd. in Georgia in February 2008.

Anadolu Efes
70.2%

Anadolu Efes owns 70.2% share in EBI and the
remaining 29.8% is publicly held.

GDRs (EBID), each representing 5 ordinary shares of
EBI, are traded in the London Stock Exchange (“LSE")

Free Float
29.8%






Company Profile

Operating Territories
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RUSSIA
5 Breweries,
4 Malteries,
1 Preform production facility
Capacity: 20.2 mhl brewing capacity,
139,000 tonnes malt production capacity
Per capita consumption: 75 It.

Market share: 9%
Market position: 4th
Population: 141,7 million

KAZAKHSTAN
2 Breweries,
Capacity: 2.1 mhl brewing capacity
Per capita consumption: 34 It.
Market share: 26%
Market position: 2nd
Population: 15,1 million

MOLDOVA
1 Brewery
Capacity: 0,9 mlh brewing capacity
Per capita consumption: 32 It.
Market share: 71%
Market position: 1st
Population: 4,2 million

SERBIA
2 Breweries
Capacity: 1,4 mhl brewing capacity
Per capita consumption: 64 t.
Market share: 11%
Market position: 3rd
Population: 10,5 million

GEORGIA
2 Breweries
Capacity: 0.55 mhl brewing capacity
Per capita consumption: 19 [t.
Market share: 42%
Market position: 1st
Population: 4,7 million

Efes Breweries International’s 5
Operating Markets & Production Facilities



Company Profile

Supervisory Board
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Left toright | Mr. Sir David Logan, Mr. Dr. Ali Tigrel, Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan, Mr. Gauthier de Biolley, Mr. Christos - Alex Komninos
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Tuncay Ozilhan
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Mr. Ozilhan, born in 1947, graduated from Istanbul University, Faculty
of Economics and received his MBA degree from Long Island University
in the United States. He has assumed such responsibilities as General
Director of Erciyas Biracilik (brewery), General Coordinator of the Anadolu
Endustri Holding Beer Group, and General Coordinator of the Anadolu
EndUstri Holding. Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan was appointed as the CEQ of the
Anadolu Group in 1984 and continues in this position today. Mr. Ozilhan
also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Efes Pazarlama,
Tarbes, CCl, Alternatifbank, Adel Kalemcilik and Ulkl Kirtasiye. Besides
Honorary Consul of the Republic of Estonia, Mr. Ozilhan served as the
President of TUSIAD (Turkish Industrial and Businessmen's Association)
for three years between 2001 and 2003 and also is the President of the
Efes Pilsen Sports Club.

Gauthier de Biolley

Member of the Supervisory Board

Mr. de Biolley is the Managing Partner of Eiger Ventures, an advisory
and investment firm focusing on international business development.
Between 2000 and 2006, Mr. de Biolley worked at In Bev, firstly
serving as Senior Vice President External Growth, where he led the
team in charge of strategy and execution of all M&A transactions
worldwide, and thereafter as head of the business unit comprising
the markets of France, Holland, Spain and Cuba. Prior to joining InBev,
he held several executive positions at Artal and in international
development with utilities leader Veolia, and he developed a
management consulting experience with Genrho and Strategic Planing
Associates. He is a member of the Supervisory Board of Sedlmayr
Grund und Immobilien KGaA, a real estate company based in
Muenchen, Germany. He studied Law and Economics at Université
de Louvain, Belgium and attended the Stanford Directors Program.

Dr. Ali Tigrel

Member of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Ali Z. Tigrel is a graduate of the Imperial College of Science,
Technology, Medicine and Management and holds M.Sc. and Ph.D.
degrees in chemical engineering. Dr. Tigrel has 15 years of experience
in the Turkish Petrochemical Corporation (PETKIM) at various levels,
serving as chairman of the Board of Directors between 1989-1991. Dr.
Tigrel served in State Planning Organization between 1984-1991 at
various levels; as director of foreign investment department (1984-85),
director-general of economic planning directorate (1985-87) and finally
Undersecretary & CEO (1988-91). He left the public sector in 1991 and
between 1991-1993 served as an advisor to Ko¢ Holding in addition
to providing consultancy services to other local and international
companies. In 1993, Dr. Tigrel was appointed as ambassador-at-large
and chief advisor to the Prime Minister for EU Affairs. He was assigned
as chairman of the EU Coordination Council which supervised Turkey's
preparations for the Customs Union. Dr. Tigrel retired from public
service in 1996 and established his own consultancy business. Dr.
Tigrel is the chairman and principal shareholder of TCI Consultancy Inc.
in Ankara. He is also the founder and chairman of ATM International
Consultancy Inc. in Istanbul. He is also a board member of Nortel
Networks Netas A.S. and advisor to the board of Alternatif Bank A.S.

Christos -Alex Komninos
Member of the Supervisory Board

Mr. Komninos, a Chemical Engineer, is a graduate of the Technical University
of Istanbul (1.T.U.), Turkey. Mr. Koomnminos joined ‘Hellenic Bottling Company”
in 1972 and until 1987 he held various positions in the Company. From 1987
t0 1990 he was appointed Managing Director in ‘The Coca-Cola bottlers
Ireland’ (a subsidiary of Hellenic Bottling). In 1990 he returned to Greece
and in 1995 he became the Chief Executive of Hellenic Bottling, position
held until 2000. From 2000 to 2003 he was appointed Chairman and C.E.O.
of 'Papastratos Cigarette Manufacturing Company’. After the acquisition of
the ‘Papastratos Company’ by ‘Philip Morris S.A." he joined voluntarily the
‘Athens 2004 - Olympic Games Organizing Committee’ as the Head of
Opening and Closing Ceremonies. Since 2005 and up to date, he holds the
position of the Executive Vice President of both ‘Shelman S.A." (wood
company) and ELMAR S.A. (shipping company).

Sir David Logan

Member of the Supervisory Board

Sir Logan joined EBI in 2004. Formerly a member of the British
Diplomatic Service, Sir David was British Ambassador to Turkey
between 1997 and 2001. He also worked at the British Embassy in
Ankara between 1965 and 1969. Between 1989 and 1992 Sir David
was minister at the British Embassy in Moscow and between 1995
and 1997 Minister at the British Embassy in Washington. He was
Assistant Under Secretary of State for Defence Policy between 1994
and 1995 and for Central and Eastern Europe between 1992 and
1994. He was Director of the Centre for studies in Security and
Diplomacy at Birmingham University between 2002 and 2007. He is
also a Non-Executive Director of European Nickel plc and an
Independent Director of the Magnitogorsk Iron and Steel Company.

Committees and Supervisory Board:
Remuneration Committee members

Chairman : Mr. Sir Logan
Members : Mr. Ozilhan
Mr. Komninos

Selection & Appointment Committee members

Chairman : Mr. Ozilhan
Members : Mr. Sir.Logan
Mr. Komninos

Audit Committee members
Chairman : Mr. de Biolley

Member : Mr. Dr.Tigrel
Internal Auditor : Mr.Oztirk
External Auditor : Ernst & Young

Advisor to the Comittee : Mr. Uysal

Corporate Governance Committee members

Chairman : Mr. Komninos
Members : Mr. Sir Logan
Mr. de Biolley



Company Profile

Board of Management
Chief Operating Officer & Company Secretary
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Lefttoright | Ms. Nathalie Peters (Company Secretary), Mr. Serdar Béliikbasi (Chief Operating Officer), Mr. Alejandro Jimenez, Mr. Hursit Zorlu, Mr. Demir Sarman
* Mr. Carlos P.M. Roelofs not present in the picture
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Alejandro Jimenez

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) & Chairman of the Board of Management

Mr. Jimenez started his career in 1973 at The Coca-Cola Company
and he held various top management positions since 1981; as Region
Director-Central America, Region Director-Caribbean, Vice President
and Director of Marketing Operations- Latin America at The Coca-Cola
Company. In 1991 he was appointed as the President and CEO at
Panamco Mexico which was the largest subsidiary of PANAMCO,
largest bottler in Latin America and second largest bottler in the world,
and in 1994 as the President, COO and Member of the Board of
Directors at PANAMCO where he resumed this responsibility until
2001. Mr. Jimenez was serving as a management consultant for the
consumer goods companies in Mexico until February 2007, when he
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chairman of
the Board of Management of EBI. Mr. Jimenez has a Bachelor of
Science degree in Chemical Engineering from University of Texas.

Hursit Zorlu

Member of the Board of Management

Mr. Zorlu began his career in Anadolu Efes in 1984 as a Marketing
Specialist. Between 1988 and 2000 he served as Assistant Marketing
Manager, Assistant Project Development Manager, Project
Development Manager and Business Development & Investor Relations
Director. He was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer & Investor
Relations Director of Anadolu Efes in December 2000 and resumed
this responsibility until April 2008, when he was appointed as the
Chief Financial Officer of Anadolu Group. Before joining Anadolu Efes,
he worked for Toz Metal and Turkish Airlines. Mr. Zorlu has a Bachelor
of Science degree in Economics from Istanbul University.

Demir Sarman

CFO & Member of the Board of Management

Mr. Sarman, joined Anadolu Efes in 1997, and currently serves as a member
of the Board of Management and Chief Financial Officer of EBI. Mr. Sarman
is also a member of the board of directors of Efes Kazakhstan, Efes Russia,
Efes Moldova, Efes Serbia, AETMC and EHTMC. Mr. Sarman is a Certified
Public Accountant (CPA) and prior to joining Anadolu Efes, served as a
senior auditor for Arthur Andersen in Turkey.

Carlos P.M. Roelofs

Member of the Board of Management

Carlos P.M. Roelofs was appointed on June 1, 2006 as CEO of Fortis
Intertrust, the Netherlands. From 1992 up to 1997, he has worked
in Baker & McKenzie Law Office in Amsterdam. Later on, he was
employed as a Director of Mees Pierson Intertrust and was amongst
others, responsible for the setup in this period of Mees Pierson
Management Services in Denmark between 1998 and 2001. Starting
from 2001, Mr. Roelofs was employed as a Director of Axa Schade
N.V. up to 2002. From 2002 to 2004 he was employed as CEO of
First Alliance Trust. He studied law and graduated from University of
Amsterdam and has an MBA degree from Nyenrode University.

Serdar Boliikbasi

Chief Operating Officer - International Beer Operations

Mr. Bollkbasi began his career in Anadolu Efes in 1984 as Budgeting
and Finance Specialist. Then, he worked as Project Development
Manager from 1990 to 1994, Marketing Coordinator from 1994 to
1998, General Manager of Efes Pazarlama from 1998 to 1999, General
Director of Turkey Beer Division from 1999 to 2005 and of Russia &
CIS Countries COO from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Bolikbasi has been
working as International Beer Operations COO effective October 1st,
2007. Mr. Bélikbasi has a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics
from Middle East Technical University. He has also completed the
professional management program at the Ohio State University.
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Organization Structure

CEO

Alejandro Jimenez

Efes Beer Group Support

Commercial
Human Resources CFO
Technical D .
Logistic and Procurement —T emir Sa rman
Strategy, Business & Market Development l

International Beer Operations

COO

Serdar Bolukbasi

Russian Operations GM GM GM GM
General Director Kazakhstan Moldova Serbia Georgia
Tugrul Agirbas Osman Caglayan Cem Gliner Din¢ Alkin Mehmet Kocak
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Efes Russia

Russia is the third largest beer market in the world with its total annual
consumption of 105.5 mhlin 2007. Annual per capita beer consumption of
75 liters is estimated to increase to 100 liters within the next five years with
growth mainly stemming from Southern, Eastern and Far Eastern regions.
Due to the rising per capita income levels and shifting consumer preferences
from hard liquor towards beer, Russian beer market achieved 15% CAGR
between 1996-2007 (Canadean, 2007). As a result, Russian beer market
attracted some of the major global brewers and currently more than 90%
of the Russian beer market is shared by international brewers.

EBI started its operations in Russia with one brewery in Moscow and 1.5
mhl annual brewing capacity in 1999. As of end of 2007, EBI has 5 breweries
in Moscow, Ufa, Rostov, Kazan and Novosibirsk with aggregate annual
production capacities of 20.2 mhl of beer and 139,000 tonnes of malt.

In 2007, EBI maintained its 4th position in the Russian beer market with
a market share by volume of 9% (AC Nielsen,December 2007).
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Following the acquisition of the KV Group in early 2006 and the completion
of the integration by end of 2006, EBI further streamlined its business
in Russia in 2007. Accordingly, EBI gained further competitive advantage
in order to best capitalize on the growth opportunities in the market. In
addition to eliminating future capacity constraints, KV Group acquisition
also strengthened EBI's foothold in the Volga and emerging Eastern
regions, also allowing for significant cross-brewing potential.
The four malt production facilities with a total production capacity of
139,000 tonnes per annum, suffices to a large extent EBI's annual malt
requirement in Russia, the main ingredient of beer. This in turn provides
an effective control over its cost base against price volatility of barley
in 2007. The same competitive advantage is also apparent in the pre-
form production capacity of 1.3 million units per day, providing Efes
Russia with the key raw material used for PET bottles in Russia.



As part of EBI's strategy to capitalize on the synergies associated with
being available in developing beer market segments, EBI established itself
as a strong player in all segments of the Russian beer market, with a diverse
product portfolio including licensed brands in the premium and super premium
segments. Mexican brand "SOL" was introduced in the Russian beer market
in early 2007 and positioned in the super premium segment alongside the
German "Warsteiner' brand. In the premium segment EBI has a strong

presence through "Bavaria" and "Efes', in addition to its other brands;
"Zlatopramen" and "Amsterdam Navigator'. In EBI's brand portfolio "Stary
Melnik" is positioned in the upper mainstream segment, "Sokol" in the

lower mainstream segment and "Beliy Medved', "Gold Mine Beer', "Krasny
Vostok' and "Zhigulevskoe" in the economy segment.

In Russia 'Beliy Medved", "Stary Melnik" and "Gold Mine Beer"' were the
main volume drivers in 2007, collectively accounting to more than 60% of
total sales volume. The draught beer in bottle, "Stary Melnik iz Bochonka'
was introduced to the market in 2007, which was very well received to
result in further market share gain for the brand and finally became the
"Best Launch" of the year by achieving the maximum incremental value
share 9 months after launch. In addition, "Stary Melnik iz Bochonka' has
won one of the most prestigious international awards in the field of building
brands - EFFIE "Brand of the year 2007" in the nomination for Beer in Russia.
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Russian operations delivered 78% of EBI's consolidated sales volume in
2007. In Russia, EBI's sales volume increased by 20.1% and reached 10.4

mhl. Like-for-like sales volume growth, calculated by including the first two
month sales volume of the KV Group in 2006 was realized as 17.1%.
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Efes Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan is a rapidly growing beer market. The low per capita
consumption of 34 liters compared to Western Europe average of 74
liters, indicate further growth potential assisted also with favorable
demographics and developing macroeconomic factors. Kazakh beer market
is expected to achive 10% CAGR within the next five years (Canadean,
2007).

Commencing its operations with the acquisition of the Karaganda
Brewery in 1996 and establishment of Almaty Brewery in 2003, EBI
operates two breweries with a total annual brewing capacity of 2.1
million hectoliters as of end of 2007, up from 1.3 million hectoliters in
2006.

EBI is the second largest brewer in Kazakhstan. EBI's brand portfolio
currently consists of nine brands, appealing to different segments:

Market Share by Volume
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‘Karagandinskoe" and “Beliy Medved" are sold
as lower mainstream brands, "Stary Melnik" is
sold as upper mainstream brand, "Sokol", “Efes”
and “Amsterdam Navigator" are sold as premium
brands while "Warsteiner', “Sol” and "Bavaria
Premium" are sold as super premium brands.

In 2007, EBI's sales volume in Kazakhstan increased organically by 45.8%
over the previous year, outperforming the estimated market growth of
15% and reached 1.3 mhl.

Accordingly EBI's market share increased to 26% in 2007 from 19% by
the end of 2006 (AC Nielsen, December 2007).
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Operations

E fe S M o I d ova With its low average per capita beer consumption,

Moldova beer market is an attractive market which
has achieved 17% CAGR within the last 10 years
and is expected to further grow by 9% compounded
annually until 2012 (Canadean, 2007).

EBI's beer only volume growth in 2007 was 14,0% over 2006. As announced
by EBI on February 21st 2007, EBI sold its soft drink brands "Viva" and "Real"
to The Coca-Cola Company, thereby focusing merely on its core beer
business. In 2007 total sales volume in Moldova, including soft drinks,
reached 1.2 mhl and grew by 3.3% in 2007 over the previous year.

EBI is the leading brewer in Moldova with 71% market share by volume in
December 2007, up from 66% a year ago (AC Nielsen).
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As of end of 2007 EBI operated one brewery in Moldova with an annual
brewing capacity of 0.9 mhl.

Currently; EBI produces and sells six brands of beer positioned in mainstream
and premium segments; "Chisinau’” is sold as a mainstream brand, "Vitanta’,
“Stary Melnik” and "Sokol" are sold as premium brands, and
"Efes" and "Warsteiner" are sold as super premium brands.
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Operations

H EBI entered the Serbian beer market in 2003 with the acquisition of
EfeS serbla The Pancevo Brewery (“Efes Weifert”) in the outskirts of Belgrade and
in 2004 acquired the Zajecar Brewery (“Efes Zajecar”).

EBI produces and sells seven different brands, "Efes" which is positioned
in the international premium segment, "Weifert" in the mainstream
segment and "Pils Plus’, “Standard”, “Grom"” and "Zajecarsko" in the
economy segment. In addition, EBI also sells "Miller Genuine Draft"
which is positioned in the imported premium segment.

Volume Development mhl
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As of end of 2007, EBI was the 3rd largest brewer in Serbia, with a
market share of 11% by volume (AC Nielsen, December 2007). In 2007,
EBI's sales volume in Serbia was 0.5 mhl, indicating a 5.1% decline
compared to previous year.
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Recent Developments

February

EBI and Heineken established a Joint Venture (“JV") to jointly invest
in the Uzbek beer market through acquisition of breweries in January
2007. Accordingly EBI and Heineken will have 60% and 40% shares in
the JV, respectively, whereas EBI will also have the management control.

Uzbekistan has an estimated 2007 population of 27 million where the
beer market is estimated to have grown by 27% on a compounded
annual basis between 2001 and 2007. However the current per capita
beer consumption is estimated to be only 11 liters. Currently neither
EBI nor Heineken have beer production in Uzbekistan.

EBI and Heineken announced their intention to collaborate in the
Kazakh and Serbian beer markets. The collaboration entails EBI's taking
over Heineken's brewing business and management of the combined
business in Kazakhstan and similarly Heineken’s management of the
combined businesses in Serbia. Accordingly EBI will own 72% of the
combined business in Kazakhstan and Heineken will own 72% of the
combined business in Serbia. In each market, the balance will be held
by the other party.

EBI acquired 100.0% of Lomisi Ltd. (“Lomisi”) in Georgia. Lomisi is
the leader in the Georgian beer market with an estimated market share
of 42% by volume in 2007, up from 35% in 2006. Lomisi has a total
annual brewing capacity of approximately 0.55 mhl and operates two
breweries in Alkhagori and Natakhtari. It produces six brands of beer,
including “Natahktari”, an upper mainstream brand, “Lomisi”, a lower
mainstream brand and premium segment brands “Kubicek” and “3D".
In addition to the brewing operations, Lomisi also has a soft drink
operation in Georgia. Georgian beer market has grown 16% on a
compounded annual basis between 2002 and 2007. However current
per capita consumption is estimated to be only 19 liters, suggesting a
significant future growth potential. Georgia has an estimated 2007
population of approximately 4.7 million.
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance in the Netherlands

On January 1, 2004 the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
("the Code") entered into force for all companies whose
registered office is in the Netherlands and whose shares or
depositary receipts for shares are officially listed on a
government-recognized stock exchange. The Code is referred
to in article 391 section 4 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The Code is based on the principle accepted in the
Netherlands that a company is a long-term form of
collaboration between the various parties involved. The Code
has as starting points that good entrepreneurship, including
integrity and transparency of decision-making by the
management board, and proper supervision thereof, including
accountability for such supervision, are two pillars on which
good corporate governance rests.

The Code is also based on national and international best
practices in corporate governance and contains principles
and best practice provisions covering the management board,
the supervisory board, the shareholders and general meetings
of shareholders, financial reporting, auditors, disclosure,
compliance and enforcement.

In general these provisions create a set of standards governing
the conduct of management board and supervisory board
members and shareholders. Non-application of the Code
may occur in certain circumstances. However, companies
subject to the Code have to explain why they do not comply
with certain provisions. Explanations for non-compliance
need to be inserted in the annual report and each substantial
change in the corporate governance structure needs to be
explained to and approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders.

Corporate Governance and EBI

As of listing on October 21, 2004 EBI became subject to the
Code. Though global depositary receipts representing shares
in the capital of EBI were listed in the London Stock Exchange,
EBI is subject to the Dutch Code because it is incorporated
and registered in the Netherlands. EBI acknowledges the
importance of corporate governance and has implemented
most of the best practice provisions of the code in its
corporate governance structure. In line with the Code, the
Supervisory Board appointed from its members a
Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee and a
Selection and Appointment Committee. Each of these
committees is subject to internal regulations. In 2006 the

Supervisory Board established in addition a Corporate
Governance Committee. For further information about the
committees, please see the paragraph “Committees” in the
Supervisory Board chapter.

Also internal regulations are adopted for both the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board. Included
are rules for transactions that can be qualified as a transaction
with a conflict of interest as defined in the Corporate
Governance Code for members of the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board respectively.

EBI entered into related party transactions as mentioned in
clause 111.6.4 of the Code, but these transactions were agreed
on an at arm's length basis. Also internal rules regulating
shareholdings of Supervisory Board members in Dutch listed
companies have been drawn up, in order to prevent conflicts
of interest.

Compliance of EBI with the Code

As mentioned before, non-application of the Code may occur
but should be explained.

The following is a description of the material deviations of
the Code.

Best practice provision 111.1.21 stipulates that the Supervisory
Board consists of independent members except for one
member. Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan is considered as this one
dependant member.

Best practice provision I11.4.2 states that the chairman of
the Supervisory Board may not be a former member of the
Board of Management. EBI does not comply with this
provision and believes that it is in the best interest of EBI
to maintain Mr. Ozilhan as Chairman of the Supervisory
Board due to his extensive knowledge of EBI's business.

Best practice provision I1.1.1 of the Code stipulates that
members of the Board of Management are appointed for a
maximum period of four years. As members of the Board
of Management are appointed by the General Meeting of
Shareholders, according to common practice the Articles of
Association of EBI provide that the term of appointment of
a member of the Board of Management will end at the
closing of the first General Meeting of Shareholders to be
held in the fourth year following the year the member of the
Board of Management is appointed.
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Functioning and strategy of the
Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises the policies of the Board
of Management as well as the general course of EBI's
affairs and business. The Supervisory Board also advises
the Board of Management. In performing their duties
members of the Supervisory Board must serve the interests
of EBI and its business enterprise as well as the interests
of all of EBI's stakeholders.

The Supervisory Board has adopted Supervisory Board
Rules that regulate in detail its tasks and responsibilities.
Pursuant to the Supervisory Board Rules, members of the
Supervisory Board are in principle appointed for a maximum
term of four years. Upon expiry of the term of appointment,
a Supervisory Board member can be re-appointed provided
that the maximum term of being a member does not exceed
three terms or twelve years, as the case may be. The
General Meeting is entitled to appoint members of the
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is entitled to
make a non-binding nomination for each vacancy. Within
the Supervisory Board, the Selection and Appointment
Committee prepares the proposal for a nomination.

The Supervisory Board consisted of the following
members in 2007:

Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan, Chairman

Sir David Logan

Mr. Ali Tigrel

Mr. Alex -Christos Komninos

Mr. Gauthier de Biolley

In order to see CVs of the Supervisory Board Members
please refer to “Company Profile” section "Supervisory
Board” (pg: 18).The rota plan is published on the website
of EBI.

Independence of Supervisory
Board Members

The Code prescribes that the Supervisory Board consists
of independent persons, except for one. EBI considers it
important to maintain an adequate number of persons on
the Supervisory Board with knowledge of EBI's business.
In order to comply with the code EBI has gradually replaced
its members of the Supervisory Board except for the
chairman, Mr. Ozilhan.

Meetings

The Supervisory Board had seven regular meetings in the
year 2007 with the members of the Board of Management
being present. All meetings were attended by at least four
of the five members of the Supervisory Board and no
member was frequently absent. The Supervisory Board
also met on its own. Two meetings were held in Istanbul
in the offices of the Efes Beverage Group, one meeting
was held in Moscow, Russia and the other meetings were
held in Amsterdam in the Netherlands.

Evaluation of the functioning of
Supervisory Board

Topics of the meetings of the Supervisory Board included,
but not limited to:

- EBI's general strategy, including strategic business plans;
- EBI's financial performance and financial developments;
- Corporate Governance

- The performance and internal division of tasks of the
Board of Management;

- Operational development of EBI's subsidiaries;

- Discussion of business development projects as well as
new investments and acquisitions;

- EBI's human resources strategy and management, and
- The Supervisory Board's own performance.

In addition to these topics special attention was paid in
2007 to export activities, procurement, monitoring the Cost
Benchmarking Project, malt business conditions, an
investment in Georgia and oppurtunities for Belarus, as
well as a joint venture in Uzbekistan and a strategic
collaboration in Kazakhstan and Serbia.

Committees

In line with the Code, the Supervisory Board has created
three standing committees: the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Selection and
Appointment Committee. In addition the Supervisory Board
established a Corporate Governance Committee. The
committees are appointed by the Supervisory Board from
among its own members.



[. Audit Committee

Pursuant to the rules governing the Audit Committee, the
Audit Committee is comprised of two Supervisory Board
members and meets at least twice a year. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. Gauthier de Biolley and the
other member is Mr. Ali Tigrel.

Pursuant to the rules governing it the Audit Committee
supervises, monitors and advises the Board of Management
on risk management and control systems, annual reports,
on the provision of financial information and on the role
and functioning of the internal audit department amongst
other issues. The CFO was invited to attend the meetings,
as well as the external and the internal auditors. The Audit
Committee is obliged to hold a meeting at least once a
year with the external auditor of EBI without any of the
members of the EBI Board of Management and the internal
auditors being present.

In 2007 the Audit Committee met five times, where amongst
other things the work plan of the internal auditor, the internal
audit and financial statements were discussed. The Audit
Committee met once with the external auditors of EBI in
2007 without the Board of Management present.

ll. Selection and Appointment
Committee

Pursuant to the rules governing the Selection and
Appointment Committee, this committee is composed of
a minimum of two members. Effective as of August 23,
2004, this Committee is chaired by Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan.
The other members are Sir David Logan and Mr. Alex-
Christos Komninos.

The Selection and Appointment Committee prepares
selection criteria and appointment procedures for members
of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board.
It also prepares and makes proposals for (re-)Jappointments.

The Selection and Appointment Committee met once in
2007. The composition and functioning of the Board of
Management and the Supervisory Board was discussed.
In the beginning of 2007 Mr. Alejandro Jimenez was
appointed as member of the Board of Management when
Mr. Ahmet Boyacioglu retired.
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lll. Corporate Governance Committee

In 2006 the Supervisory Board established a Corporate
Governance Committee with the purpose to monitor the
compliance of EBI with the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code and to inform the Supervisory Board on this topic.
The Corporate Governance Committee met twice in 2007
in fulfilment of this remit. The areas which the Corporate
Governance Committee addressed were:

1- Independency of Supervisory Board members;

2- Number of Supervisory Board members;

3- Chart of Authority; and

4- Conflict of interest.

The Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of
three Supervisory Board members and is chaired by Mr.
Alex-Christos Komninos. The other members are Sir David
Logan and Mr. Gauthier de Biolley.

IV. Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three
Supervisory Board members and meets at least twice a
year. Effective as of 23 August 2004, the Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Sir David Logan. The other
members are Mr. Tuncay Ozilhan and Mr. Alex-Christos
Komninos.

Pursuant to the rules governing the Remuneration
Committee, this Committee prepares proposals to be
presented to the Supervisory Board concerning the general
Remuneration Policy for the members of the Board of
Management, of the General Meeting of shareholders of
EBI for approval.

. ]J.'J!U_l
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On 27 May 2005, the General Meeting of Shareholders
approved and adopted the Remuneration Policy which was
drafted by the Remuneration Committee. During 2007 this
Remuneration Policy has been reviewed and evaluated and
the Remuneration Committee endorsed the existing
Remuneration Policy.

The Remuneration Committee also monitors the individual
remuneration of each of the members of the Board of
Management and checks whether they are in line with the
general Remuneration Policy as adopted by the General
Meeting of Shareholders. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee prepares the annual Supervisory Board
remuneration report on the application of the adopted
Remuneration Policy.

In 2007, the Remuneration Committee met twice to discuss
and prepare proposals to the Supervisory Board for the
remuneration of Management Board members and to
discuss the remuneration and talent development of senior
management in general.

Remuneration Policy of EBI

The Remuneration Policy of EBI was approved by the General
Meeting of Shareholders of EBI held on 27 May, 2005.

The aim of the remuneration policy of EBI is to attract and
retain talented members of the Board of Management and
to achieve this aim with due observance of best practice
corporate governance principles.

Elements of the Remuneration Package

The total remuneration packages of the members of the
Board of Management consist of one or more of the items
below, depending on the duties and responsibilities of each
member:

|. Base salary, determined according to the inflation rate
of each year and individual performance level.

[I. Cash bonus, based on base salary or in case of non-
residents, based on a pre-determined fixed amount and
linked to the individual contribution to the achievement
of EBI's annual targets.

[II. Other benefits.
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At the end of each year, the base salary of each Management
Board member is evaluated and adjusted for the subsequent
year in the light of his or her performance scores and taking
into account inflation.

The remuneration structure as adopted by the General
Meeting of Shareholders on 27 May, 2005, has been
maintained in the general Remuneration Policy in 2007. As
a corporate policy, EBI does not provide loans to members
of the Board of Management. EBI is of the opinion that the
remuneration packages of its current members of the Board
of Management are in line with the principles of the
Corporate Governance Code. Proposals for the remuneration
of any new members of the Board of Management after
adoption of the general Remuneration Policy are made by
the Remuneration Committee in line with this policy. This
was done in 2007.

Besides the base salary, members of the Board of
Management are eligible to receive cash annual bonuses
according to (a) the degree of realization of the targets of
EBI, or Key Performance Indicators (KPls) as explained
below, and (b) individual performance. The first element,

e~

the degree of realization of targets of EBI, is derived from
the “Strategic Business Plan”. This plan sets the targets
for the coming year and has to be approved by the
Supervisory Board. Based on the Strategic Business Plan,
KPlIs are identified for the year. Each KPI is awarded a
relative weight for the evaluation of total performance. In
this way the targets of the Company are precisely made
clear to the Board of Management in advance. Each year,
KPI weights are re-examined and revised if needed. If a
Strategic Business Plan is revised during a calendar year,
the new targets and KPIs are notified to the members of
the Board of Management by the Supervisory Board.

The ratio of these two components in total annual salaries
was as follows in 2007:

o Non-variable component (80%)

o Variable component ( 20%)

It is envisaged that these ratios should remain the same
in subsequent years. The factors determining the variable
component of salaries do not include comparisons with
peer group companies.



Other benefits granted to a member of the Board of
Management may comprise a company car, a mobile
telephone, rent contribution and health insurance
contribution. One or more of these benefits may be included
in the remuneration package, subject to the job description
and responsibilities within EBI of the Board of Management
member.

Management Board members have no right to options,
shares, or other variable remuneration components which
are not performance related. There are no current pension
schemes in the Netherlands. Further there are no standard
arrangements for early retirement of members of the
Management Board.

Term of Management Board Contracts

The type of the employment contracts of the individual
members of the Management Board is an employment
contract for an indefinite period of time. The employment
contracts of Mr. Jimenez and Mr. Zorlu are regulated in
accordance with Turkish Labor Law, while the employment
contract of Mr. Sarman is drafted in accordance with Dutch
Labor Law. The services of Mr. Roelofs were rendered
through a special assignment service contract. Terms of
notice of termination, dismissal and redundancy terms vary
according to seniority and in accordance with the applicable
laws governing the employment and assignment contracts.

For the members of the Management Board whose
contracts are being drafted and governed according to
Turkish law, dismissal and redundancy payment clauses
are structured according to Turkish Labor Law. For the
member of the Management Board who is employed in
accordance with Dutch law, the aforementioned clauses
are structured according to Dutch Labor Law.

Remuneration 2007

In order to give an impression of the application of the
remuneration elements |, Il and Il described above, the
remuneration packages of the members of the Board of
Management in 2007 were made up as follows:

Messrs. Jimenez and Zorlu : element (I) and (Il) and some
items of element (I11);

Mr. Sarman: elements (1), (Il) and (Il1);

Mr. Roelofs: fixed directorship fee, to be considered as
element (l).

It is intended to maintain this application of the company's
remuneration policy for the members of the Board of
Management in 2008.

In 2007, the members of the Supervisory Board and the
Management Board received a total gross remuneration of
USD 174 thousand (2006 - USD125 thousand) and USD
578 thousand (2006 - USD284 thousand), respectively.

The "Annual Report prepared under the requirements of the
Netherlands' Civil Code"” forms an integral part of this report. Therefore
the readers of this report may refer to aforementioned report which
is available on EBI's website where also the Articles of Association,
the Supervisory Board Charter, Board of Management Charter, Audit
Committee Charter, Selection and Appointment Charter, Remuneration
Committee Charter, Insider Trading Rules, Corporate Governance
Summary and Arrangement of Whistleblowers can be found
(www.efesinternational.com).

The Articles of Association

EBI is listed on the London Stock Exchange since October
2004. The Articles of Association are available on EBI's
web site at www.efesinternational.com.

24 April 2008

On behalf of the Supervisory Board:
Tuncay Ozilhan

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

48









Board of Management

Board of Management

|. Functioning and strategy of the Board of
Management

Pursuant to Dutch law and pursuant to the Articles, the
Board of Management is responsible for the overall
management of EBI. The Board of Management has adopted
Board of Management Rules that regulate in detail its tasks
and responsibilities. The Board of Management acts under
the supervision of the Supervisory Board. Pursuant to the
Articles, members of the Board of Management are appointed
for a maximum term of four years, provided that the term
of appointment will end at the closing of first general meeting
of shareholders in the fourth year following the year of
appointment. Pursuant to the Board of Management Rules,
a member of the Board of Management can be re-apppointed
for another four year term after the expiration of the first
four year term. New members of the Board of Management
are appointed by the General Meeting. The Supervisory
Board is entitled to make a non-binding nomination for each
vacancy. Within the Supervisory Board, the Selection and
Appointment Committee makes the proposal for a
nomination. The Board of Management currently consists
of the following four members: Mr. Alejandro Jimenez,
Chairman, Mr. Hursit Zorlu, Mr. Demir Sarman and Mr. Carlos
P.M. Roelofs.

In order to see CVs of Members of Board of Management please refer
to “Company Profile” section “Board of Management, Chief Operating
Officer & Company Secretary” (pg:20)

Il. New Appointments

Mr. Alejandro Jimenez was appointed to the Board of
Management in 2007, replacing Mr. Ahmet Boyacioglu.

Ill. Meetings

The Board of Management meets at least once a month
and besides whenever one or more of the members have
requested a meeting. In 2007, all resolutions were passed
with unanimous vote. Pursuant to the Articles, several
transactions require the approval of the Supervisory Board.
In 2007, all resolutions of Board of Management were
approved by the Supervisory Board.

IV. Evaluation of the functioning of the Board of
Management

Topics of the meetings of the Board of Management included,
among other items:

- EBI's general strategy;
- EBI's day-to-day financial operations;
- Planning and monitoring the marketing strategy of EBI;

- Assissting and supervising the operations of EBI's
subsidiaries;

- Investigating and executing of business development
progress as well as investments and acquisitions;

- The performance and internal division of tasks of the Board
of the Management.

In addition to these topics The Board of Management
concentrated on procurement, monitoring the Cost
Benchmarking Project, malt business conditions and export
activities in 2007. The Board of Management was also
occupied by an investment in Georgia and opportunities for
Belarus as well as joint venture in Uzbekistan and a strategic
collaboration for Kazakhstan and Serbia. Other significant
topics of the year 2007 were restructuring of Russian
operations and sale of soft drink trademarks in Moldova.




Operational Review

Sales Volumes

EBI's consolidated sales volume reached 13.3 million
hectoliters (“mhl”) in 2007, by growing 13.8% over the
previous year. To provide a better comparison; if the 2006
sales volumes were presented on a like-for-like basis, whereby

o the sales volume in the first two months of 2006 of
the Krasny Vostok Brewing Group (“KV Group"),
which EBI acquired in February 2006 is included and

o the sales volume of Interbrew Efes Brewery (“Efes
Romania”), EBl's 50% operating subsidiary in
Romania, in which EBI disposed its shareholding in
August 2006, is excluded from 2006 results,

EBI's like-for-like sales volume growth in 2007 was 17.0%.
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In Russia, EBI's sales volume increased by 20.1% in 2007
and reached 10.4 mhl. Like-for-like sales volume growth by
including the first two month sales volume of the KV Group
to 2006 results was 17.1%. The strong market growth in
Russia was assisted by the favorable weather conditions
and the continuing positive shift towards beer primarily in
less saturated regional markets. EBI's sales volume growth
in 2007 was ahead of the estimated market growth of app.
16% in the year, resulting in market share appreciation to
8.8% as of December 2007 (up from 8.5% in December
2006- AC Nielsen).

In Kazakhstan, EBI increased its sales volume by 45.8%
over the previous year and recorded 1.3 mhl sales volume
in 2007. EBI's volume growth in Kazakhstan in 2007 was
ahead of the estimated market growth of app. 15%, thereby
resulting in a market share appreciation to 25.7% as of
December 2007 from 18.7% in December 2006 (AC Nielsen).

In 2007 total sales volume in Moldova, including soft drinks,
reached 1.2 mhl and grew by 3.3% over 2006. As announced
by EBI on February 21st, 2007, EBI sold its soft drink brands
“Viva” and "Real” to The Coca-Cola Company, thereby
focusing merely on its core beer business. Accordingly, EBI's
beer only volume growth in 2007 was 14.0% over 2006,
ahead of market growth. Therefore, EBl's market share in
Moldova increased to 70.9% as of end of 2007 from 66.1%
a year ago (MEMRB).

Serbia was the only market where EBI's sales volume
declined in 2007. EBI realized 0.5 mhl sales volume in 2007
in Serbia, indicating a decline of 5.1% over previous year.
EBI's market share in Serbia was 11.2% as of December
2007 versus 11.0% in December 2006. EBI is currently the
third largest brewer in the market (AC Nielsen).
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Net Sales

Net Sales Revenue Development m USD
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In Russia EBI's net sales revenue increased by 30% in 2007
over the previous year. Revenue growth, which was ahead
of volume growth, was achieved through effective price
management of the economy segment brands which were
important volume drivers and was also positively impacted
by local currency price increases combined with positive
foreign currency impact (strengthening of the Ruble against
USD) in the period.

In Kazakhstan net sales revenue increased by 85% in 2007
over the previous year. The significant increase in net sales
revenue, on top of the strong volume growth in the period,
is mainly attributable to the increased average price as a
result of the switch from returnable to non-returnable bottles
in 2007 as well as the local currency price increases and
strengthening of Kazakh Tenge vs USD in the period.

In Moldova net sales revenue increased by 24% in 2007
over the previous year. The revenue growth, which was
ahead of the volume growth, is the result of local currency
price increases and positive foreign currency impact. The
revenue growth was also positively impacted by the exclusion
of lower priced soft drink brands in 2007.

In Serbia net sales revenue increased by 21% in 2007 over
the previous year, despite the contraction in sales volume
in the period, which reflects our strategic decision to focus
on balanced volume and profitability. The revenue growth
was assisted by the local currency price increases, positive
brand mix and strengthening of Serbian Dinar versus USD
in the period.

Profitability

In 2007, EBI's consolidated gross profit increased by 20.7%
over 2006 and reached USD 374.1 million. Despite the
absolute growth in the gross profit, gross profit margin
contracted from 48.5% in 2006 to 44.7% in 2007. The
contraction is primarily due to the global increase of malt
and malting barley prices and also the negative impact of
packaging mix in Kazakhstan, due to the switch from
returnable bottles to non-returnable bottles.

Due to the increase in raw material costs globally, the ability
to supply own malt requirements is gaining significant
importance. Currently EBI operates 4 malteries with an
annual production capacity of 139,000 tonnes in Russia. In
order to ensure a more effective management of its cost
base in 2008, EBI currently is in the process of increasing
the aggregate capacity of its malteries in Russia to become
self-sufficient in the supply of this major raw material. In
addition, EBI also has a pre-form production facility in Russia,
with a capacity of 1.3 million units per day, which also is an
important asset in terms of more effectively controlling the
packaging costs, especially given the increased share of PET
products in Russia.

In 2007 EBI's profit from operations increased by 45.4%
over the previous year and reached USD 80.6 million.
Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales revenue
in 2007 decreased with respect to 2006 mainly due to further
streamlining of business after the KV Group acquisition in
2006 in Russia, such as rationalization of the brand portfolio



in this market and optimization of cross brewing. As a result
of the operational efficiencies driven, the contraction in the
gross profit margin was more than offset and EBI delivered
an improved profit from operations margin of 9.6% in 2007
vs. 8.7% in 2006.

Accordingly, in 2007 EBI's consolidated EBITDA increased
by 38.5% over the previous year and reached USD 156.0
million. Consolidated EBITDA margin also increased from
17.6% in 2006 to 18.7% in 2007. The increase in EBITDA
margin was achieved in spite of a challenging operating
environment in 2007.

EBITDA Development m USD

18.7 %
176 %

385 %

1126

156.0

2006 2007
EBITDA Margin

Geographical Breakdown of EBITDA
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EBI's net income increased by 81.8% in 2007 compared to
2006 and reached USD 37.5 million. In addition to better
operating profitability, lower net interest expenses as a
percentage of net sales revenue despite higher level of
indebtedness positively affected the net income.

Net Financial Debt

As of 31.12.2007, EBI had a net financial debt of USD 487.5
million. The increase in net financial debt, which was
USD 307.7 million as of 31.12.20086, is to a great extent due
to the increase in bank borrowings and decrease in cash in
order to finance the USD 127.7 million of capital expenditure
in 2007. Capex in 2007 is attributable to the capacity increase
in Kazakhstan from 1.3 mhl per annum in 2006 to 2.1 mhl
per annum in 2007 on top of annual maintenance capex as
well as the initiation of capex for 2008 in the fourth quarter
of 2007. Net financial debt is also impacted by increased
inventory at the year end, which is due to the early
procurement of certain raw materials, including malting
barley for the following year.

Acquisitions, Disposals and Capex

In February 2007, Efes Moldova, sold its soft drink brand
called "Viva"” as well as “Real” brand of bottled water to
The Coca-Cola Company.

In October 2007, EBI acquired 6.25% of Efes Weifert through
takeover bid process for a total cash consideration of
USD 3,144 million.

In addition, EBI increased the annual brewing capacity in
Kazakhstan to 2.1 mhl from 1.3 mhl in previous year.

Marketing

EBI views its brand portfolio as a key asset, as management
believes the image of a brand and its message are essential
elements in a consumer's choice of beer. EBI seeks to have
a brand portfolio that comprehensively covers the principal
beer segments in which it operates, principally the premium,
mainstream and economy segments. EBI focuses on those
segments in its operating markets that offer growth in sales
without prejudicing profitability. Management believes that
local positioning of its brands is a key element in facilitating
better understanding of, and responses to, the needs of
local consumers. With respect to the Efes brand, marketing
efforts are coordinated with the marketing strategy of Anadolu
Efes and are aimed at reinforcing the image of the brand as
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a premium international beer. EBI focuses on capitalising on
the synergies associated with being available in developing
beer market segments. Depending on the specific markets
these may include the most profitable and/or fastest growing
segments as well as the largest segments in the beer
markets in which EBI operates. Each operating company
funds all marketing activities within its territory, both in
respect of the Efes licensed brand and its local brands.

EBI markets its brands extensively in each of its operating
markets (Russia, Kazakhstan, Moldova and Serbia) through
a broad range of marketing channels, including, among
others, television, billboard and radio advertising and consumer
promotions. EBI also sponsors high profile sports, music
festivals and other special events, thereby giving broad
exposure to the local brands and to the Efes brand.
Sponsorships include the promotion in certain Territories of
the “Efes Pilsen” basketball team by the Anadolu Efes,
which ranks number one in terms of total number of
championships won in the Turkish basketball league and
has enjoyed consistent success in the European
Championships. In Russia, Efes Russia also promotes the
"Stary Melnik” brand through sponsorship of the national
football (soccer) team. In addition to sports sponsorships,
the Operating Companies sponsor cultural events such as
music concerts, which attract widespread media attention
and reach a broad base of consumers.

The operating companies also organise on-premise
promotional activities, conduct regular point-of-sale visits,
and arrange special promotions for key accounts.

Efes Beer Group Support

EBI receives management support from the Efes Beer Group
("EBG") and the benefit of administrative services including
the provision of management systems, strategic planning
and procurement services (such as assistance in the selection
of raw materials and ensuring that sufficient supplies of any
required raw materials are available, which includes the
procurement of raw materials from abroad in the event that
raw materials are not available through customary domestic
channels). EBI also receives from the EBG marketing,
distribution and sales services, (including assistance with
customer service, statistical analysis and market research
and assistance in developing and evaluating established and
new markets), human resources management services and
training. The relationship between EBI, its operating
subsidiaries and EBG are formalised through certain long-
term management support agreements.

Forecast for the Next Year

Despite the 13% CAGR of the consumption in the beer
markets during the past 10 years in the territories in which
EBI operates, per capita beer consumption levels, which is
below comparable averages along with the increasing
disposable income levels are expected to contribute to the
expected 5% further annual growth in EBI's operating
markets in the next 5 years (CAGR 2007-2012E/ Canadean).
EBI is committed to deliver organic volume growth ahead
of the projected growth of its operating markets while
delivering strong top line growth, with a focus on improved




profitability. In addition when feasible, EBI may seize strategic
expansion opportunities in existing and new compatible
markets in Eurasia.

EBI expects 2008 to be another challenging year, primarily as
a result of worldwide input cost inflation. The impact of the
increase in the raw material and packaging costs will be apparent
at the gross profit line, while EBI expects to offset this negative
impact to a certain extent by price increases ahead of inflation
and the increasing operational efficiencies. These efficiencies
are expected to be derived primarily from the optimization of
marketing expenses due to the now completed brand portfolio
rationalization in Russia and economies of scale.

In 2008 EBI plans to deliver an absolute EBITDA growth
albeit with a lower margin primarily as a result of timing
differences between our expected price increases and cost
reduction initiatives versus the increase in raw material costs
and therefore such reduction in profitability may vary quarter
on quarter.

Risk Profile

The following presentation analyses significant strategic,
operational, financial and regulatory risk factors. The
information does not purport to be exhaustive and is not
listed in order of priority. Additional risks and uncertainties
not presently known to EBI, or that EBI currently deems
immaterial, could also have an adverse effect on its business.

Strategic risks
Political Instability

Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the countries
where EBI operates (the "Territories" and each a "Territory")
have implemented market-based economic reforms, although
the approach to, extent of, and rate of implementing such
reforms has varied.

Although in recent years there has been a general
improvement in economic indicators, there can be no
assurance that the political and economic reforms necessary
to complete the transition from centrally-planned to market-
based economies in the Territories will continue to be
implemented. The political system of each of the Territories
is susceptible to periods of instability resulting from reform,

social and ethnic unrest and rapid changes in government
policies, any of which could have a material adverse effect
on the activities of EBI.

Economic Deterioration or Instability

The governments of the Territories have at times
implemented policies of economic reform and stabilisation.
These policies have, for example, involved liberalising prices,
reducing defence expenditure and subsidies for state-owned
enterprises, privatising state-owned enterprises, reforming
the tax and bankruptcy systems, and introducing legal
structures designed to permit private, market-based activities
and foreign trade and investment. At the same time
depending on the improvements in the macroeconomic
conditions of the countries in these territories, the level of
average disposable income in the Territories have improved.
Given the high correlation between average disposable
income and per capita consumption in developing markets,
changes in the macroeconomic conditions could have
substantial impact on the beer market in EBI's territories.

Restrictions on Beer Advertising, Sales or Consumption

The implementation of restrictions on, or the prohibition of,
beer advertising in the mass media or certain sales channels
could have a material adverse effect on the results of
operations of EBI. For example, in August 2004, Russia
passed legislation placing restrictions on beer advertising.
Those restrictions include, among other things, a ban on the
broadcasting of beer commercials on television and radio
between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m., a prohibition on the promotion
of beer as being "crucial in achieving success in sports and
personal life" and a prohibition on the use of images of people
or animals on beer advertising. The provisions of the new
law took effect on 5 September 2004, with the exception
of the restriction on the use of images of people or animals,
which became effective on 1 January 2005. There is also
a risk that Russia may impose licensing obligations on
distributors and sellers of beer which may also have a material
adverse effect on EBI's results of operations. Kazakhstan
has also imposed a complete prohibition, which became
effective on 1 January 2004, on alcohol advertising in the
mass media. As a result of this legislation, growth in each
of those beer markets could be materially adversely affected,
and new product development could become more
challenging, which could have a material adverse effect on
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EBI. In addition, in April 2005, Russia passed legislation
which among other things, places restrictions on the sale
and consumption of beer in certain public places (including
sports and cultural organisations) and imposes a minimum
age of 18 years on the purchase of alcoholic beer. Although
EBI's management believes that such legislative changes
in Russia have not yet materially affected its operations,
financial condition, or results, there cannot be any assurance
that these or any other changes will not have such an effect
in the future.

Operational risks
Business Growth

Management expects that, in line with trends in Western
Europe and other parts of the world, consolidation of the
beer industry will continue and even accelerate in the
Territories. EBI's ability to participate in the consolidation
of the beer industry in the countries in which it operates, in
order to benefit from further economies of scale, better
satisfy customer needs and compete effectively against
other international brewers, will depend upon its ability to
assess, and to adjust its rate of expansion in accordance
with, demand for beer products within the Territories and

other parts of the CIS, the Balkans and Eastern Europe.
Although to date EBI has been able to manage successfully
the growth of its business, if EBI is unable to manage growth
effectively, including, among other things, by finding qualified
management or deploying and replicating its business model
and technical infrastructure, its business or financial condition
could be materially adversely affected.

Acquisitions and Business Integration

EBI's strategy includes growth through acquisitions. In
making decision to acquire a business, EBI makes certain
judgments as to the future prospects of the business and
its integration into EBI's business based on the findings of
due diligence process. Such judgments relate to the future
growth and stability of the economy, the stability of the
government, positive and negative consumer trends towards
consumption of beer and soft drinks in the country, the
introduction of new or increased competition in the market,
fluctuations in exchange rates, the introduction of new laws,
regulations, taxes or duties and other factors specific to
country. In addition, the integration of an acquired business
into EBI's business and financial organisation is a significant
process which covers a wide range of areas including



technical, sales, operational, financial, information technology,
human resources and legal integration in order to achieve
the alignment of the acquired business with EBI's operations.
Whilst integrations to date have been progressed in line
with Management's expectations, any negative effect of
such factors could materially adversely affect the performance
of the acquired business and that of EBI.

Financial risks
Cash Generation and External Financing

The planned development of EBI's business and
implementation of its proposed investment programme are
dependent on EBI's ability to generate sufficient cash flow
from its operations and to obtain bank or other debt financing
on acceptable terms to finance such programme. Although
EBI's current investment programme consists principally of
capital expenditures necessary to maintain and effect
moderate capacity increases at its existing operations, EBI
is constantly evaluating acquisition opportunities that would
require significant additional resources. If EBIis not successful
in generating sufficient cash flow or obtaining sufficient
capital to fund its planned expenditures, it may need to raise
additional equity finance or some or all of its planned
investments may be significantly delayed or abandoned.
Any such delay or abandonment could have a material
adverse effect on EBI.

Fluctuations in the Exchange Rates

EBI operates through its subsidiaries in Territories and U.S.
Dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the
group. Foreign currencies play a significant role in the
economies of the Territories. The significant part of cash
outflows related to financing activities as well as some part
of accounts payable balances are hard currency denominated,
while cash inflows are primarily denominated in national
currencies of the Territories. Consequently, any significant
decline in the value of the measurement currencies of the
subsidiaries against U.S. Dollars could have a negative effect
on the subsidiaries' financial position and results of their
operations.

Regulatory risk

Exchange Controls and Repatriation Restrictions
As a result of legislation in force in some of the Territories
relating to investments by foreign companies, there are
limits on the ability of some of the operating subsidiaries to
convert local currency into U.S. dollars (and other hard
currencies) or vice versa. The inability of, or restrictions on
the ability of, the operating subsidiaries to convert local
currency into U.S. dollars could restrict their ability to pay
suppliers in their currency of choice, to pay dividends and
impede or restrict operating subsidiaries with present or
future indebtedness from making interest or principal
payments in respect of such indebtedness. If any such
further restrictions were imposed, they would have a material
adverse effect on EBI.

—— * ETT 2
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Legal System

Risks associated with the legal systems of the Territories
include, to varying degrees (i) inconsistencies between and
among laws including tax legislation, presidential decrees,
edicts, and governmental and ministerial orders and
resolutions; (ii) conflicting local, regional and federal rules
and regulations; (iii) the lack of judicial or administrative
guidance on interpreting the applicable rules; (iv) the untested
nature of the independence of the judiciary and its immunity
from economic or political influences; (v) the relative
inexperience of jurists, judges and courts in interpreting
recently enacted legislation and complex commercial
arrangements; (vi) a high degree of discretion on the part of
governmental authorities; (vii) variability in the interpretation
and application of tax laws and regulations by the respective
tax authorities and (viii) a lack of binding judicial precedents.
Such immaturity of legal systems, processes and practice
could adversely affect EBI's business or financial condition.

v - iRge- & - III-

Tax Environment

Legislation and regulations regarding taxation and foreign
currency transactions in most of the territories in which the
EBI operates continue to evolve as the governments manage
the transformation from a command to a market-oriented
economy. Various regulations are not always clearly written
and their interpretation is subject to the opinions of the local,
regional and national tax authorities, the Central Bank and
Ministry of Finance. Tax declarations, together with other
legal compliance areas (for example, customs and currency
control matters) are subject to review and investigation by
a number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose
significant fines, penalties and interest charges. Although
management believes that it has paid or accrued all taxes
that are applicable, these facts create tax risks in the territories
in which EBI operates substantially more than typically found
in countries with more developed tax systems.
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Excise Duties and Other Taxes on Beer

As a part of regulation of the beer industry, the beer sales
in the territories are subject to taxation and government
surcharges that include excise and value-added taxes, which
from time to time changes. Imposition of, or increases in,
excise or other taxes on beer could negatively affect the
brewing industry with increased prices for consumers.
Reduced consumption of beer in any of the Territories could
have a material adverse effect on EBI.

Internal Risk Management

Internal risk management principally enables EBI to run its
operations effectively, to keep the reliability of the financial
reporting and to comply with laws and regulations. Internal
risk management consists of several interrelated components
and is an integrated part of the management process. The
internal risk management and control systems are considered
to ensure a reasonable level of assurance, although such
systems can never provide absolute assurance. EBI
continuously reviews and adopts its internal risk management
and control systems to respond to the changing risk profile
and dynamic growth.

Strategic Business Planning is a key element to monitor
the achievement of business objectives. The approved
strategic business plans of the operations set the operational
and financial objectives. Such objectives include key
performance indicators which provide the basis to monitor
actual performance compared to the targets. The procedures
of internal control systems which are designed to provide
reasonable assurance for the successful flow of activities
such as sales, production, marketing, supply chain and
finance are already in place or are being improved.

EBI prepares its financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted
by European Union. Operations prepare their financial reports
based on EBI's accounting policies and presentation
standards. EBI operates in different countries, environments
and cultures which bring varying degrees of risk and

uncertainty. Due to the nature and size of the business, EBI
employs a multi-layered internal control structure. Local
management, under the guidance of the Board of
Management, is responsible for implementing, operating
and monitoring an effective internal control system, which
is designed to provide reasonable assurance on integrity of
the information processing, preventing loss of resources,
achieving the business objectives and fair presentation of
financial reporting. The Board of Management, under the
supervision of the Supervisory Board and in particular its
Audit Committee, oversees the effectiveness of internal risk
management.

Investor Relations Function

EBI undertakes an active investor relations programme with
its shareholders and the wider financial community since its
listing in October 2004. The Company immediately announces
the important operational developments through news
releases as they occur and also gives presentations following
the release of its results for existing shareholders, potential
institutional investors and financial analysts. EBI also attends
international conferences for the institutional investors.

All news releases announced publicly as well as copies of
the presentations given are made available on EBI's website
at www.efesinternational.com together with other information
including but not limited to operations, financial performance
and corporate governance.

During 2007, in addition to around 292 face-to-face contacts,
including the conferences, with individual and institutional
investors, shareholders and analysts, other various forms of
communication have been utilized to convey and discuss
the operating results and performance of EBI as well as
other developments within the period. In 2007, EBI presented
its results quarterly through conference calls with institutional
investors and financial analysts. In 2007, EBI attended fifteen
conferences organized abroad, some of which are attended
together with Anadolu Efes.
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Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors
and the Shareholders of
EFES Breweries
International N.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements 2007 of EFES Breweries International N.V.,
Amsterdam, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, the statement of income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of the report of the Board of Management in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of EFES Breweries
International N.V. as at December 31, 2007, and of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code.

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part e of the Netherlands Civil Code, we report, to the extent
of our competence, that the report of the Board of Management is consistent with the consolidated financial statements
as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Amsterdam, April 24, 2008

for Ernst & Young Accountants

signed by C.N.J. Verhart



Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at December 31, 2007
(Currency - Thousands of U.S. Dollars
unless otherwise indicated)

Notes 2007 2006
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 58,526 163,861
Trade and other receivables 5 88,140 49,630
Due from related parties 29 8,161 3,475
Inventories 6 188,041 97,913
Prepayments and other current assets 7 59,840 56,422
Total current assets 402,708 371,301
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 10 1,521 1,575
Property, plant and equipment 8 726,490 628,550
Intangible assets 9 536,949 514,969
Deferred tax assets 24 13,806 10,699
Prepayments and other non-current assets 2,942 2,246
Total non-current assets 1,281,708 1,158,039
Total assets 1,684,416 1,529,340

» The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Due to related parties

Income tax payable

Short-term borrowings

Current portion of long-term borrowings

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings-net of current portion
Deferred tax liability

Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Equity

Issued capital

Share premium

Currency translation reserve
Retained earnings

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Notes

11
29

12
12

12
24
13

14
14
14

2007

225,773
23,339
5,008
188,609
14,822

457,551

342,598
10,912
346

353,856

237,488
319,318
138,794
167,837

863,437
9,672
873,009

1,684,416

2006

145,770
22,148
1,694
138,156
22,294

330,062

311,108
12,260
103,886

427,254

237,488
319,318

75,520
130,367

762,693
9,331
772,024

1,529,340

» The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statement of Income

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.
Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

Notes 2007 2006
Revenue 836,235 638,929
Cost of revenue 16 (462,100) (328,843)
Gross profit 374,135 310,086
Selling and marketing expenses 17 (209,214) (180,613)
General and administrative expenses 18 (94,819) (73,801)
Other operating income 19 16,187 5,840
Other operating expense 19 (5,738) (6,127)
Profit from operations 80,551 55,385
Financial income 22 11,348 14,453
Financial expense 22 (40,272) (41,007)
Profit before tax 51,627 28,831
Income tax 23 (14,280) (7,419)
Profit after tax 37,347 21,412
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company 37,470 20,608
Minority interests (123) 804
37,347 21,412
Earnings per share (in full U.S. Dollars)
Basic 15 0.18 0.13
Diluted 15 0.18 0.13

» The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of

Changes in Equity

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.
Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Parent Company

Balance at January 1, 2006

Foreign currency translation

Recognition of currency
translation reserve (Note 3)

Total income and expense for the
year recognized directly in equity

Net profit for the year

Total income and expense
for the year

Issue of share capital
Dividends of subsidiaries

Additions through subsidiaries
acquired

Dividends paid to put option
holder

At December 31, 2006

Foreign currency translation

Total income and expense for the
year recognized directly in equity

Net profit for the year

Total income end expense
for the year

Issue of share capital
Dividends of subsidiaries

Additions through subsidiaries
acquired

Dividends paid to put option
holder

At December 31, 2007

Share
Capital

156,921

237,488

237,488

Share
Premium

101,626

217,692

319,318

319,318

Currency
Translation
Reserve

14,532

68,813
(7,825)

60,988

60,988

75,520

63,274
63,274

63,274

138,794

Retained
Earnings and

109,759

20,608
20,608

130,367

37,470
37,470

167,837

Minority

Interests

Total
382,838

68,813
7,825

60,988

20,608
81,596

298,259

762,693

63,274
63,274

37,470
100,744

863,437

24,878

2,549

2,549

804
3.353

(604)
(18,564)

268

9,331

1,011
1,011

(123)
888

(404)
(534)

291

9,672

Total
Equity

407,716

71,362
(7,825)

63,5637

21,412
84,949

298,259
(604)
(18,564)

268

772,024

64,285
64,285

37,347
101,632

(404)
(534)

291

873,009

» The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S. Notes 2007 2006

Qol{ars unless otherwise Cash flows from operating activities

indicated) Profit before tax 28,831 35,803
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Gain on sale of soft-drink trademarks 3 (3,712) -
Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary 25 - (1,779)
Depreciation and amortisation 21 72,578 57,082
Provision for bad debt 18 972 134
Provision for inventories 19 3,951 1,834
Income recognised from reversal of provision for bad debt (1,083) (687)
Income recognised from reversal of provision for inventories (970) (148)
Impairment in property, plant and equipment 19 232 70
Reversal of impairment on property plant equipment 8 (2,430) -
Reserve for vacation pay liability 1,022 1,221
Other non-cash items 51 (1,290)
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment 19 1,138 813
Amortised borrowing costs 1,241 208
Interest income 22 (4,744) (5,685)
Interest expense 22 36,491 38,415
Net income adjusted for non-cash items 156,364 119,019
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (93,115) (19,286)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (38,399) (8,417)
(Increase)/decrease in due from related parties (4,686) (6,397)
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables 9,419 24,780
Increase/(decrease) in due to related parties 1,191 2,524
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 1,919 (12,769)
Decrease /(increase) in other non-current assets (696) (1,733)
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current liabilities (171) (1,123)
Interest received 2,405 5,331
Interest paid (42,308) (30,654)
Taxes paid (18,680) (10,920)
Net cash provided by operating activities (26,757) 60,355
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 8-9 (127,655) (124,193)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,565 3,196
Proceeds from sale of soft-drink trademarks 3 3,712 -
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (36,660) (486,665)
Disposal of joint venture - 26,706
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (404) (604)
Net cash used in investing activities (155,442) (581,560)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase /(decrease) in short-term debt 38,714 16,706
Proceeds from long-term debt 42,899 296,283
Repayment of long-term debt (17,601) (27,087)
Proceeds from issuance of share capital 14 - 80,567
Increase in share premium 14 - 217,692
Net cash provided by financing activities 64,012 584,161
Currency translation differences 12,852 4,045
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (105,335) (67,001)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 163,861 96,860
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 58,526 163,861

» The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended

December 31, 2007
(Currency - Thousands of U.S.
Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

Efes Breweries International N.V. (the Company) was incorporated in the Netherlands on October 2, 1996. The
registered address of the Company is Strawinskylaan 1227, 1077XX Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

The Company's ordinary shares have been listed on the London Stock Exchange in the form of global depositary
receipts (GDR's).

The parent of the Company is Anadolu Efes Biracilik ve Malt Sanayii Anonim Sirketi (Anadolu Efes-the Parent
Company). Anadolu Efes is a Turkish Corporation, which was established in Istanbul in 1966. The operations of
Anadolu Efes consist of production of beer and its raw materials. Certain shares of Anadolu Efes are listed on the
Istanbul Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year 2007 were authorised for issue by the directors
on March 27, 2008.

The Company acts as a Dutch Holding company, facilitating investments in breweries.

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred
to as "the Group'".

The subsidiaries included in consolidation and their shareholding percentages at December 31, 2007 and December
31, 2006 were as follows:



Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.

Dollars unless otherwise Effective Shareholding

indicated) Place of  Principal and Voting rights %

Incorporation  Activities December 31, December 31,

2007 2006

CJSC "Moscow-Efes Brewery"” (Efes Moscow) (ii) Russia  Production and marketing of beer 90.85 90.85
JSC "Amstar” (Amstar) (i) Russia  Production of beer 90.85 90.85
ZAO Efes Entertainment (Efes Entertainment) (i) Russia  Entertainment 90.85 90.85
C.J.S.C. Rostov Beverage (Rostov Beverages) (i) Russia  Production of beer 90.85 90.85
LLC "Stary Melnik” (i) Russia  Advertising 90.85 90.85
JSC "Brewing union Krasny Vostok-Solodovbeer (KV Group) (i) Russia  Production and marketing of beer 92.85 92.85
LLC "KV-SibPivCompaniya" (iii) Russia  Production of beer 97.53 97.53
LLC "Vostok solod” (iii) Russia  Production of malt 92.85 92.85
LLC "Krasny Vostok - Invest" {iii) Russia  Finance 92.85 92.85
LLC "T'sentralny Torgovy Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
CJSC "MTD Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
CJSC "Samarskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
CJSC "Saratovskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Ufimskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Barnaulskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Volgogradskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Voronezhskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Ekaterinburgskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Kemerovskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Krasnodarskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Krasnoyarskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Kurskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "“Nizhegorodskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Nizhnekamskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Novosibirskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” ({iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Omskii Dom Krasny Vostok" ({iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Permskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Sankt-Peterburgskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Tomskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
LLC "Chelyabinskii Torgovyii Dom Krasny Vostok" (iii) Russia  Trading House 92.85 92.85
JSC Efes Karaganda Brewery (Efes Karaganda) Kazakhstan  Production and Marketing of beer ~ 100.00 100.00
Efes Vitanta Moldova Brewery S.A. (Efes Vitanta) Moldova  Production and Marketing of beer, 96.50 96.50

soft drinks, low alcoholic drinks
and mineral water

Efes Weifert Brewery d.o.o (Efes Weifert) Serbia  Production and Marketing of beer 97.21 90.97
Efes Zajecar Brewery d.o.o (Efes Zajecar) Serbia  Production and Marketing of beer 72.96 72.96
Euro-Asian Brauerein Holding GmbH (Euro Asian) Germany  Investment Company 100.00 100.00
Efes Commerce d.o.o Belgrade (Efes Commerce) (iv) Serbia  Production and marketing of beverages 100.00 100.00
Brewery Pivdenna CJSC (Efes Ukraine) (iv) Ukraine  Production and Marketing of beer 100.00 100.00
Efes Romania Industrie Si Comert S.A. (ERIC) (iv) Romania  Distribution of beer 99.996 99.996
Efes Productie SRL (Efes Productie) (iv) Romania  Distribution of beer 69.70 69.70



(i) Subsidiaries of Efes Moscow, which are consolidated under its financial statements.

(i) Following revised IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), a further 9.15% and 6.70%
interest has also been consolidated for Efes Moscow and KV Group, respectively.

(i) Subsidiaries of KV Group, which are consolidated under its financial statements.

(iv) Subsidiaries that are either dormant or in the process of being liquidated.

The countries, in which the consolidated subsidiaries are operating, have undergone substantial, political and economical
changes in the recent years. Accordingly such markets do not possess well-developed business infrastructures and
the operations in such countries might carry risks, which are not typically associated with those in more developed
markets. Uncertainties regarding the political, legal, tax and / or regulatory environment, including the potential for
adverse changes in any of these factors, could significantly affect the subsidiaries’ ability to operate commercially.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, which comprise standards approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The consolidated financial statements also comply with the interpretations issued
by Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
appointed by the IASC. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the historical cost
convention with some items are presented at fair value, as disclosed in below notes.

The Company followed the same accounting policies and methods while preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year 2007 as compared to 2006 except for the new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations. These are:

IFRS 7 " Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, IAS 19 “Employee
Benefits”, IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement”, IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, IFRIC 5 “Rights to Interests
arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds” and IFRIC 6 “Liabilities arising
from Participation in a Specific Market-Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment”

The Company reviewed the new standards, changes to the existing standards and interpretations. They have not had
any effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The Company maintains its books and records in accordance with the requirements of the Netherlands’ civil code.
The subsidiaries maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial statements in their local currencies
and in accordance with the regulations of the countries in which they operate. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared from financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and presented in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by EU in U.S. Dollars. In December 2000, ERIC and Efes Productie adopted a plan of liquidation and
as a result changed their basis of accounting, from the going-concern basis to a liquidation basis.




Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.

Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

The Company is domiciled in the Netherlands. The Group transacts most of its business in U.S. Dollars, loans
granted by the Company are denominated in U.S. Dollars, and contributions to the capital of the subsidiaries are
denominated in U.S. Dollars and dividends from subsidiaries are received in U.S. Dollars.

Accordingly, the USD was determined to be the Company’s functional and presentation currency which reflects
the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Company.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Local Functional Functional

Currency Currency Currency

Efes Moscow RUR RUR RUR
KV Group RUR RUR RUR
Efes Karaganda KZT KZT KZT
Efes Ukraine UAH UAH UAH
Efes Vitanta MDL MDL MDL
Efes Weifert RSD RSD RSD
Efes Zajecar RSD RSD RSD
Euro Asian EUR USD usb
Efes Commerce RSD RSD RSD
ERIC ROL ROL ROL
Efes Productie ROL ROL ROL

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at
the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated
at the exchange rates existing at the dates of the transactions or a weighted average exchange rate for the year.
The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of the equity. On
disposal of a foreign entity, accumulated exchange differences (currency translation reserve) are recognised in the
income statement as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.

Each entity within the Group translates its foreign currency transactions and balances into its functional currency by
applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency
at the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting
monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the period or reported in
previous financial statements are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is treated as an asset of the acquiring company and is translated
and recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.



Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated

from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses are
eliminated. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances.

The purchase method of accounting is used for acquired businesses. Subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include Efes Breweries International N.V. and the companies
which it controls. This control is normally evidenced when the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the voting rights of a company’s share capital and is able to govern the financial and operating policies of
an enterprise so as to benefit from its activities. The equity and net income attributable to minority shareholders’
interests are shown separately in the balance sheets and income statements, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand and short-term deposits with the maturities of three months or less.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables, are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.
Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will no longer be able to collect the debts. Bad
debts are written off when identified.

Available-for-sale Investments

Investments classified as available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured by alternative valuation methods are measured at cost.
The carrying amounts of such investments are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment.

1



Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.

Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group
commits to purchase or to sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Inventories, including work-in-process are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, after provision for
obsolete items. Net realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion,
marketing and distribution. Cost is determined by weighted average and first in first out methods. For processed
inventories, cost includes the applicable allocation of fixed and variable overhead costs based on a normal operating
capacity. Unrealizable inventory has been fully written off.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation which is calculated on straight-line basis method over the estimated useful life of the assets is as

follows:

Buildings 10-40 years
Infrastructure 5-40 years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Furniture and Fixtures 3-15 years
Other tangible assets 2-14 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of fair value
less cost to sell and value in use. At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to weather there is any indication
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated and the impairment loss is reversed.



In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. For an asset that does not generate independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Cash generating units are the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognized.

The residual value of assets, useful life and depreciation methodologies are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at each financial year end.

Goodwvill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition, and is
included under the caption of intangible assets. In 2004, IASB issued IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, revised
IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ and revised IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ which should be applied on acquisitions to
the accounting for goodwill in business combinations for which the agreement date is after 31 March 2004.

In addition, starting from January 1, 2005, goodwill acquired in a business combination prior to 31 March 2004 is
no longer amortised but tested for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that it may
be impaired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 31 March 2004 is not amortised but subject to impairment test
annually. The previous version of IAS 38 was requiring that the useful life of an intangible asset can not exceed
twenty years.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment in value.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose. The Group allocates goodwill to the business segments which are the countries in
which it operates.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.




Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.

Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

Brand

The cost of brands acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, the brands are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful live for the brands
is assessed to be indefinite and therefore brands are not amortised. The brands are tested for impairment annually.
The useful live is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capitalized at cost which is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. Other intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalized separately
from goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. Other intangible assets, excluding
development costs, created within the business are not capitalized and expenditure is charged against profits in
the year in which it is incurred.

Following the initial recognition, other intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets which are identified to have a finite useful life are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the periodically reviewed best estimate of useful lives and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. The carrying values of other intangible
assets which are identified to have an indefinite useful life are not amortised but reviewed for impairment annually
and when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The cost of acquisition of new software is capitalized and treated as an intangible asset if these costs are not an
integral part of the related hardware. Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 1 to 5 years.

The Group recognizes a financial asset or financial liability in its balance sheet when and only when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial asset or a portion of
financial asset when and only when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire or the Group
transfers the contractual rights to receive cash flows together with the risks of the asset or assumes a contractual
obligation to pay the cash flows from a financial asset to one or more recipients under an additional agreement.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when and only when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another liability from the same lender on
substantially different terms or if the terms of the existing financial liability are substantially modified, such exchange
or modification is treated as derecognition of the existing liability and the recognition of the new liability.



Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on
settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through
the amortisation process.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs include interest charges and other costs incurred in
connection with the borrowing of funds. A revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs was issued in March 2007, and becomes
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised
on qualifying assets with a commencement date after 1 January 2009. No changes will be made for borrowing
costs incurred to this date that have been expensed.

The Group as Lessee

Finance Lease

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to the income statement. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating Lease

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenues are stated net of discounts, value added and sales taxes.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

For the year ended
December 31, 2007

(Currency - In thousands of U.S.

Dollars unless otherwise
indicated)

a) Sale of Goods

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred
income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

® where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised
except:

e where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred
income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.



Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attached to such grants, and that the grants will be received. They are recognised to income over the
period to match them with the related costs that they are intended to compensate. Income relating to government
grants is recognised as a deduction from the appropriate expense.

Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the balance sheet date
or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate (adjusting events), are reflected in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes when material.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the balance sheet. Actual results may vary from the current estimates. These estimates
are reviewed periodically, and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the periods in
which they become known.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Following the acquisition of KV group the Management has changed the primary reporting segment from business
segment to geographical segments. To be comparable; prior period statements were also rearranged.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment, which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other
segments. The Group's risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different
countries which are considered to be the primary segment and the secondary segment is the business. The Group
is in a single product business and products other than beer represent less than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Other operating income and other operating expense are shown separately both in the face of the statement of
income and in related disclosure.
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In February 2007, Efes Vitanta, subsidiary of the Company in Moldova, reached an agreement with The Coca-Cola
Company (“TCCC") to sell Efes Vitanta’s soft drink brand called “Viva" as well as “Real” brand of bottled water
to TCCC.

The Company acquired 6.25% of Efes Weifert in October 2007 through takeover bid process for a total cash
consideration of USD 3,144. The excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price was USD 2,610
and has been recognized as goodwill (Refer to Note 9).

The Company acquired 92.3% of KV Group located in Russia, in February 2006 with a total cash consideration of
USD 366.7 million (including costs directly attributable to acquisition of USD 1.2 million). In June 20086, with a total
cash consideration of USD 1.6 million, the Company additionally acquired 0.5% of KV Group from minority
shareholders. The excess of the acquisition costs over the fair values of the net assets acquired was USD 85,481
for the initial acquisition and USD 9 for the minority buyout, and has been recognised as goodwill in the consolidated
balance sheet (Refer to Note 25). The goodwill is justified by acquired market share which has consolidated the
Groups existing Russian business at fourth position in the market, operational synergies, production optimisation
across the Group's brewing platforms, a lower cost base through a higher sales volume and logistical advantage
through more extensive geographical coverage.

Financial statements of the KV Group and its subsidiaries until 28 February 2006 had been prepared in accordance
with Regulations on Accounting and Reporting of the Russian Federation (Russian GAAP). Russian GAAP differs
in certain respects from IFRS. KV Group has prepared its financial statements under IFRS for the first time as of
February 28, 2006 and recognised the fair values of its assets and liabilities at carrying value, in compliance with
IFRS 1 “First time adoption of IFRS". Therefore, it is impracticable for the Company to disclose the information
about the carrying values on the date of acquisition and the comparative figures as required by IFRS 3.

The Company has gone through a substantial integration exercise which was intended to align the KV Group
business into the Company's current Russian system. The principal integration goals were focusing on deriving
benefit from areas that evidence scope for rapid synergies. The previous business model of KV Group has been
significantly changed through cross-brewing, sales, distribution and marketing. KV Group has commenced producing
brands of Efes Moscow and Efes Moscow has commenced producing brands of KV Group. The selling and
distribution model of KV Group via trading houses has been ceased and all selling and distribution activities have
been transferred to Efes Moscow.



As a result, KV Group has been restructured as a production centre. Therefore, financial performance of KV Group
does not reflect the contribution of the integrated business model to the consolidated income statement of the
Company.

Relating to the put option granted to Amsterdam Brewery Investments B.V., the Company acquired 12.4% of Efes
Moscow for a total cash consideration of USD 108.9 million and increased its shareholding percentage in Efes
Moscow to 83.4% in February 2006. Following revised IAS 32, the liability for the put options was measured, and
the excess of the liability for puttable instrument over the fair value of the net assets of Efes Moscow amounting
to USD 81,429 was for the first time recognised as goodwill as of December 31, 2005. Due to the difference
between the estimated valuation and the actual cash consideration, the Company has recognized an additional
goodwill of USD 740.

In August 2006, the Company sold all of its shares in Interbrew Efes, together with Anadolu Efes to InBev. The
Company received USD 26.6 million for 49.99% of the share capital of Interbrew Efes. On disposal of Interbrew
Efes, an accumulated currency translation difference of USD 7,825 was recognised in the income statement as a
component of the gain on sale of joint venture (Refer to Note 25).

Interbrew Efes contributed USD 13,956 (2005 - USD 18,858) and USD 2,126 (2005 - USD 4,445) to consolidated
revenue and consolidated net income, respectively.

In October 2006, the Company has acquired 7.50% of Efes Moscow from EL & EL for a total cash consideration
of USD 88.5 million and increased its shareholding percentage to 90.85%. For the remaining 0.39% shares owned
by EL & EL, EBI has been granted a call option. The excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase
price was USD 68,063 and has been recognised as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet.

In December 2006, the Company acquired another 7.47% of share capital in Efes Weifert by cash contributions
to its share capital and accordingly increased its share in the subsidiaries up to 90.97%. The excess of fair value
of net assets acquired over the purchase price was USD 1,674 and has been recorded as goodwvill.

2007 2006
Cash on hand 170 53
Banks accounts (including short-term time deposits) 58,273 163,765
Other 83 73
Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated cash flow statement 58,526 163,861

M9
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Loans utilized by Efes Karaganda of USD 13,056 (2006-USD 17,927) and by Efes Moscow of USD 16,590 (2006-
USD 18,764) as of December 31, 2007 are secured with cash amount of USD 30,304 at banks (Refer to Note 12)
(2006-USD 51,409).

Time deposits are made for varying periods up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group and earn interest between 3.4% and 8.6%(2006-3.7%-7.5%).

2007 2006
Accounts Receivable 96,644 58,752
Others 2,798 1,852
Less: provision for doubtful accounts (11,302) (10,974)
Total 88,140 49,630

2007 2006
Raw materials 122,755 57,565
Supplies and spare parts 19,019 13,615
Finished goods 22,358 17,191
Work-in-process 11,888 7,359
Others 27,203 14,261
Less: reserve for obsolescence (15,182) (12,078)
Total 188,041 97,913

2007 2006
Advances given to suppliers 18,305 11,718
VAT deductible 29,262 37,822
Other receivables 9,895 7,275
Prepaid expenses 3,997 1,067
Less: provision for other receivables (1,619) (1,460)
Total 59,840 56,422



Land Buildings Infrastructure
Cost
January 1, 2007 10,670 251,686 16,558
Additions - 1,219 -
Disposals - (575) (94)
Currency translation difference 775 19,226 1,417
Transfers - 24,995 5,451
December 31, 2007 11,445 296,151 23,332
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment Losses
January 1, 2007 - 38,129 3,788
Depreciation for the year - 8,550 719
Impairment losses - 232 -
Disposals - (177) (47)
Currency translation difference - 3,477 292
Transfers - (92) -
December 31, 2007 - 50,119 4,752
Net book value 11,445 246,032 18,580
Cost
January 1, 2006 3,629 117,810 10,777
Additions - 354 -
Disposals - (196) (330)
Addition through subsidiary acquired 5,319 100,600 2,974
Disposal through subsidiaries sold - (13,282) -
Currency translation difference 705 18,308 999
Transfers 1,017 28,092 2,138
December 31, 2005 10,670 251,686 16,558
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment Losses
January 1, 2006 - 31,059 3,302
Depreciation for the year - 7,097 462
Impairment losses - - -
Disposals - (87) (120)
Disposal through subsidiaries sold - (3,330) -
Currency translation difference - 3,390 144
December 31, 2006 - 38,129 3,788
Net book value 10,670 213,557 12,770

Machinery
and
Equipment

496,280
1,490
(9,196)
39,699
42,140

570,413

158,644
53,084
(2,430)
(4,089)
14,214

(610)

218,813

351.600

322,284
2,313
(4,886)
89,190
(31,070)
36,948
81,501

496,280

119,802
43,948
70
(2,624)
(14,408)
11,856

158,644

337,636

Furniture Other Construction
and Tangible in 2007
Vehicles Assets Progress Total
22,492 22,135 24,995 844,816
4,306 9,505 109,183 125,703
(1,959) (958) (13)  (12,795)
2,750 1,889 2,670 68,426
5,241 323 (78,150) -
32,830 32,894 58,685 1,026,150
8,053 7,652 - 216,266
4,234 5,327 - 71,914
- - - (2,198)
(850) (932) - (6,095)
1,091 699 - 19,773
772 (70) - -
13,300 12,676 - 299,662
19,530 20,216 58,685 726,490
15,850 13,689 26,754 510,793
1,248 4,078 114,620 122,613
(1,717) (918) (1,083) (9,130)
3,892 3,928 1,081 206,984
(433) (2,089) (1,322)  (48,196)
1,794 889 2,109 61,752
1,858 2,558 (117,164) -
22,492 22,135 24,995 844,816
6,572 6,456 - 167,191
2,283 2,847 - 56,637
- - - 70
(1,152) (1,135) - (5,118)
(265) (799) - (18,802)
615 283 - 16,288
8,053 7,652 - 216,266
14,439 14,483 24,995 628,550
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As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, certain property, plant and equipment are pledged as security for short-term
and long-term loans and borrowings of the Group. (Refer to Note 12).

1) Equipment under finance lease

The cost of property, plant and equipment held under finance lease is USD 824 and USD 535 and has a net book
value of USD 655 and USD 376 as at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (Refer to Note 27).

2) Impairment losses

In 2007, a net impairment reversal gain of USD 2,198 (2006 impairment loss: USD 70) was recognised (Refer to

Note 19).
Other Other
intangible 2007 intangible 2006

Goodwill Brands assets Total Goodwill Brands assets Total
Cost
January 1 434,306 89,675 5,610 529,691 219,031 - 3,794 222,825

83,96

Additions 2,610 - 1,952 4,562 190,072 0 1,680 275,612
Disposals - - (151) (151) - - (14) (14)
Disposals through subsidiaries sold - - - - - - (59) (59)
Currency translation difference 15,237 2,941 565 18,743 25,203 5,715 309 31,227
December 31 452,153 92,616 7,976 552,745 434,306 89,675 5,610 529,591
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses
January 1 10,553 - 4,069 14,622 10,215 - 3,401 13,616
Amortisation for the year - - 664 664 - 445 445
Disposals - - (148) (148) - (14) (14)
Disposals through subsidiaries sold - - - - - - (59) (59)
Currency translation difference 288 - 370 658 338 - 296 634
December 31 10,841 - 4955 15,796 10,553 - 4,069 14,622
Net book value 441,312 - 3,021 536,949 423,753 89,675 1,541 514,969
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As a Group policy, the management performs impairment test for goodwill and brands with an indefinite useful

life on an annual base. Based on the impairment test for goodwill and brands, no grounds were identified for
impairment charge as of December 31, 2007. The recoverable amount of cash generating units, which is determined
by discounting the future cash flows, exceeded the carrying amount of the cash generating units including goodwill
and brands. The goodwill of USD 422,146 was attributable to the cash generating unit in Russia and the remaining
goodwill of USD 19,166 was attributable to the other cash generating units as of December 31, 2007. The brands
of USD 92,616 were attributable to the cash generating unit in Russia as of December 31, 2007.

Cash flows were projected with a combination of the strategic business plans of the Company for the period 2008
till 2010 and were extrapolated for the period 2011 till 2017. Key assumptions such as country specific market
growth rates, GDP per capita and consumer price indices were derived from external sources. Main estimates such
as beer and resin prices, working capital requirements and capital expenditures were based on key assumptions
and historical operating data. The market growth and volume growth rates were estimated to be between 22.5%
and 2%, and 29.5% and 2%, respectively. The consumer price indices were estimated to be between 15% and
4%, and selling prices were estimated to increase in line with inflation. These projections were discounted at the
weighted average cost of capital of the cash generating units ranged primarily between 8.93% and 12.68%.

The Company believes that all of its management estimates and key assumptions are reasonable. Management
believes that no reasonable possible change in any of the disclosed key assumptions would cause the carrying
value materially exceed its recoverable amount.

2007 2006
ZAO Mutena Maltery (Mutena Maltery) 1,511 1,511
Others 10 64
Total — non-current 1,521 1,575

Mutena Maltery (11.09%) is carried at cost, since it does not have a quoted market price in an active market and
its fair value cannot be reliably measured by alternative valuation methods.
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2007 2006
Trade accounts payable 49,818 31,337
Taxes payable other than income tax 15,509 32,036
Accrued expenses 3,226 2,385
Payable for acquired shares - 28,914
Liability for puttable instrument (note 30) 127,009 24,202
Other short-term payables 30,211 26,896
Total 225,773 145,770
Trade payables are non interest bearing and generally on 30-90 days’ term.
2007 2006
Current
Bank borrowings (including current portion of long-term borrowings) 203,312 160,360
Finance lease liabilities 219 90
203,431 160,450
Non-current
Bank borrowings 342,344 310,910
Finance lease liabilities 254 198
342,598 311,108
Total borrowings 546,029 471,558

A syndication loan amounting USD 300,000 originated in September 2006. Issue costs of USD 3,717 associated
with the loan has been netted off. The amortised cost for 2007 is USD 1,241 (2006-USD 208) and has been
recognised as finance expense in income statement.

As of December 31, 2007, USD 343,566 (2006 — USD 383,203) of the total borrowings are secured with the

followings:

- Cash collaterals amounting to USD 30,304 (2006-USD 51,409)

- Efes Moscow's and Efes Karaganda's immovable and movable properties, including inventory balances; the
assignment of the rights regarding insurance coverage in respect of Efes Moscow's and Efes Karaganda's property
amounting to USD 2,515.

- 43% of Efes Moscow's shares and all shares of Efes Karaganda held by the Company.

- The ability of Efes Karaganda to declare dividends is subject to prior consent of the EBRD under the provisions
of the loan agreements.

- A Corporate guarantee amounting to USD 310,000 provided by Anadolu Efes.



The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2007

Bank borrowings
Non-current
USD and EURO denominated borrowings Base rate + ( 1.55%-3.55%)
Current
USD and Euro denominated borrowings Base rate + (0.5%-2.95%)
Other currency denominated borrowings Base rate 0.24%

7.75%-11.0%
Finance lease liabilities 12.25%-14.5%

2006

Base rate + (1.55%-3.65%)
Base rate + (0.5%-2.95%)
1.0%-7.5%

Base rate + 0.24%
7.9%-11.5%

14.5%-15.0%

Repayments of long-term debt are scheduled as follows (excluding finance lease obligation):

2007
2007 -
2008 14,603
2009 299,119
2010 2,161
Thereafter 41,064
356,947
Future minimum lease payments for finance lease liabilities are as follows:
2007
Next 1 year 267
1to b5 years 277
After 5 years -
Total minimum lease obligations 544
Interest (71)
Present value of minimum obligations 473
2007
Liability for puttable instrument -
Others 346
Total 346

2006

22,204
12,834
298,075

333,113

2006

103,100
786

103,886

Other non current liabilities mainly consists of employee termination benefit reserve for Efes Weifert and Efes

Zajecar. The Company has no other employee termination benefit reserve.
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2007 2006
Number of shares Number of shares

Common shares, par value of EUR 1
Authorized 250,000,000 250,000,000
Issued and outstanding 211,428,569 211,428,569

The movement of the share capital of the Company during 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2007 2006
Number of shares usbD Number of shares usD
At January 1, 211,428,569 237,488 148,000,000 156,921
Shares issued - - 63,428,569 80,567
At December 31 211,428,569 237,488 211,428,569 237,488

During 2006, the Company conducted a share rights offering for 63,428,569 new ordinary shares, with a nominal
value of EUR 1 to its existing shareholders Anadolu Efes, the Company's principal shareholder, and The Bank of New
York, as depositary of the GDRs. The new ordinary shares of 18,891,340 out of for 63,428,569 new shares were
offered in the form of GDRs, each representing five new ordinary shares. Anadolu Efes has participated in the share
rights offering to the full extent of its holding of 70.22 per cent of the Company's share capital. The Bank of New York
has subscribed for 3,524,717 new GDRs and HSBC Bank plc has subscribed for the remaining 253,551 new GDRs.

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, the composition of shareholders and their respective % of ownership can be
summarised as follows:

2007 2006
Anadolu Efes 70.22% 70.22%
Public 29.78% 29.78%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

Currency Translation Reserve

The currency translation reserve is used to record the exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.



Basic earnings per share (EPS), which is same as fully diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computation:

2007 2006
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 37,470 20,608
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 211,428,569 157,036,399
EPS (in full U.S. Dollars) 0.18 0.13
Cost of revenue comprised the following expenses:
2007 2006
Inventory used 348,722 235,380
Depreciation & Amortisation 47,259 41,136
Personnel expenses 23,633 20,793
Energy expenses 20,600 16,928
Repair and maintenance expenses 12,916 10,206
Other expenses 8,970 4,400
Total expenses 462,100 328,843
Selling and marketing expenses are analyzed as follows:
2007 2006
Marketing and advertising expenses 73,056 70,283
Distribution expenses 67,009 51,5683
Personnel expenses 34,142 26,781
Depreciation & Amortisation 20,009 12,170
Other expenses 14,998 19,796
Total expenses 209,214 180,613
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General and administrative expenses include the following:

Personnel expenses

Depreciation & Amortisation

Consulting and legal fees and other business services
Taxes and duties

Management fees and technical assistance
Rent expense

Bad debt provision

Insurance expenses

Rovyalty

Representation and communication
Vehicle expenses

Waste

Water, energy, sewage, fuel and heating
Other (tare losses)

Travel

Security

Repair and maintenance

Other expenses

Total expenses

Cost of sale of soda drinks

Provision for obsolete inventory

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Refer to Note 8)
Other expense

Total other operating expenses

2007

37,689
5,009
8,659

10,009
6,099

662
972
1,365
6,434
1,651
1,315
2,381
152
486
631
348
1,096
9,861

94,819

2007

(3,951)
(1,138)
(232)
(417)

(5,738)

2006

28,5683
3,776
7,367
8,120
6,119
1,638

134
1,352
2,237
1,347
1,039
2,687

27

351
325
988
7,711

73,801

2006

(854)
(1,834)
(813)
(70)
(2,556)

(6,127)



Disposal of Intangible assets

Income on sale of soda drinks

Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary (Refer to Note 3)
Release of unused provision for property, plant and equipment
Dividend income

Income from to 11 filling of Viva and Real

Net income from sale of treber and various materials
Income from equipment renting

Write-off expenses/payables

Release of unused provision -bad debt

Release of unused obselence - inventory

Other income

Total other operating income

\Wages and salaries
Other social expenses

Total expenses

The average number of employees for the years was:

Russia

Moldova

Kazakhstan

Serbia and Montenegro
Ukraine

Romania

The Netherlands

2007

3,712

2,430
136
730

1,329
825
407

1,083
970

4,565

16,187

2007

80,638
14,826

95,464

2007

2,710
541
713
391

53

4,416

2006

952
1,779

173

489
88
195
687
148
1,329

5,840

2006

65,596
10,561

76,157

2006

2,909
630
668
445

98
114

4,872
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2007 2006
Property, plant and equipment
Cost of revenue 47,224 41,070
Selling and marketing 19,998 12,158
General and administrative 4,391 3,409
Other operating income / expense 301 -
Sub-total depreciation expense 71,914 56,637
Intangible assets
Cost of revenue 35 66
Selling and marketing 1 12
General and administrative 618 367
Sub-total amortisation expense 664 445
Total depreciation and amortisation expenses 72,578 57,082

2007 2006
Interest income 4,744 5,685
Foreign currency exchange gains 6,604 8,768
Total financial income 11,348 14,453
Interest expense on borrowings (36,437) (38,261)
Interest expense on finance lease (54) (1567)
Foreign currency exchange losses - -
Other financial expense (3,781) (2,589)
Total financial expense / (expense) (40,272) (41,007)
Net financial expense (28,924) (26,554)

2007 2006

Current tax expense (18,909) (13,327)
Deferred tax income/(expense) relating to the
origination and reversal of temporary differences 4,629 5,908
Total income tax (14,280) (7,419)



The reconciliation of the total income tax to the theoretical amount is as follows:

Profit before tax
Dividend income

Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary

Tax effect of loss making subsidiaries

Taxable profit

Tax calculated at the Company’s tax rate of 25,5%

in 2007 and 29.6% in 2006

Impact of different tax rates in other countries

Non deductible expenses
Over provided in prior years

Utilization of previously unused tax losses

Effect of tax incentives
Tax losses carried forward
Change in tax rate

Other reconciling items
Effective tax rate

Total income tax

Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

2007

Accruals 12,024
Inventory 499
Tax loss carried forward 13,005
Prepayments 1,011
Tangible assets -
Other 2,702
29,241

Net deferred income tax liability

Assets

2006

9,792
342
10,305

61
20,500

Deferred income tax asset - tax loss carried forward

2007

(26,347)

(26,347)

2007

51,627
(136)

10,170
61,661

(15,724)
1,782
(2,914)
520

75
1,262
(1,005)
2,764
27,7%

(14,280)

Liabilities

2006 2007

- 12,024

(160) 499

- 13,005

(198) 1,011
(19,164) (26,347)
(2,539) (2,702)

(22,061) 2,894

(10,912)
13,806

2,894

2006

28,831

(173)
(1,779)
11,100

37,979

(11,242)
3,622
(3,332)
1,895
1,619
1,350
495

(63)
(1,763)
25,7%

(7,419)

Net
2006

9,792
182
10,305
(198)
(19,164)
(2,478)

(1,561)

(12,260)
10,699

(1,561)
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Deferred tax arises on the above in the following circumstances:

- property, plant and equipment: accelerated tax depreciation lead to tax bases lower than carrying amounts;

- buildings and other investments (available-for-sale and trading investments) have different tax bases and carrying
amounts because revaluation is only done for accounting purposes. In the case of buildings carried at revalued
amounts and of available-for-sale investments, deferred tax is taken directly to equity (except when revaluation
increase or decrease is recognised in income);

- inventories may have carrying amounts lower than tax bases due to the elimination of unrealized profits on
intercompany sales;

- deferred charges are in some countries allowed to be fully deducted in the period in which they are incurred whereas
they may be charged to income over a longer period;

- some provisions may not be tax deductible in some countries until a payment is made to settle the obligation;

- fair value adjustments upon acquisition of a subsidiary may impact all of the above captions.

As of December 31, 2007, a deferred tax assets of USD 4,427 (2006 - USD 2,660) has not been recognised related
to tax losses carried forward, which are not expected to be utilised in the foreseeable future. Tax losses of USD 995
and USD 358 will expire within 1 and 7 years, respectively, while USD 3,073 will expire between 8 and 10 years.

Movements in deferred tax during the year 2007 are as follows:

Balance at Additions through Disposal through Recognised Balance at

January 1, subsidiary subsidiary inincome Translation December 31,

2007 acquired sold  statement effect 2007

Accruals 9,792 - - 1,481 751 12,024
Inventory 182 - - 266 51 499
Tax loss carried forward 10,305 - - 2,694 6 13,005
Prepayments (198) - - 928 281 1,011
Tangible assets (19,164) - - 5,705 (1,478) (26,347)
Other (2,478) - - 4,965 215 (2,702)
(1,561) - - 4,629 (174) 2,894

Movements in deferred tax during the year 2006 are as follows:

Balance at Additions through Disposal through Recognised Balance at

January 1, subsidiary subsidiary inincome Translation December 31,

2006 acquired sold  statement effect 2006

Accruals 7,475 - - 1,580 737 9,792
Inventory 372 143 - (331) (2) 182
Tax loss carried forward 3,307 84 - 6,883 31 10,305
Prepayments (162) - 97 (149) 16 (198)
Tangible assets (21,425) 5,098 199 (1,532) (1,504) (19,164)
Other (1,627) (316) 3 (543) 5 (2,478)
(12,060) 5,009 299 (5,908) (717) (1,561)
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Cash flows from acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries:
2007
Acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables

Due from related parties
Inventories-net

Other current assets

Property, plant and equipment-net
Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current asset

Trade and other payables

Due to related parties

Short-term loans

Other current liabilities

Income tax payable

Long-term debt-net of current portion
Deferred tax liability

Accumulated exchange differences

Fair value of net assets

Net assets acquired / sold

Recognised as decrease in retained earnings
Goodwill
Gain on sale of shares of subsidiary

Total purchase / sale consideration

Net cash acquired with subsidiary
Net cash sold with subsidiary

Net cash inflow / outflow for the initial acquisition

Disposal of an available-for-sale investment
Acquired minority shares of Efes Ukraine
Acquired minority shares of KV Group
Acquired minority shares of Efes Moscow

Net cash outflow / inflow for the period ended

3,144
3,144

Disposal

2006
Acquisition
50,133
2,670
1,293
27,641
16,255
206,985
83,960
5,009
10
(4,714)
(1,804)
(62,279)
(20,633)
(4)

304,522
281,196

85,481

366,677
50,133

316,544

1,627
168,494

486,665

Disposal

(24)

(42)
(9,610)
(2,511)
(135)
(29,393)

(1,683)
2,440
2,677
2,813
1,932

99
517
299

7,825

(24,796)
(24,796)

1,779
(26,575)
24
(26,551)

(155)

(26,7006)

In October 2007, the Company acquired 6.25% of Efes Weifert shares for a total cash consideration of USD 3,144
(Note 3). In 2006, the net assets acquired of USD 281,196 represents 92.3% of KV Group’s net assets and net assets
disposed of USD 24,796 represents 49.99% of Interbrew Efes’ net assets which was consolidated on a proportionate

basis till the date of disposal.
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Dollars unless otherwise
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The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of bank borrowings and finance leases. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise financing for the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency
risk and credit risk. The Group’s management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which
are summarized below. The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

The categories as defined by IFRS 7 are included on the face of the balance sheet and that these categories are
in line with the classes of financial instruments as applied by the company. In addition, no differences exist between
the carrying value and the fair value of financial instruments

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. Maximum
credit risk on the Group is limited to the amounts disclosed on the financial statements. The Group has its credit
control policies and procedures in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit
risk arising from the transactions with customers is mitigated through operating with agreed credit limits and
diversification of customers. Management believes that the provisions made are sufficient to cover expected losses.
The highest amounts of trade receivables are approximately 9%, 3%, and 3% respectively of Group accounts receivable
at December 31. 2007 (2006 — 4%, 4%, 3%) and there is no other significant concentration of credit risk.

Certain parts of the interest rates related to borrowings are based on market interest rates; therefore the Group
is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on domestic and international markets. The Group’s exposure to market
risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group's debt obligations. The Group mainly enters into
LIBOR based contracts in its financial borrowings. As of December 31, 2007, 2% of the Group's long-term debt
was at fixed rates (December 31, 2006, 2%).

The weighted average effective interest rates which are calculated from different types of currencies, as at December
31, 2007 are as follows:

Fixed rate bank loans & bonds 9.3 %
Floating rate bank loans Applicable Base Rate + 1.6 %



The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax:

Interest rate increase (%) Effect on profit before tax

2007 2006

USD denominated 1% 434 404
Euro denominated 1% 111 -
Other 1% 27 -

Foreign currencies play a significant role in the economies of the territories where the most of the subsidiaries of
the Company are operating. The significant part of cash outflows related to financing activities as well as some part
of accounts payable balances are hard currency denominated, while cash inflows are primarily denominated in national
currencies. Significantly material part of company’s sales is recognized in local currencies where its subsidiaries
operate. Consequently, any significant decline in the value of the measurement currencies of the subsidiaries against
U.S. Dollars may have a negative effect on the subsidiaries’ financial position and results of their operations.

The subsidiaries generally do not hedge their foreign currency risks. The governments of these countries have
established strict currency controls, which place restrictions on the conversion of national currencies into hard
currencies and establish requirements for conversion of hard currency sales to national currencies.

Net foreign currency exposure for the consolidated group companies as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are
presented below:

2007 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 12,345 33,021
Trade receivables 699 268
Due from related parties 9,838 5,284
Other receivables 10,512 596
Foreign currency assets 33,395 39,169
Short-term borrowings 79,658 54,270
Current portion of long-term borrowings 8,152 12,457
Trade payables 18,983 20,044
Due to related parties 11,859 12,029
Other liabiliteas 645 1,543
Long-term borrowings 2,287 9,556
Foreign currency liabilities 121,584 109,899
Net foreign currency liability (88,189) (70,730)
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rate, with
all other variables held constant, of the Company's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

Currency Change (%) Effect on profit before tax

2007 2006
USD / EUR 10% (2,125) 554
RUB /USD 10% (988) (2,688)
KZT /USD 10% (4,467) (3,955)

Liguidity risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle obligations to the Group within
the normal terms of trade. To manage this risk the Group periodically assesses the financial viability of customers.

The following table demonstrates the due dates of assets and liabilities according to the balance sheet date.

Less than 3to 12

December 31, 2007 On Demand 3 months months 1to5years >5years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 5,797 52,729 - - - 275,612
Due from related parties - 8,161 - - - 8,161
Trade receivables - 85,368 2,772 - - 88,140
Total assets 5,797 146,258 2,772 - - 154,828
Short term loans - 34,495 168,936 - - 203,431
Long term loans - - - 342,598 - 342,598
Lease obligations - - - - - -
Due to related parties - 23,339 - - - 23,339
Trade payables - 50,406 - - - 50,406
Total liabilities - 108,240 168,936 342,796 - 619,774
Net liquidity gap 5,797 38,018 (166,163) (342,796) - (464,946)
December 31, 2006

Cash and cash equivalents 9,074 154,787 - - - 163,861
Due from related parties - 3,475 - - - 3,475
Trade receivables - 47,815 1,815 - - 49,630
Total assets 9,074 206,077 1,815 - - 216,966
Short term loans - 99,526 60,924 - - 160,450
Long term loans - - - 311,108 - 311,108
Lease obligations - - - - - -
Due to related parties - 9,745 12,403 - - 22,148
Trade payables - 32,727 - - - 32,727
Total liabilities - 141,998 73,327 311,108 - 526,433
Net liquidity gap 9,074 64,078 (71,512) (311,108) - (309,467)

3



The fair values of trade receivables and other current assets (net of provision) and trade and other payables are
estimated to approximate carrying value due to their short-term nature.

The fair values of short-term and long-term leasing obligations approximate their carrying values since they are

denominated in foreign currencies and revalued at year-end exchange rates.

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated to approximate its carrying value since it is primarily denominated in
foreign currencies and is revalued at year-end exchange rates, a substantial portion of long-term debt carries variable

interest rates.

The Following table shows the development of allowances on trade receivables:

2007

As of January 1 10,974
Addition 972
Reversal of unused provision (1,083)
Addition through subsidiary acquired -
Disposal through subsidiary sold -
Currency translation differences 902
Other (463)
11,302

The Following table shows the analysis of the age of past due trade receivables:

2006

3,884
134
(687)
6,630
(3)
1,028
(12)

10,974

Of which: neither Of which: not impaired on the reporting date and

impairment nor past due in the following periods

past due on the less than between 30 and between 61 and

reporting date 30 days 60 days 90 days

Trade receivables 2007 74,476 6,930 1,428 4,073
Trade receivbles 2006 38,249 7,417 1,715 624

USD 1,980 of trade receivables would be overdue if the terms have not been changed.
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Property leased by the Group includes buildings, machinery and equipment. The most significant obligations
assumed under the lease terms, other than rental payments, are the upkeep of the facilities, insurance and property
taxes. Lease terms generally range from 3 to 25 years with options to renew at varying terms.

The following is an analysis of assets under finance leases:

2007 2006
Machinery and equipment - 119
Other tangible assets 884 416
Accumulated depreciation (229) (159)
Net book value 655 376

The brewery of Efes Moscow is situated on a site leased from the Moscow City Government under a 49-year lease
contract to be expired by 2048. The lease rights, as well as fixed assets, are mortgaged for the full carrying amounts
to secure obligations of Efes Moscow under the loan agreements with the EBRD. The fair value of the future
payment obligations of Efes Moscow to Moscow City Government under the land lease agreement for the remaining
life time of the contracts amount to USD 1,338 (2006 — USD 1,944)

The Group's risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different countries
which is considered to be the primary segment and the secondary segment is the business. The Group is in a single
product business and products other than beer represent less than 10% of the Group's revenue. Segment information
is presented in respect of the Group's geographical segments based on location of its assets and customers.
Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis.



Russia & Kazakhstan Serbia & Moldova Others* & Eliminations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
External Revenues 763,791 566,628 74,688 60,653 (2,244) 11,648 836,235 638,929
Gross Profit 344,051 284,201 31,212 22,736 (1,127) 3,149 374,135 310,086
Operating Expenses (-) (269,378) (224,342) (24,550)  (26,399) 344 (3,960) (293,584) (254,701)
Operating Income 74,673 59,859 6,662 (3,663) (783) (811) 80,551 55,385
Financial Expense - net (13,609) (8,229) (1,124) (1,075) (14,191)  (17,249) (28,924) (26,553)
Profit Before Tax 61,064 51,630 (5,538) (4,738) (14,974)  (18,060) 51,627 28,832
Segment Assets 1,113,042 815,597 129,155 94,139 440,698 618,029 1,682,895 1,527,765
Investment in Associates - - 10 64 1511 1,511 1,521 1,575
Total Assets 1,113,042 815,597 129,165 94,203 442,209 619,540 1,684,416 1,529,340
Segment Liabilities 474,863 259,782 59,263 33,777 277,281 463,757 811,407 757,316
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (108,655) (105,169) (17,829) (15,288) 782 (3,796) (125,703)  (124,193)
Depreciation&Amortization
Expenses 62,158 46,710 9,891 7,926 529 2,446 72,578 57,082
Other non cash items 3,463 532 1,914 1,778 (2,494) (2,142) 2,883 168

* Others include EBI Holding Company and other subsidiaries included in consolidated financial statements.

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the shareholders of the Company and their associates
and the companies, which are identified to be controlled by/associated with them, are referred to as related parties.

Balances with related parties as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, which are separately classified in the consolidated
balance sheet, are as follows:

39
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Due from related parties

Efes Holland Technical Management Consultancy N.V. (Efes Holland) (2)
Coca-Cola Bottlers Kazakhstan Almaty (Coca-Cola Almaty) (2)

Coca-Cola Bishkek Bottlers C.J.S.C (Coca-Cola Bishkek) (2)

Mutena Maltery (3)
Anadolu Efes (2)
Anadolu Efes TMC (2)

Total

Due from related parties

Efes Holland TMC (2)
Mutena Maltery (3)
Oyex Handels Gmbh (2)
Efpa (2)

Anadolu Efes (1)

ABH (2)

Efes Tur (2)

Total

2007

2,727
111
1,970
343
63
2,947

8,161

2006

12,624
5,169
3,583
1,287

656
20

23,339

2006

2,439
370
519
147

3,475

2005

15,434
4,327
1,540

10
118
719

22,148

Transactions with related parties are done at normal market conditions. The most significant transactions with

related parties during the year ended December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Nature of Transaction

Management and license fee expense to
Sale of beer to;

Sale of beer to;

Purchase of soda drinks from;
Purchase of raw materials from;
Purchase of beer from;

Purchase of beer from;

Processing services from;

Heating and water services given to;
Dividend income from

Processing services from;

Purchase of service from;

(1) The ultimate shareholder of the Company

Related Party

Efes Holland (2)
Coca-Cola Bishkek (2)
Coca-Cola Almaty (2)
Coca-Cola Almaty (2)
Oyex Handels Gmbh (2)
Anadolu Efes (1)
Anadolu Efes (1)
Mutena Maltery (3)
Mutena Maltery (3)
Mutena Maltery (3)
Efes Tur (2)

ABH (2)

(2) Related party of Anadolu Efes

Amount

7,799
3,394
2,442
91
9,724
3,004
67
9,503
1,277
136
89
1,631

(38) Company's investment



a) The remuneration of management board of USD 578 (2006 — USD 284) and supervisory board of USD 174
(2006 — USD 125) were included in personnel expenses. The remuneration of management board consists of

salary and bonus.
b) No shares are held by the members of directors of the Company.
c) There are no share options granted to the directors of the Company.
d) No loans have been granted to the directors of the Company.

Put options

A put option has been granted to the EBRD by the Company that may be exercisable between 2008 and 2011. By
such put option, the EBRD will be entitled to sell its 8.8% of Efes Moscow shares to the Company at an option
price to be determined by an independent valuation.

A put option has been granted to the OAO Krasny Vostok Agro that may be exercisable between 2007 and 2009.
By such option, OAO Krasny Vostok Agro will have right to sell its 6.7% of KV Group shares to the Company at
an option price either at in full USD 0.395 multiplied by number of shares plus interest accrued from the date of
the option until the date of completion at a rate of LIBOR plus 4.9% or the consolidated EBITDA multiplied by a
multiple of nine minus net indebtedness.

Following revised IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), the obligation for the participating
interest related with put options have been regarded as ‘liability for puttable instruments’ in the Group's financial
statements, to be stated at fair value. The liability for the put option has been measured by applying a weighting
of different valuation techniques based on best estimates currently available. Subsequent changes to the valuation
of the put options have been recorded as changes to ‘liability for puttable instruments’ and to goodwill, without
any direct impact on the consolidated income statement.

The contingent considerations related with the put options granted to EBRD and OAO Krasny Vostok Agro of USD
102,807 and USD 24,202 have been presented as ‘liability for puttable instruments’ in trade and other payables in
the consolidated balance sheet. In order to give effect to the recognition of the liability for puttable instruments,
the equity and net income attributable to the interest of minority shareholders of Efes Moscow and KV Group have
been decreased by 8.8% and 6.7 %, respectively.
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Tax and legal matters

Legislation and regulations regarding taxation and foreign currency transactions in most of the territories in which
the Group operates continue to evolve as the government manages the transformation from a command to a
market-oriented economy. Various regulations are not always clearly written and their interpretation is subject to
the opinions of the local, regional and national tax authorities, the Central Bank and Ministry of Finance. Tax
declarations, together with other legal compliance areas (for example, customs and currency control matters) are
subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose significant fines,
penalties and interest charges. These facts create tax risks in the territories in which the Group operates substantially
more than typically found in countries with more developed tax systems.

Management believes that all applicable taxes have been paid or accrued and the ultimate liability, if any, arising
from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of
future operations of the Group.

In January 2008, the Company reached an agreement with Heineken International B.V. (“Heineken") to establish
a joint venture to jointly invest in Uzbekh market. The Company and Heineken will have 60% and 40% shares in
the joint venture, respectively, whereas the Company will have the management control.

In February 2008, the Company has announced that it has completed the acquisition of 100% shares of Joint Stock
Company Lomisi (JSC Lomisi), a brewery in Georgia with an annual brewing capacity of 0.55 mlh and an estimated

market share of 42% by volume in 2007.

The Company executed a Share Purchase Agreement regarding the sale of all shares currently owned by the
Company, representing 92.9% of the voting shares of KV Group, to MEB.

A loan agreement has been signed between MEB and HSBC amounting to USD 120,000 on March 19, 2008.
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Efes Breweries lhtérnatioh_al N.V. |

BALAN CE SHEET .

Asat December 31, 2007 (Before proposed approprlatlon of the result)

(Currency Thnusands of U S. Dollars unless otherwme mdxcated)

ASSETS
Notes 2007 2006
Current assets S Dol oo
Cash and cash equwa]ents L4 3851 143,250
- Due from related parties - 5,17 67,253 16,341 -
s Prepayments and other current assets S8 736 368 .
Total cnrrent nssets E ; 166,900 : 159,959
. Nomn-current assets - L — . A
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and secunues ) - 692,773 . 604,466 .
Property, plant and equipment 8 29 : 38
Intangiivle agsets 8 481,482 464,538
Deferred tax assets 9,787 7,269
Prepayments and other non-current assets 10 4 718 173
Totul non-current assets 1,188,789 1,076,484
. Total nssets 1,205,669 1236443
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Notes 2007 2006
Current linbilities = ce
Trade and other payables 11 127,338 50,288
Due to related parties 17 U | 10
Current portian of long-term borrowings 12,20 6,669 9,859
Total current liahilities 134,518 69,157
Non-current liabilities -
Long-term borrowings-net of current portion 12 297,734 301,493
Other non-current liabilities 13,21 - 103,100
Total non-current liabilities 297,734 404,593
Equity E SR Sl
Issved capital 14 237,488 237,488
Share premium : 319,318 319,318
Currency translation reserve 138,794 75520
Retained earnings - 130,367 109,759
Current year net profit 37470 20,608
Total equity 863,437 762,693
1,295,689 1,236,443

Totnl liabilities and equity

The accompanymg pnhmes zmd exp]anatory notes on pages 8 Lhruugh 26 R

“form dif mtegral part of these fi nancm] statemenls

- (6_):




Efes Brewerie's lnternational NV _

"INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended December 31 2007 L
-(Currency In thuusands of U. S Dollars unIess otherwme mdu:atcd)_ o

2007 7006
" Share in net profit of consolidated subsidiaries - - L. 471500 0 28,528
.o Other results, net of income taxes g E ) (9,680) - ©o (7,920)
. Net Profit . " T gl 20,608

o The accompanymg 130]10135 and explanatory nutes on pages 8 Lhrough 26 BRI, - e

form an mtegral pﬂl’l of lhese Imancml statements

T L



Efes Brewerles lntematlonal N.V.

_ : -:STATEIVIENT OF CHAN GES IN EQUITY
- For the year ended December 31,2007~

(Cnrrency In thousands of U. S Dollars unless otherw:se ﬁxd:cated)

. .(_E__%)

mrm an’ mlegral part of lhese i nancml stalernenls

" “The accumpanymg pohcaes and explanamry notes on pages 8 through 26

— . C'I.III;'Ir_EI.lcy“ — e
“Share ' Share  Translation Retained Current year R
Capital Premium - Reserve Earnings ‘net profit " 'Total
. Balance at December 31, 2006 237488 319318 - 75520 109,759 - 20608 - 762,603 L
Transfer of previous yearnet . : ; 20608 (0608 L
.-profit to retained earnings ' BRI
Foreign currency translation : - 63,274 - : . 63274
Issue of share capital - - - - - -
Total income and expense for - - 63,274 - - 63,274
the year recognized directly in : :
equity © - - o R
. Netpmf" £ fur the year - - - - 37470 -~ 37470
- Total mcc:m&and expensefor. e - - 63,724 - 37470 100,744
the year . B :
At December 31, 2007 - 237,488 319,318 138,794 130,367 37,470 863,437




1 GENERAL

- Bfes Brewerjes Internatlonnl N.V. (the Company) was mcorporated in . the Nether!ands on October 2 “1996. The_
_registered address of the Company is Strawmskylaan 1227 1077XX Amsterdam, the Netherlands :

b The Company offered its ordmary shares eaeh w1th a nominal value of EUR 1 per share, in the form of global deposuary
. receipts (GDR’s) representing an interest 1n ﬁve shares constitutmg 12, 594 228 GDR's. Tbe GDR’s have been hsted on

"the London Stock Exchange. :

‘_The parent of the Company is Anndolu Efes Bn'acﬂtk ve Malt Sanayu Anonim Slrkett (Anadolu Efes the Parent
. .Company). Anadolu Efes is a Turkish Corporanon. which was established in Istanbul in 1966. The operations of Anadoiu -
Efes consist of producuon of beer and its raw matena]s Certam shares of Anadolu Efes are hsted on the Istanbul Stock
Exchange ' .

.'Based on the reqmrements of Dutch Cm] Code, 8’ full set of ﬁnauclal statements comprise of report of management

‘board, consolidated financial statements and Company alone financial -statements .and other information. This report, -~ |

includes report of management boatd, Company alone financial statements and other- information. The consolidated
financial statements are separateély issued on Apn‘l 24, 2008. For a better understanding of ﬁnanc:al posmon of the
Company, this report should be read in con_]unct.mn ‘with the consohdated financial statements.

Nature of Activities of the CompanylGroup
‘The Company acts as-a Dutch Holdmg compa.ny, facnhtanng mvestments in brewenes
Llst of Substdlnnes

The subsidiaries included in consohdatlon and their shareholdmg percentages at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006 were as follnws : . . _ Lo

Effecnve Shareholdlng and voting

- .P.Ence of = . Principal 7. rights %
Incorporntion . Aclivities December3l,  December31,
R T R : 2007 ]
CISC “Muoscow-Efes Brewery” (Efes Moscnw) (if), . E - R_us_sia. . Production and marketing of beer . - - : 90.85 . - Sl B0.8s
18C uAMSTAR» (Amstar) (i) _- ’ . . Russia . t’mdncﬁon uf_l_:lecr . ) 9085 L '_ ] 5085 .
' 'ZAo Efes Ememtnmemn-:esEnmnmnmm) ® 7 Resie o Eotersinmem ao;as_ '_ '_  o0sgs
CISC.Rostov Bevernge (Rostov Bevemges) (i) ) _. Rossia o t’mducﬁun of beer : ongs . - 90.85
LLC “Stary Melnik™ (i) : . Russin - ; Advenising '9.035 EERT I 50.85
isc Brewing" Union  eKrasny Yns_lok - Sulu_doyl:_uet‘-ta- } Russin Producﬁon anti marketing of beey © D288 s 9185
(KV Group) (i) : T
LLC"KV - .SibPi.vCompaniya“(iii) o ) o Russin . - Production of beer - -9'.7.53 ShE 97.53
LLC “Vostok solod”(iii) . ._ o e . _ .. '_ . Russin © Production of malt 92.85 - QiBS_:
LLC “Krasny Vostok - Invest"(m) : -.: : R - . Russia . _Finance o e Y2.85 : Pogags ]
LLC .,’I"scntra.lny Torgovy Dnm ,.Krasny Vostok"(m) ' o Russia - ;['ra.ding house e 92.85__ : ._9135
CISC“MTD “Krasny Vcstnk‘ {3i) S ' _' . T(nssin_ _ . Traﬁiog house__ _. ' Pie8s o . 92.8.5_
CISC .,Snmalskn Torgcvyu Dom ,.Krasny Voslok" (m) . _ _.t}ussiu L ._ . T_rndin_g house o _‘.12.:85_ : . - 9285
CISC n3aratovskii Torgovyn Dom ,,Krasny Vostok" (m) _V - " 'Russia Tendtnglteuse _ . o 92.&5 B i .'92.85

LLC,_.UfimskuTorgovynDom ,.Krasny_\_o'ustnk".(tit) ... Russia C Trading havse - :9185_' U opgs

The accompanymg pohmes and exp]anatory notes on pages 8 through 26 .

"""" form an’ mtegra] part of these ﬁnanc1a1 statements,”

o




1. GENERAL (Continued)

¢ Placeof . .~ . % Principal - Eft'ncnveShureholdmgum:lvnnng )

- Incorporntion - -Activitisg - rights & -
LT R December 31, - December 31,
_ 2007 - L - 2006

I..L.C ,,Bnmnulskn anguvyu Dnm .,K.rnsnyVosmk" (‘u) _ . *" Russia N -_dein.g}{dusg. ) . 92,35 X :92._35 ‘

LLC‘.Vulgugrndsk.u anguv_vu Dum .,Krnsny Vusmk" (m) : _-Rﬁ_ssi_q . -T.r_ndinglh'uus'e o C . ioags 9.2_.85

-1V oronezhskii Torgovyii- Domy;;Krasny Vostok™ (i) - . Rusmu o ’I‘mding huuse 92,85 9285
LLC “Ekaterinburgskii Torgovyi Dom Krosny Vostok” () .  Russia - 'rrﬁmg house - 92.85 " 9285
ELC"Kemerovskii Torgovyii Dom,Krasny Vostok” (i) . Russm o _ .'-.'l‘m:iiﬁg huusz.a .9?._..8.5 : : . 9285
R ) LLC "Krasnodarskii Torgovyii Dﬂm,,Kmsny V:.)_st'uk.":_(iii:) o 'Rugsiﬁ Lo -'f;'adi.ng:hbuse . B ..92.85 ‘ 9_2.85.
LLC "Kr#éqny:‘ar's.!.di Torgm;'yii Dlo.m ,,krusny\'osluk". [iij) . Russtu : ‘ demg house - o .9;"..85 7 ol :_9185_
‘Lic "'Ku.rs.]_c.ii Torgovyii Dom ;Krnsny Vastak"” (i) o '.'-:.R:us"si; [ Tradinghosse . 0285 © 9285
 LLC "Nizhegorodskii Torgovyi Dp:ﬁ JKrusny Vosiok® i) Russia - L .’Prndmg hosse 0 9285 0285
LLC , Nizhnekamskii Torgovyii Dom Krusny Vostok™ (i) Russia E T}ud}ng' house _ 9285 9285
LLC , Novosibirskii Torgovyii Dom , Krasny Vostok™ (i) ' Rﬁ;gia " Trading house 9285 928s
LLC ,,Omskii Dom ,Krasny Vostak™ (iii) T _' -~ -Russin . ) deinéheuse ' B2LB5 : 92,85
LL.C ,Permskii Torgevyii Dom ,Krasny Vestok™ (iii) . Russin . 'i"mgﬁ_ng housa -9185 a 52,85

LLC nounkt-Peterburgskii torgovyii D.urr_| nKrasny Vostok™ {iii) Russin’ ' deing house I Y X1 T+ 918§
LLC ,,Tnms!m Torguvyu Dom ,,Kmsny Vostok™ (m) _' -'I.Iussiu o L _:_T;uding house L. 5285 . . 9185

: LLC ,.Chelynblnslm Targowyit Dom wKrasny Vostok” (ul) ; .Russi.u .- Trading house : 0285 9285
ISC Efes Kornganda Brewery (Efes !{nrpgn_nda)_ R "+ Kazakhstan . Production n_m:l marketing of beer = . 104.00 Qo 100.00

. 4 o ._ . o - Produetion end markesing of beer, 9650 . .-96.50
Efes Vitantn Moldova Brewery 8,A. (Efes Vitanw) Moldova soft drinks, low nlcoholic drinks
PR ) : . “and minerol water ’

Efes Weifert Brewery d.o.0 {Efes Weifert) ‘ Scrbin Production and marketing of beer - - ° “97.21 _. T o0GT
Ef:es. anr.c_n; ﬁmwe.ry d.0.0 (Efes Zajecar) " Serbia Prodqcﬁon.gnd_markn_ling ofbeer - - - 7296 .. 7298
Eufu-;f\sinn Bmﬁr:n:in Holding GmbH (Euro Asian) = Germuny . Iﬁvcs_lmr.nt cﬁmpany . ; 1¢]L'H]0 S 100.00
Efes Commerce 0.0 Belgrade (Bles Commercs) ()~ Serbia mmj‘(’c‘ggg“;‘;;‘ei‘;‘r‘nges 100,00 - 10000
Brewery Pivdennn C.I.S.C. (Efes Ukraine) (iv} Ukraine  Production and mﬁkeﬁng of beer © 100.00 100.00
Efes Remanin Industrie $i Comert 5.A. (ERIC) (iv) Ramania Distribution of beer " 88.996 o 99,996
Efes Productie 3.R,L. (Efes Productie) (iv} Romunia Distﬂbuu’un of beer 69.70 - . 68,70

)] Suhmdumes of Efes Moscow, which are consolidnted under its Anancial statements, .

(ii) - Following revised IAS 32 (Financinl Instruments: Dlsclusul_'a and Presemanun), a further 9.15% :mcl 670% 1merc5t has also l:u:en
o -conselidated for Bfes Moscow and KV Group, respectively, ) :
{iii) . . Subsidinries of KV Group, which are consolidated nnder its financial slnlcmems

- __(iv) . __Subsndmnes that are cll.hcr dormnnt orm the process of hemg I:quldnted

Enwronments aud Economlc Condltmns of Subsxdlanes

The counmes, in which thc consohdaled subsidiaries are operating, have undergone substantial, political and economical
changes in the recent years. Accordingly such markets do not possess well-developed business infrastructures and the
. operations in such countries might carry risks, which are not typically associated with those i in more developed markets.
- IIncertainties regardmg the political, legal, tax and / or regulatory environment, including the putenual for adverse :
_:changes in any of lhese .Faclors could mgmf camly affect the submdmnes ablhzy o operate commerc:lally : :

The accornpanymg poitcu:s and exp]anatory notes on pages 8 thmugh '76

farm an mtegra] part of these ﬁnancxa] siatemems
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- The f nancta] statements are prepared in eonfornuty wnh the requlrements of the Netherlands ClVll Code. :

As penmtted by Section 40?_ Book 2 of the Nether]ands CtVJl Code, a condensed income statement is presented for the-
—Cornpnny ztself ' : . .

: Bas:s of Preparation

subs;dmnes maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial statements in theit local currencies and
_".in accordance with the regulations of the countries in which they aperate. The company-only financial statements have

“been prepa:ed from financial statements of the Company and its’ subsidiaries and are presented -in U.S. Dollars. The
company only financial statements are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the

-/ Buropean:Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. These. accounting principles are the same as

_ applied’ for ‘the consolidated financial statements. In December 2000, ERIC and Efes Productie edopted a ‘plan of
L hqmdanon and as a result changed their basis of accounnng, ftom the | gmng—concem ba51s toa hqmdatton bas:s ’ :

o Forexgn Currency Trnnslatlon .

" The Company is domiciled in the Netherlands. The Group transacts most of its business in U.S. "Dollar's loans granted by
the Company are denominated in U.S. Dollars, and contributions to the capital of the, subSJdler]es are denominated in
T.S. Dollars and dividends from subsidiaries are received in U.S. Dollars.

o Aooordmgly, the USD was deterrnmed to be the Company’s funohona] and presentation currency which reflects the
. economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Company

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Local Functional =~ Functional
. Currency Currency Currency -
- Bfes Moscow S ~ RUR " RUR. . . . RUR _
KV Group - : B 7 RUR RUR - RUR
-Bfes Karaganda : ' KzT - . KZT CUKZT
Efes Ukraine UAH . UAH . UAH-
Efes Vitanta ~ . .. .. o - . -MDL oo MDL - - MDL
" "Bfes Weifert - _ - RSD . RSD - RSD
" Bfes Zajecar : : RSD ~ 'RSD . RSD .
Eurc Asian ; L " EUR - USD . UsSD -
Efes Commerce _ - RSD _ RSD .. RSD .
ERIC - ROL ROL  ROL
Efes Productie o L ' ROL ROL ' -ROL

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the exchange
- rates existing at the dates of the transactions or a weighted average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences
arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of the equtty On disposal of a foreign entity,
“accumulated exchange differences (currency t:ranslatmn reserve) are recogmzed in the income statement asa component
of the gain or loss on disposal. - : D : o

' Eaeh entity within the Group translates its foreign currency transactions and balances into its funetlone] currency by
‘applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the funclional currency and the foretgn currency at
the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting

' monelar_y 1tems al rates different from those at which they were mmally recorded during the penod or reported in

' previous ﬁnaneml statements are recogmzed inthei income statement in the penod in whloh they arise. - :

‘ ' _Goodwxll arising on the acunsmon of a forelgn entlty is treated as an asset of the acqumng eompany and is translated S
- '_ and reeorded at the rate of exchange ruhng at the balanee sheet date RS : '

i The aeeompanymg pohmes and explanatory notes on pages 8 through 26

: wrrn an mtegral part of these fi nancxa] slatements
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_2_. , SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contmued)
o Cash and Cush Equweleufs

-~ Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in hand and short—terrn deposxts wrlh the maturmes of three months
ar ]ess : : : :

. Investments in subsidiaries, securmes and JDlnt ventures

.:Investments in subsrdxanes securmes and _|omt venmres are stated at the Company s share in thelr net asset value.

* The assets and liabilities of forergn subsidiaries are translated into the presentahon currertcy of the Company at the rate of

L exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the exchange

_rates existing at the dates of the transactions or a welghted average exchange rate for the. year. Thé exchange dlﬂ'erences
. arising on the translation are-taken directly to d separate component of the equity. On dlsposal of a foreign entity,
- accumuiated exchange differences are recogmzed in the income statement asa component of the gain ot loss on dJSpOSH] _

- Each fore:gn subsrdmry of the Company translates its foreign currency I:ransactlons and balances mto rts functional
currency by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign
currency at the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on’the settlement of monetary items or on
' repurtmg monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the period or reported
in previous financial statements are recognized in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is treated as an asset of the acqumng company and is trzmslaled
- and recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date

Pmperty, Plnnt and Equlpment '

' -'Property plant and eqmpmeut of the Company are stated at cost less accumulated deprecmuon and nccumulated tmpcurment

. loss:

Depreclatmn whlch is ca]cu]ated on strmght-lme basis method over the esumaled useful life of the assets isas follows

Machmery aud eqmpment L ._ - _ . 3—5 years
"Vehicles | . L : -5 years
Furmture and letures T -'5 years

The canymg values of property, plant and eqmpment are revrewed for 1mpa1rment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying
velues exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recaverable
amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in
use, At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to weather there is any indication that previcusly recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated and the impajrment loss is reversed. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
-determined for the cash-generating unjt to which the asset belongs. Cash generating units are the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash mﬂows from other assels or groups of
. assets. Imparrrnent losses are recogmsed in the income statement. T :

‘An item of property, plant and cqutpment is derecogmzed upon dispo'sal' or when no future economic benefits are
-expected from ils use or drsposal Any gain or loss arising on derecogmuon of the asset is mcluded in the income
: statement in the yezu' the asset 15 derecogmzed T : e

The residual valve of assets, useful ]rfe and deprecraﬂou rnethodologles are rev1ewed aud ad}usted 1f appropmate, at cach
ﬁnam:lal year end : :

The accompanymg pohcres and explanalory notes on pages 8 Lhrough 26 _

form an 1ntegral part of these ﬁnam:la] statementa

a



2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTIN G POLICIES (contmued)
" Goodwﬂl
: Gondwﬂl represents l‘.he Eexcess of the cost Df an acqmsmon over the Compauy s interest in the net fair value uf 1dent1ﬁab]e '

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition, and are included under the
* caption of intangible assets. In 2004, TASB issued IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, revised IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’

and revised IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ which should be applied on acquisitions to, the accountmg for: guodw:lll in. busnnessm,w

_ combmatmns for Wthh the agreement date is after 31 March 2004

: In addxtxon, startmg ﬁ‘om I anuary 1, 2003, goodwﬂl acquu‘ed ina busmess combination prior to 31 March 2004 is.no longer
-amortized but tested for impairment annually, imespective of whether there is any indication that it may be impaired. -

.- Goodwill ansmg on acqu1smnns after 31 March 2004 is not amortized but subject to impairment test annual]y The prewous T

-~ -version’ of IAS 38 was requu:mg that the usefu] hfe of an mtang1ble asset can not exceed twenty years o

Goodwﬂl 15 slatcd at cost less any 1mpmrmen£ in value

Goodwﬂl is allocated to cash—generatmg units for the purpose of i 1mpalrment tesnng The a]locat]on is rnade to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The Group allocates goodwill to the business segments which are the countries in which it eperates '

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill rela_tm g io the enuty__so]d.
Brand

The cost of brands acquu'ed in a business combination is fa;r value as at the date of acquisition. Followmg initial
~ recognition, the brands are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful live for the brands is
.assessed to be indefinite and therefore brands are not amortised. The brands are tested for i impairment annually The useful
hve is rev;ewed annually to determme whether mdeﬁmte life assessment connnues to be suppertable

:Other Intanglble Assets

-_Other intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capitalized at cost which is the fair value at the date of
'acqulsmon Other intangible assels acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalized separately from
‘goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. Other intangible assets, excluding development
‘costs, created wuhm the’ busmess are not cap;tahzed and expenduure is charged agmnst pmﬁts in the yenr m wlnch 1t is
lncurred ) . . :

Following the initial recognition, other intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amornzahon and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets which are identified to have a finite useful life are amortized on a
straight-line basis aver the periodically reviewed best estimate of useful lives and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. The carrying values of other intangible assets which are identified
to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but reviewed for impairment annunlly and when events or changes in
cm:umstances mdlcate that the carrymg value may not be recoverable - - :

The cost of acquisition of new software is capltahzed and treated as an mtang1b]e asset if these costs are not an mtegral
part Df Lhe re]ated hardware Software is amnrnzed ona strmght—]me basis over 1 to 5 yea.rs :

| Recegmtwn and Derecogmtmn of Fmanclal Instruments _

- The Company recognizes a financial asset or ﬁnancm] liability in its balance sheet when and urﬂy when it becomes a party to

the contractual provisions of the insttument. The Cnmpany derecognizes a financial asset or a portion of finaneial asset

‘when and only when the contractual rights 1o receive cash flows from the asset expire or the Company transfers -the

" -contraciual rights to receive cash flows together with the risks of the asset or assumes a contractual obhgauon to pay the
_ cash ﬂnws ﬁom a ﬁnanmal asset lo one or more remp]ents under an addmena] agreement ' R ST

onm an mtegral part of these ﬁnancxa] statements T .
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'2._ SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contmued)

_The Company derecogmzes a ﬁnanclal hehlhty when and only when the obhgauon ueder the ]lablllt}' is dlscharged or

N -cancelled or expired. When an existing financial llabtltty is replaced by another liability from. the saine lender on

substantially. different terms or if the termis of the existing financial lability are substantially modrﬁed such exchange or .
_ modtﬁcaﬂon is treated as derecogmhon of the e:ustmg hablhty and the recogmuon of the new lteblhty : : '

Borrowmgs

Ali borrowings are initiaily recogruzed at cost, bemg the fau" value of the consideration’ recerved net of issuc costs associated
~with the borrowmg ' : = .

' After m.ltlal recogmhon. borrowmgs are subsequently measured at arnorhzed cost usrng the effectlve interest rate method. = .

- Amorttzed cost 1s calculated by taklng 1nto account eny ESSUB costs and any dlscount or pren:uurn on settlemenl o

_Ge.ms end losses are recogmzed in the mcome statement when the habtllues are clerecogmsed as well as through the
' amomzatton process RN : . : e

Borrowmg Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Borrowmg costs mclude interest charges and other costs 1ncurred in
connectlon w1th the borrowmg of funds

Revenue

‘Revenue is reoogmzed to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will ﬂow to the Group and the revenue
-can be rehably measured Revenues are stated net of dlscouuts, value edded and sales taxes.

The following specrfic recognmon cntena must also be met-b_efore rev_enue is recognized:
_' a) Sale of Goods

_ Revenue is recogmzed when the sxgmﬁcant nsks and rewards of OWnBrSth of the goods have passed o the buyer and the
., amount of revenue can be measured. rellebly S :

- Income Tax

Tax expensc/ {(income) is the eggregate emount moluded in the detemunetron of net proﬁt or loss for the penod in respect of
curzent and deferred tax. . : : . .

_Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting pmposes Deferred income tax
.lrabﬂrhes are reeogmzed for all taxable temporary dtfferences

_ ? : except where the deferred income tax llabtlrty arises from uutxal recogmhon of goodwﬂl or the initial recognition
* .of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combmatton and at the time of the transachon, affects nerther the
. eccountmg profit nor taxable profit or loss and NS R

s . ~in respect of taxable temporery dlfferences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and-interests in
- joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that
+ the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future : : :

Deferred income tax assets are recogmzed for all deducuble temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and

unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against wluch the deductible temporary
dlfferences cerry -forward of unused tax assets and unused taxlosses can be utrlmed

- The accompanymg pohc1es and explanatory notes on pages B through 26 w5

7 form an mtegral pert of these financml statements B
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2. . SUNIMARY Or SIGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contmued)

LI except where the deferrecl mcorne tax assel relating to the deductlhie temporary deference arises from the mmal _
: * recognition of an asset or liability.in.a transaction that. is not a business combination ancl at- the time of the
'transact:lon, affects neither the accounung proﬁt nor taxable prof it or loss dl'ld S '

*  in respect of deduetrble temporary dlfferences assocrated wuh investments in sub51d1ar1es, associates and interests
m joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that 1t is probable that the temporary

"drfference can be utlhzed

‘The carrying amount of deferred mcome tax.aeset's is revtewed at each balance sheet date and reduéed to the extent that it is |
- no Jonger probable that sufﬁcrent taxable proﬁt w:ll be avaulab]e to allow all ar part of the deferred income: tax asset to be
utthzed . :

Deferred income. tax assets and habﬂmes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the penod when the asset
is realized or the habihty is setﬂed based on tax rates. (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantrvely enacted at the
balance sheet date. . -

Subsequent Ever_rts

Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Company's position at the balance sheet date or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate (adjusting events), are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated ﬁnancral statements,. Post year—end events that are not ad_]ustmg events are dlsc]osed in the notes when
matenal._ : : . : - - R . :

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statemenis requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet. Actual
results may vary from the cument estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments hecnrne
_-necessary, they are reported in eammgs m the penods in whmh they become known

0ffsettmg

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an mtentmn to settle on a net basis or reahze the asset and
settle the llablhty sunultaneous]y

Segment Reportmg

The Company acts as a Dutch Holding company, facilitating investments in breweries and accordmgly does not provide
segment mformatron in the company-only financial statements

3. CHANGES IN ORGANIZATION
For the year 2007 o .

‘In February 2007, Efes Vitanta, subsidiary of the Company in Moldova, reached an agreement with The Coca-Cola
Company ("TCCC™) 1o sell Efes Vltanta § soft dnnk brand called “vaa" as weil as “"Real” branr.l of bottled water td
TCCC _ . :

-’I‘he Company acqmred 6 25% of Efes Welfert in October 2007 through takeover bid process for a totﬂl cash
- consideration of USD 3,144. The excess of fair value of net assets acqmred over- the purehase pnee was USD 2 610 and_
. has been reeogmzed a8 goodwrll (Refer to Note 9. ' : : : .

- The accompanymg po]1c1es and exp]anatory notes on pages 8 through 26
: rorrn an’ mtegral part of these fi nancml statements _
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For the year 2006

The Company acqurred 92.3% of Kv Group located in Russra in February 2006 w:th a total cash consrderatron of USD
366.7 million (including costs directly atiributable to acquisition of USD 1.2. million). In June 2006, with a.total cash
consideration of USD 1.6 million, the Company additionally ocqutred 0.5% of KV Group from minority shareholders, -
The excess of the acquisition costs over the fair values of the net assets acquired was USD 85,481 for the initial acquisition
" and USD 9 for the rrunorrty buyout, and has been recognized as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet (Refer to Note
©23). The goodwr]l is justified by acqurred market share whrch has consolrdated the Groups exrstmg Russian busrness at

Frnancral statements of the KV Group and its subsidiaries unu] 28 February 2006 had been prepared in accordance with

. Regulations-on Accounting and Reporting of the Russian Federatron (Russian GAAP). Russian GAAP differs in certain

- ‘respects from IFRS. KV Group has prépared its financial statements under IFRS for the first time as of February 28, 2006

- and recognised the fair values of its assets and liabilities at- carrying: value, in oompltanoe with IFRS 1 “First timeé .
- ~adoption of IFRS". Therefore, it is impracticable for the- Company to chsclose the mformatron about the carryrng va]ues
-on the date of acqursrtxon and the comparatrve fi gures as requrred by IFRS 3. ‘ S ; :

The Company has gone through a substant{al mtegratron exercrse wluch was 1ntended to zﬂrgn the KV Group business
into the Company’s current Russian system. The prrnmpa.] integration goals were focusing an deriving benefit from areas
that evidence scope for rapid synergies. The previous business model of KV Group has been significantly changed
through cross-brewing, sales, distribution and marketing. KV Group has commenced producing brands of Efes Moscow
and Efes Moscow has commenced producing brands of KV Group. The selling and distribution model of KV Group via
tradmg houses has been ceased and all selling and distribution activities have been transferred to Efes Moscow. '

As a result, KV Group has been restructured as a production centre. Therefore, financial performance of KV Group does
not reflect the contribution of the integrated busrness model fo the consohdated income statement of the Company

- Relating to the put option granted to Amsterdam Brewery Iuvestments B V., the Company acquu’ed 12.4% of Efes
Moscow for a total cash consideration of USD 108.9 million and increased its shareholding percentage in Efes Moscaw
to 83.4% in February 2006. Following revised IAS 32, the liability for the put options was measured, and the excess of
the liability for puttable instrument over the fair value of the net assets of Bfes Moscow amounting to USD 81,429 was
for the first time recognized as goodwill as of December 31, 2005, Due to the difference between the estimated valuatron
and the actual cash consideration, the Company has recognrzed an additional goodwrll of UsD 740. '

In August 2006, the Company sold all of its shares in Interbre.w Efes, together with Anadolu Efes to InBev. The
Company received USD 26.6 million for 49.99% of the share capital of Interbrew Efes. On disposal of Interbrew Efes, an
accumulated currency translation difference of USD 7,825 was recogmzed in the income staterent as a component of the
gain on sale of joint venture (Refer to Note 25). :

Interbrew Efes contributed USD 13,956 (2005 - USD 18,858) and USD 2,126 (2005 usp 4445) to oonsolrdated
Tevenue and consohdated net 1noome, respectively.

In October 2006 the Company has acquired 7.50% of Efes Moscow from EL & EL for a total cash consideration of USD
88.5 million and increased its shareholding percentage to 90.85%. For the remaining 0.39% shares owned by EL & E1,
EBI has been granted a call option. The excess of fair value of net assets acqurred over the purchase pnce was USD
68 063 and has been recognized as goodwill in the consohdated balance sheet. :

- In December 2006, the Company acquired another 7.47% of share capital in Efes Weifert by cash contributions to its share
capital and accordingly increased its share in the subsidiaries up to 90.97%. The excess of falr value of net assels
acqurred over the purchase price was USD 1 674 and has been recorded as goodwill. IR : '

'I’he accompanyrng pollores and explanatory notes on puges 8 through 26

~form an Jntegral part of those ﬁnancral statements
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4. . CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2006

Cashonhand : : ' TR 3
Banks accounts (including short—term tlme depDSIts) 38,909 143,247
Cash and cash equwalents 38 911 : 143,250

;;,M.,M.WLoans utlhzed by Efes.Karaganda.- of USD 13,056 (9006—USD 174 927) and by Efes Moscow of USD 16 590 {2006-USD

18 764) as of December 31, 2007 are secured with cash amount of USD 30,304 at banks’ (2006 USD 51 409)

Ttme depos1ts are made for varying penods up to three months dependmg on the 1mmed1ate cash requm:ments of the

Group and earn interest between 3.4% and 8. 6%(2006 -3. 7%-7 5%)

e 5 DU}: I‘ROM RELATED PART[ES

Due from related part.xes mclude the trade recewables frnm related pames and funds pmwded te subsxdmnes

6 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

The balance includes the prepaid insurance expenses, prepaid adminisirative expenses and other current assets.

7. INVESIMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND SECURITIES

The balance represents the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and securities stated at the net equity value.

Movements in investments in subSIdxarles }omt ventures and securmes in 2007 and 2006 can be summanzed as follows

2007 - 2006_
-Opening balance, January 1 . 604,466 314,813
_Share in net profit for the year - 47,150 28,528
--Acquisition, disposal of consolidated subsndlenes 535 = 203,382
Effects of group restructuring S ' e -
-Currency translation reserve REREE o 40,622 60,988
Other movements . S o S e (3,245)
Closing btﬂanc'e, December 31 692, 773 604,466

The acqu151t10n dlsposal of cunsohdated subsxdlanes comprises of mlnorlty buy-eut of Efes Serbxa

8. PROPERTY PLAN T AND EQUIPMENT

The prnperty, plant and equlpment is composed of office rnachmery, ﬁJrn:turc and ﬂxtures and vehlcies The movement

of property, plant and equ1pment in 2007 and 20{)6 is as fol]ows

2007 - 2006
Cost . _ _ — —
Opening balance, Jannary I : .. .90 .87
Additions L 9 3
- Closing balance, December 31 . -89 90
Accumulated Depreciation o o L eyl BRI
Opening balance, Janua.ryl S 52 D32 s
. 'Depreciation - A8 T
' 'C]Dsmg balance December 31 C R L] - I
Pmperty_, plam and equlpment (net) e 329 KT

forrn an 1ntegra] part Df lhese f" nancml staternents
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9. . INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other . S E - " Other - -

AR : intangible . 2007 T inungible 2006
- “Gioodwill Brands - .agssets - Total - Goodwill Brands . .. ‘mssets - Tutul
- Cost : ' P e . P S . ‘ o S
Opening balance, Ianun.ryl o ©-379993 89,675 2. 469,670 169,219 - 2. -=169,221 -
Additions : ; S 2610 ) - - 2,610 190,073 £3,960 N e 274,033 -
~~Cumency translation difference T34 2,940 SR A3 2001 3715 0 26 416 K
Ciosing halance, December 31 393937 92,615 2 4.86.614 375,993 89,675 . 2 . .469 670 :
Accumulated amurusnhunnnd.' = o . _ 7 . : R
" impoirment fogses v oo T ' ' : o ) P i S
Opening balance, Januaryl S c 3130 s R e TR1E C  R130 0 e - 5,132
Amumsnuenferﬂleyeur S I T T S A P - - i
Closmghnlance,l)eeember31 T osme . o mm mm T 3 51
-Nethuu!cvalne T amsgeT 92.615 ' T aBi482 1863 896l L '-'464,533

As a Group pohey, the management perfenns 1mpa1rment test for goudwﬂl and brands w1th an mdeﬁmte useful ]er on
an annual base. Based on the impairment test for goodwill and brands, no grounds were identified for i impairment’ charge
as of December 31, 2007. The recoverable amount of cash generating units, which is determined by discounting the
future cash flows, exceeded the carrying amount of the cash generatmg upits including goodwill and brands. The
goodwill of USD 369,701 was attributable to the cash generating unit in Russia and the remaining goodwill of TJSD
18,166 was attmbutable to the other cash generating units as of Decamber 31, 2007, The brands of USD 92 615 were
attnbutable to. the cash generatmg umt in Russm as of December 31, 2007. . _

Cash flows were prcuected with a combmanon of the strategic business plans of the Cempany for the penod 2008 tll
2010 and were extrapolated for the period 2011 till 2017. Key assumptions such as country specific market growth rates,
GDP per.capita and consumer price indices were derived from external sources. Main estimates such as beer and resin
prices, working capital requirements and capital expenditures were based on key assumptions and historical operating
data. The market growth and volume growth rates were estimated to be between 22.5% and 2%, and 29.5% and 2%,
respechve]y The consumer price indices were estimated to be between 15% and 49, and selling pricés were estimated to
increase in line with inflation, These projections were discounted at the Welghted average cost of cnp:ta] of the cash
generatmg units ranged pnmarﬂy between 8.93% and 12 68% '

The Company beheves that all of i 1ts management esumates and key assurnptmns are reasonable Any change in such

estimates and assumptions arising from the subsequent facts rmght have an 1mpact on recoverabie amgunt of a cash
generatxng units and rmght lead to an 1mpmrment cha:ge :

0. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and ether non-current assets are cemposed of long term peruen of prepmd insurance expenses

. TRA]_)E AND OTHER PAYABLE_S |

2007 2006

Trade accounts payable SR : Lo L - 165 1,570

. Payable for acquired shares = -~ ' - S im0 28914
Short term liability for puttable instrument (Refer to Note 2]) L 127,009 0 24,202 o

- Qther short-term payable (RefertoNote 21) -~ L 664 4,602
Total S L ' s i ' 127,838 059,288

The accempanymg pehcxes and explanatory notes on pages 8 th:ough 26 ot
- form an mtegral parl ef these fi nanc:al statements : '
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12 BORROWINGS

T 2006 .

2007
Current : : ST o R T
Bank borrowings (mcludmo current pumon of long—term bormwmcrs) o . 6,669 .. 9859
Non-current B TR R o
Bank borrowr_ngs _ o R L 297,734 301,493
“Total borrowings - T e o 304,403 311,352

: Ail the borrowmgs of the Cnmpzmy are denommated in USD The effecbve mterest rate of the borrowmgs al ihe balance

sheet date was LIBOR +1 55%—-&-2 95%

' .-As of December 31 2007 Lhe tuta] borrowmgs are secured W1th the followmgs o

o .—. : A Corporate guarantee amuunnng fo USD 305 000 (2006 USD 310 000) provrded by Anadolu Efes

Repayments of long term debt are scheduled as foIlcws (excludmg ﬁnance lease obligation);

2007 2006

2006 = e ' : ,

2007 . B - - 9,859
2008 R SATRPTTNR S P _ : 6,669 5000

12009 - o o 297,734 ° 296,493
Thereafier S : C . .

- 304,403 311,352

13. ©  OTHERNON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current llabllmes include the long term llablllty for puttable instruments amuunnng USD 103,100 as of

_'December 31, 2006. (Refer to Note 21).

14. ,:'SHARE CAPITAL .

2007

‘2006

‘Common shares, par value of EUR 1 o o -
Authorized c _ . 250,000,000
Issued and outstanding ' ' 211,428,569

Number of shares ~ Number of shares

250,000,000
211,428,569

In October 2004, the articles of association of the Company were amended, whereby each share jssued before the
amendment of the articles of association with a par value of EUR 100 was split in one hundred shares with a par value of
-EUR 1. Consequently, the number of shares increased from 1,223,238 shares to 122,323,800 shares In addition, the

' authonsed number of shares was mcreased to 250,000, 000 shares with a par value of EUR 1.
- -Movement in share capital

The movement of the share capital of the_Ccmpsny during 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

: 2007 - 2006
Number of shares ~- - - USD " - Number of shares USsD
At January 1, 5 ._ EET 2.11 428 569 ' ";_237,488 _. - 148,000,000 - 156,921
Shares issned S S ' R 63,428,569 80,567

At December 31 R E -'211,423,569 - 237,488 211,428,569

The accompanymg pDhCIES and expianatory notes on pages 8 through 26 . :..

237,488
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- The Company conducted a share nghts offermg for 63, 498 560 new ordmary shares, wﬁh a nominal value of EUR 1to .
- its existing shareholders Anadolu Efes, the Company's principal shareholder, and ‘The Bank of New York -as depositary -
~of the GDRs. The new ordinary shares of 18,891,340 out of for 63,428,569 new shares were offered in the form of

o -+ GDRs, each representing five new ordmary shares. Anadolu Efes has partlmpated in the share rights offering to the full AR
.. extent of its holding of 70.22 per cent of the Company’s share capltal The Bank of New York has subscnbed for- = o
o 3 324, 717 new GDRs and HSBC Bank plc hus subscnbed for the remalmng 253 551 new GDRs o

" As at December 31, 2007 and 2006 the composmon of shareho]ders and thBlI‘ respect.we % of DWl‘lerShlp can be

- summarized as follows:

‘ '20_07 T a0e

. AmdoluBfes e 020%
R o omm oomm
Totl T T T i0000% 100.00%

o Gnrreney Trans]ation Reserve

The currency translation reserve is used to record the exchange dlfferences arising on the translaﬂon of the ﬁnancxal
Statements of foreign subsidiaries. : :

15, EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basu: earnings per share (EPS), which is same as folly diluted EPS is calcu]ated by dmdlng the net profit for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the welghled average number of ordinary shares outstandmg dunng the year.

.The fol]owmg refiects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computaﬂon

_ 2007 . .2006

._Netproﬂt attributable to ordinary shareholders | . - | - 37,47.0 ._ .\ 20,608
'.w_eig.hted average number of ordinary shares ' . ‘. ' : 211,428,568 157_,036,399

l' , .EPS (in full U.S. Dollars) _ 0.18 . 0,13

16.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial Risk Management
* Credir risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to dJscharge an obligation and cause the other party
to incur a financial loss. The credit risk of the Company and its subsidiaries is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. Maximum credit risk on the Company and its subsidiaries is limited to the amounts disclosed on the financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries has its credit control policies and procedures in place and the exposure to
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit risk arising from the transactions with customers is mitigated
-through operating with agreed credit limits and dlver51f' cation of customers. Management believes that the prowsmns
" made are sufficient to cover expected losses. : :

Inreresr rate risk

: Certam parts of the interest rates related to borrowings are based on rnarket interest rates; therefore the Company is
* exposed to interest rate fluctuations on domestic and international markets, The Company’s exposure (o market risk for
" - changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Company s debt obhgat]ons The Company mam]y enters into LIBOR
'ibased contracts in its financial borrowmgs . s : -

The accompanymg pohc1es and cxp]anatory notes on pages 8 throogh 26

ror.rn j:1o mtegrai pnrt of these 1‘“ nancml statements
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16, F]NANCIAL ]NSTRU‘\EENTS (contmued)
' ._ 'Farergu exchange rrsk

: Forergn CUITENcies play a mgmﬁcant role in the economies of the temtorles where the most of the subsrdxarles of the -

i Company are operating. The significant part of cash outflows related to financing activities ‘as ‘well a5 some part of

accounts payable balances are hard currency denominated, while cash inflows are pnmanly denominated in national
currencies. Significantly material part of company’s sales is recognized in local currencies where its subsidiaries operate,

Consequently, any significant decline in the value of the measurement cuwrencies of the subsidiaries agamst U S. Do]la.rs
“““may have a ncgahve effect on. the subsndranes nnancml position and results of their operaoons :

' ’I‘he subsrdranos generall}' do not hedge their forolgn currency nsks ‘The governments of these countnes have estabhshed
strict currency controls, which p]ace restrictions on the conversion of national currencies mto hard currencres and

' -estabhsh reqmremcnts for conversxon of hard currency sales to mmonal currencies.

o 'Net fororgn cum:ncy 11abrhty posmon of the Company together w:th its subsrdranes as- of Decembor 31 2007 is :
g -.'appro;\umately USD 88 mﬂhon (2006 -USD 71 nn]hon, net forelgn currency hablhty) e L '

' qumdary rzs!cr

qumdlty nsk arises ﬁom tho possrb:hty that customers may not be able to settle cbligations to the Gronp within t.he
: normal terms of trade. To manage thls risk the Group penodlcally assesses tho financial vmbrhty of customers

'Falr Values

" The fzur values of trade receivables and other current assets (net of provrslon) and trade and other payables are estlmated
to approxmrato carryln g value due to thelr short—term nature. .

'The farr values of short-term and long-term leasing obligations approximate their carrymg valucs since lhey are _
denormnated in forergn currencies and revalued at year-end exchange rates, - S :

N P .'RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

- Balances with related parties as of December 31, 2007, which are separately classified in the balance sheet are as follows:

: 2007 2006
Due fro'm related parties
Efes Holland Technical Management ConsultancyB V. (Efes Holland) (1) 2,727 . 2439
Efes Karaganda (2) : 274664 - 13,128
Anadolu Efes Technical and Management Consultancy ' o 2,947 Lo .
Efes Vitanta (2) : 6,103 .
Efes Productie (2) _ - 769 L1763
Efes Weifert (2) _ ' Lo - 22935 ¢ O
Euro Asien (2) . _ o e S G ||
Efes Ukraine (2) Co : - 4,097 Lo

Tatal 67,253 16, 341

The mast srgmﬁcant Iransachons wnh related parhes during the year ended Decembor 31,2007 are as follows

Nature of Trausact:on L -~ Related Party Amount
DividendIncome = . . EfesMoscow (2) S 2482
* Dividend Income - "~ EuroVitanta 2} = 3098 - R
'_Drvrdendlncome SR R . MutenaMaltery (2) . 134 e ol
Interest Income - Lo S . FfesKaraganda(2) . . . 1474
Interest Income - - T o Efes Weifert (2) S 08
“1)- . Related party of Anadolu Efes, the ulumate shareholder of Lhe Company g

o (2) Company sinvestment < .
e i ’I‘he accornpanymg pohcles and explanatory notes on pages B through 26

form an mtegral part of these'fi nancial statements, j_
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18. : REMUNERA'I‘ION OP THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGEMENT BOARD O

-The gross 1emuneraﬂnn of the supemsory board was USD 174 in year 2007 (2006 USD 125)

Sugemsorz Bnard Members .'3 e ' ' .
' T - 2007 . 2006

David Logan L P R P 80 75
Gauthierde Biolley =~ =~ | Lo 41 . 14
T Christos < Alex Kommnos e o - 24 o 24
Tuncay Ozilhan . S o 6 6
Ali Tigrel . e B 23 6

Total ’ o ' ' Lo e : 174 125

' The gross remuneratmn of the management board was USD 578 in year 2007 (2006 USD 284) The remuneranon of
management board consists’ of salary and bonus e !

Management Board Members ' -.

2007 2006
Mehmet Demir $arman -~ .~ . S . 383 281
Alejandro JTimenez ' : 118 -
Hursit Zorlu 74 -
Carlos P.M., Roelofs 3 3
Total

578 284

19. MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGEMENT BOARD
Members of the Superwsory Board and Management Board of the Company are as follows:

Members of the Sugemsorx Board -

Tuncay Ozilhan

David Logan

Ali Tigrel

Christos-Alex Komninos
Gauthier De Biolley

M_embers of the Management Board

Alejandro Jimenez
Mehmet Hurgit Zorlu
Mehmet Demir Sarman
Carlos P.M. Roelofs

The accompanymg pohcms and explanatbry notes on pages 8 L}_u-ough 26

= form an mtegra] partaf these financial siatements.
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20. CASH FLOWS FROM ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

2006

Net cash outflow/inflow for the period ended

. 2007
Acquisitions . - Disposal Acquisitions -~ Dispaosal
Cash and cash equivalents - - 50,133 (24
Trade receivables - - - 2,670 (42)
--Due-from-related-parties e - 1,203 ~(9,610)
Inventories-net - - 27,641 - (2.511)
Other current assets - - 16,255 - . (135)
Property, plant and equ1pment -niet - - .. 206,985 - {29,393)
Intangible assets - - - 83960 T -
 Deferred tax assets < - 5009 . -
* Other non-current asset . - - CUH10 0 (1,683)
" 'Trade and other payables - (4,714) 2,440
Due to related parties - - (1,804) 2,677
Short-term loans - - (62,279) 2,813
Other current liabilities - - . (20,633) 1,932
Income tax payable - - ' {4 99
Long-term debt — net of current portion - - R 517
‘Deferred tax Lability - - - 299
Accumulated exchange differences - - - 7,825
- Fair value of net assets - - 304,522 (24,796)
Net assets acquired/sold - - 281,196 (24,796)
- Recognised as decrease in retained earnings “ . - -
Goodwill - - 85,481 -
~'Gain on sale of shares of subsidiary - - - 1,779
-Total purchase/sale consideration - - 366,677 (26,575)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary - - - -(50,133) -
Net cash sold with subsidiary - - - 24
“Net cash inflow/outflow for the initial acquisition - - 316,544 (26,551)
. Disposal of an available-for-sale investment - - - (155)
Acquired minority shares of Efes Ukraine - - - -
Acquired minority shares of KV Group - - 1,627 -
Acquired minority shares of Efes Moscow - . 168,494 . -
Acquired minority shares of Efes Weifert 23,144 - - -
3,144 - 486 665 (26, 706)

- In October 2007 the Cempany acquired 6 25% of Efes Wexfart shares for a total cash consideration of USD 3,144 (Note
- -3). In 2006, the net assets acquired of TISD 281,196 represents 92.3% of KV Group’s net assets and net assets disposed
-~of USD 24,796 represents 49 99% of Interbrew Bfes net assets whlch was consohdated on a propnmonalc basis till the

' date of dxsposal

o

The accompanymg pollmes and cxplanamry notes on pages 8 through 25 i




oo " COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES -
PiIIIDQ.LiDnSH K S L N

A put option has been granted to the EBRD by the Company t._ha.t may be 'e)_(erci_s_ah‘lé bctWeén_'QGOB and 2011, By such
pul option; the EBRD will be entitled to sell iis 8.8% of Efes Moscow shares. (o the Company at an option price to be
determined by an independent valuation. R e

A iJLIt option has been granted to the OAQ Krasny Vnstdk Apro that may be exercisable be:tw;eén 2007 and 2009. ij such

~-option; OAO Krasny Vostok Agra will have right to'sell its 6.7% of KV Group shares to the Company at an option price

- 'market share of 42% by volume in 2007. -

either at in full USD 0.395 multiplied by number of shares plus interest accrued from the date of the option until the date
of completion at a rate of LIBOR plus 4.9% or the consolidated EBITDA multiplied by a multiple of nine minus net
~.indebtedness, - BT o . s S L IS '

Following revised IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), the. obligation for ‘the participating
- interest related. with put options have been regarded as ‘Hability - for puttable instroments’- in’ the: Group’s financial
Statements, to be stated at fair value. The liability for the put option has been measured by applying a weighting 6f

different valuation techniques based on best estimates currently available. Subsequerit changes to the valuation of the put

options have been recorded as changes to ‘liability for puttable instruments’ and to goodwill, without any direct impact
-on the consolidated income statement. ‘ - - PR Lo

The contingent considerations related with the put options granted to EBRD and OAQ Krasny Vostok Agro of USD

102,807 and USD 24,202 have been presented as ‘liability for puttable instruments’ in trade and other payables in the

consolidated balance sheet. In order to give effect to the recognition of the liability for puttable instruments, the equity

and net income attributable to the interest of minority shareholders of Efes Moscow and KV Group have been decreased .
by 8.8% and 6.7%, respectively, - o s ‘ . I R :

Tax and lepal matters

Legislation and regulations regarding taxation and foreign currency transactions in most of the territories in which the

Group operates continue to evolve as the government manages the transformation from a command to a market-oriented _
economy. Various regulations are not always clearly written and their interpretation is subject to the opinions of the local,

regional and national tax authorities, the Central Bank and Ministry of Finance, Tax declarations, together with other

legal compliance areas (for example, customs and currency control matters) are subject to review and investigation by a

number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose significant fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts

create tax risks in the territories in which the Group operates substantially more than typically found in countries with

more developed tax systems, ' o ' e :

* Management believes that all applicable taxes have been paid or accrued and the ultimate liability, if any, arising from
such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future
" ‘operations of the Group. . R e : ' . '

. Rental Obligations

-The Company has entered into a rental agreement for the current premises of the Company which is expiring in 2011,
The total nominal future obligation of the Company with respect to this rental agreement amounts to USD 398,

Guarantees Issued

The Company has issue_d__corpdratg guarantees for the certain bank loans of its subsidiaries.
22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2008, the Company reached an agreement with Heineken International B.V. {"Heineken”) to eétablish a joint
venlure to jointly invest in Uzbekh market. The Company and Heineken will have 60% and 40% shares in the joint
venture, respectively, whereas the Company will have the management control. o e '

*In Pebruary 2008, the thlpany has announced that it has completed the _acQuisition of 100% shares of Joint Stock
- Company Lomisi (JSC Lomisi), a brewery in Georgia with an annual brewing capacity of 0.55 mih and an estimated

S The acc:ompimymg policies and explanatory notes 61_1_ pages 8 through 26

' — SRR .- form.an integral part of these finani_:_izl_l;Sta'témenl_s."“'_ S
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2. SUBSEQU@NT'EVENTS (continied)

The Curnpany executed a Share Purchase Agreement regerdmg the sale of all shares currently owned by the Cempany, ;

‘representlng 92 9% of the voting shares of KV Group, to MEE,

: These ﬁnancna] statements ‘have heen 1ssued at the-place- and as’ of lhe date shown below

Aloan agreement has heen mgneci hetwaen MEB and HSBC amnuntmg to USD 120 II!J]IJDn on Mareh 19 2008.

Members of the Management Boar

' Alejandro I]menez

Mehmet Hursit Zorln
Mehmet Demir $arman

‘Carlos’ P.M Roe]efs :

Am_st_erda_m_, Apnl_za_;,'-zoua' ST

The aceompanymg pohmes and explanatery notes on pages 8 threugh 26

fnnn an mlegral part of these ﬁnanmal Statements.-
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'OTHER INFORMATION

The accompnnymg pohcms and cxp]anatory notes on pages 8 rhmugh 26 SR
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Efes Brewe_riés International N.V. o

' OTHERINFORMATION

' To the Board of Drrectors and the Shareholder of EFES Brewenes Intemanonal N. V

. AUDITOR’S REPORT -

7 Report on the 2007 company ﬁnanc1al statements

‘We have audrted the accompanymg company financral statements 2007 of EFES Brewenes a
- International N.V., Amsterdam, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, the
-1ncome Statement and the statemnent of changes in equity for the year then ended and a summary of .
E srgmﬁcant accounting policies and other explanatory notes : :

Managemenr s reSponszblltty '
Management is responsible for the preparatlon and fair presentahon of the company financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
‘European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of
the report of the Board of Management in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil
. Code. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control _
~'relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the: company financial statements that are free
o from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropnate
. accountmg policies; and rnakmg accouatmg estl_mates that are reasonable in the cueumstances

~Auditor’s responsibility ‘

- Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company financial statements based on our audit.
- We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply with ethical
_ requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the company
. ;ﬂnancral statements are free from matenal rmsstatement ' :

"An aucht involves performmg procednres to obtain audrt evidence about the amounts and disclosures
‘in the company financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
" including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the company financial statements,
~whether due to frand or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the company financial statements in order
- to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
- expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
- estimates made by management, as weli as evaluatmg the overall presentatron of the company
' ﬁnancral statements. S . '

We beheve that the audit emdenoe we have obtamed is sufﬁment and appropnate to prov1de a basrs
for our audrt opmron o : . _

| The aCcompanymg PD]JCIBS and Bxplﬁﬂﬂtory Hofes o on. Pages 8 through 26 R

form an mtegral pari of these ii nanc:al statemenls
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. 'Efes Brewerles Internatlonal N V

B 'OTHIER }_NFORMATION

Opmzon - ' -
~ In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fan' view of the financial position of

.EFES Breweries International N.V--as-at December 31;2007,-and- of its result-for the year then ended-- -

©  in accordance with International Financial Reportmg Standards as adoPted by the European Union
. and w1th Part 9 of Book 2 of the Nether]ands Civil Code AP

S '_Report on other legal and regulatory requlrements

_ :._Pursuant to the legal requlrement under 2: 393 sub 5 part e of the Netherlands C1v11 Code we report .. .
~ 'to the extent of our competence, that the report of the Board of Management is consistent with the
-company financial statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code. - -

Amsterdam, April 24, 2008
for Emst & Young Accountants

* signed by C.N.J. Verhart

-~ The accompan)'mg Pohcn:s and explanator}' notes on pages 8 th:ough 26 .. R

forrn an mtcgra] part of these f nanmal statements, -
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. Efes BreWé.ljies_ _Inte_r_nationél N.V.
' OTHER INFORMATION

.- Articles Df,As_soci.'a'timi Re ApﬁrOpﬁaﬁon of Net Income -

Subject to the provisions under Dutch law that o dividends can be declared until all losses have been récovéred,.retained
-earnings are at the disposal of the shareholders in accordance with Article 18 of Articles of Association of the Company.

Apprnpriatipn. af_‘ Net Income

Preceding a res(éludon of the shareholders, the board of managing directors proposes that the net px_'qﬁt_'\a_}ill be retained. - |

The accompanymg pohmes and explanatory nutes on pages 8 through ‘76

===formean: mtegral part of thcsc financialstatements.”
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To the Board of Directors and the Shareholders of
Efes Breweries International N.V.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the consolidated financial statements for the year 2007 of EFES Breweries
International N.V., Amsterdam, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December
31, 2007, the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of EFES Breweries International N.V. as at December 31, 2007, and of the result and the
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Amsterdam, March 28, 2008

for Ernst & Young Accountants

C.N.J. Verhart



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

ASSETS

Notes 2007 2006
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 58,526 163,861
Trade and other receivables 5 88,140 49,630
Due from related parties 29 8,161 3,475
Inventories 6 188,041 97,913
Prepayments and other current assets 7 59,840 56,422
Total current assets 402,708 371,301
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 10 1,521 1,575
Property, plant and equipment 8 726,490 628,550
Intangible assets 9 536,949 514,969
Deferred tax assets 24 13,806 10,699
Prepayments and other non-current assets 2,942 2,246
Total non-current assets 1,281,708 1,158,039
Total assets 1,684,416 1,529,340
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Notes 2007 2006
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 225,773 145,770
Due to related parties 29 23,339 22,148
Income tax payable 5,008 1,694
Short-term borrowings 12 188,609 138,156
Current portion of long-term borrowings 12 14,822 22,294
Total current liabilities 457,551 330,062
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings-net of current portion 12 342,598 311,108
Deferred tax liability 24 10,912 12,260
Other non-current liabilities 13 346 103,886
Total non-current liabilities 353,856 427,254
Equity
Issued capital 14 237,488 237,488
Share premium 14 319,318 319,318
Currency translation reserve 14 138,794 75,520
Retained earnings 167,837 130,367
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 863,437 762,693
Minority interests 9,572 9,331
Total equity 873,009 772,024
Total liabilities and equity 1,684,416 1,529,340

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 39 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.

©)



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency - In thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes 2007 2006
Revenue 836,235 638,929
Cost of revenue 16 (462,100) (328,843)
Gross profit 374,135 310,086
Selling and marketing expenses 17 (209,214) (180,613)
General and administrative expenses 18 (94,819) (73,801)
Other operating income 19 16,187 5,840
Other operating expense 19 (5,738) (6,127)
Profit from operations 80,551 55,385
Financial income 22 11,348 14,453
Financial expense 22 (40,272) (41,007)
Profit before tax 51,627 28,831
Income tax 23 (14,280) (7,419)
Profit after tax 37,347 21,412
Attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent company 37,470 20,608
Minority interests (123) 804

37,347 21,412

Earnings per share (in full U.S. Dollars)
Basic 15 0.18 0.13
Diluted 15 0.18 0.13

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 39 form an integral part

of these consolidated financial statements.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency - In thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Parent Company Minority Total
Interests Equity
Currency
Share Share Translation Retained
Capital Premium Reserve Earnings Total

Balance at January 1, 2006 156,921 101,626 14,532 109,759 382,838 24,878 407,716
Foreign currency translation - - 68,813 - 68,813 2,549 71,362
Recognition of currency
translation reserve (Note 3) - - (7,825) - (7,825) - (7,825)
Total income and expense for the
year recognized directly in equity - - 60,988 - 60,988 2,549 63,537
Net profit for the year - - - 20,608 20,608 804 21,412
Total income and expense for the
year - - 60,988 20,608 81,596 3,353 84,949
Issue of share capital 80,567 217,692 - - 298,259 - 298,259
Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - (604) (604)
Additions through subsidiaries
acquired - - - - - (18,564) (18,564)
Dividends paid to put option
holder - - - - - 268 268
At December 31, 2006 237,488 319,318 75,520 130,367 762,693 9,331 772,024
Foreign currency translation - - 63,274 - 63,274 1,011 64,285
Total income and expense for the - - 63,274 - 63,274 1,011 64,285
year recognized directly in equity
Net profit for the year - - - 37,470 37,470 (123) 37,347
Total income and expense for the - - 63,274 37,470 100,744 888 101,632
year
Issue of share capital - - - - - - -
Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - (404) (404)
Additions through subsidiaries - - - - - (534) (534)
acquired
Dividends paid to put option - - 291 291
holder - - _
At December 31, 2007 237,488 319,318 138,794 167,837 863,437 9,572 873,009

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 39 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency - In thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Note 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 51,627 28,831
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Gain on sale of soft-drink trademarks 3 (3,712)
Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary 25 - (1,779)
Depreciation and amortisation 21 72,578 57,082
Provision for bad debt 18 972 134
Provision for inventories 19 3,951 1,834
Income recognised from reversal of provision for bad debt (1,083) (687)
Income recognised from reversal of provision for inventories (970) (148)
Impairment in property, plant and equipment 19 232 70
Reversal of impairment on property plant equipment 8 (2,430) -
Reserve for vacation pay liability 1,022 1,221
Other non-cash items 51 (1,290)
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment 19 1,138 813
Amortised borrowing costs 1,241 208
Interest income 22 (4,744) (5,685)
Interest expense 22 36,491 38,415
Net income adjusted for non-cash items 156,364 119,019
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (93,115) (19,286)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (38,399) (8,417)
(Increase)/decrease in due from related parties (4,686) (6,397)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 9,419 24,780
Increase/(decrease) in due to related parties 1,191 2,524
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 1,919 (12,769)
Decrease/(increase) in other non-current assets (696) (1,733)
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current liabilities 171) (1,123)
Interest received 2,405 5,331
Interest paid (42,308) (30,654)
Taxes paid (18,680) (10,920)
Net cash provided by operating activities (26,757) 60,355
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 8-9 (127,655) (124,193)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,565 3,196
Proceeds from sale of soft-drink trademarks 3 3,712 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (36,660) (486,665)
Disposal of joint venture - 26,706
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (404) (604)
Net cash used in investing activities (155,442) (581,560)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in short-term debt 38,714 16,706
Proceeds from long-term debt 42,899 296,283
Repayment of long-term debt (17,601) (27,087)
Proceeds from issuance of share capital 14 - 80,567
Increase in share premium 14 - 217,692
Net cash provided by financing activities 64,012 584,161
Currency translation differences 12,852 4,045
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (105,335) 67,001
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 163,861 96,860
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 58,526 163,861

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 7 through 39 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. GENERAL

Efes Breweries International N.V. (the Company) was incorporated in the Netherlands on October 2, 1996. The
registered address of the Company is Strawinskylaan 1227, 1077XX Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

The Company’s ordinary shares have been listed on the London Stock Exchange in the form of global depositary receipts
(GDR’s).

The parent of the Company is Anadolu Efes Biracilik ve Malt Sanayii Anonim Sirketi (Anadolu Efes-the Parent
Company). Anadolu Efes is a Turkish Corporation, which was established in Istanbul in 1966. The operations of Anadolu
Efes consist of production of beer and its raw materials. Certain shares of Anadolu Efes are listed on the Istanbul Stock
Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year 2007 were authorised for issue by the directors on
March 27, 2008.

Nature of Activities of the Company/Group
The Company acts as a Dutch Holding company, facilitating investments in breweries.

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred to as
"the Group".

List of Subsidiaries

The subsidiaries included in consolidation and their shareholding percentages at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006 were as follows:

Effective Shareholding and voting

Place of Principal rights %
Incorporation Activities December 31, December 31,

2007 2006

CJSC “Moscow-Efes Brewery” (Efes Moscow) (ii), Russia Production and marketing of beer 90.85 90.85
JSC «AMSTAR» (Amstar) (i) Russia Production of beer 90.85 90.85
ZAO Efes Entertainment (Efes Entertainment) (i) Russia Entertainment 90.85 90.85
CJSC.Rostov Beverage (Rostov Beverages) (i) Russia Production of beer 90.85 90.85
LLC “Stary Melnik” (i) Russia Advertising 90.85 90.85
JSC Brewing .. Union  «Krasny Vostok - Solodovbeer» Russia Production and marketing of beer 92.85 92.85

(KV Group) (ii)

LLC “KV - SibPivCompaniya”(iii) Russia Production of beer 97.53 97.53
LLC “Vostok solod”(iii) Russia Production of malt 92.85 92.85
LLC “Krasny Vostok — Invest”(iii) Russia Finance 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,T'sentralny Torgovy Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™(iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
CJSC “MTD “Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
CJSC ,,Samarskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
CJSC ,,Saratovskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Ufimskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85

(7



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. GENERAL (Continued)
Place of Principal Effective Shareholding and voting
Incorporation Activities rights %
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
LLC ,,Barnaulskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Volgogradskii Torgovyii Dom , Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Voronezhskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC “Ekaterinburgskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC "Kemerovskii Torgovyii Dom, Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ”Krasnodarskii Torgovyii Dom,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ”Krasnoyarskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC "Kurskii Torgovyii Dom , Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC "Nizhegorodskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,Nizhnekamskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Novosibirskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Omskii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Permskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Sankt-Peterburgskii torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok™ (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Tomskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
LLC ,,Chelyabinskii Torgovyii Dom ,,Krasny Vostok” (iii) Russia Trading house 92.85 92.85
JSC Efes Karaganda Brewery (Efes Karaganda) Kazakhstan ~ Production and marketing of beer 100.00 100.00
Production and marketing of beer, 96.50 96.50
Efes Vitanta Moldova Brewery S.A. (Efes Vitanta) Moldova soft drinks, low alcoholic drinks
and mineral water
Efes Weifert Brewery d.o.o (Efes Weifert) Serbia Production and marketing of beer 97.21 90.97
Efes Zajecar Brewery d.o.o (Efes Zajecar) Serbia Production and marketing of beer 72.96 72.96
Euro-Asian Brauerein Holding GmbH (Euro Asian) Germany Investment company 100.00 100.00
Efes Commerce d.o.o Belgrade (Efes Commerce) (iv) Serbia Pro_ductlon and 100.00 100.00
marketing of beverages
Brewery Pivdenna C.J.S.C. (Efes Ukraine) (iv) Ukraine Production and marketing of beer 100.00 100.00
Efes Romania Industrie Si Comert S.A. (ERIC) (iv) Romania Distribution of beer 99.996 99.996
Efes Productie S.R.L. (Efes Productie) (iv) Romania Distribution of beer 69.70 69.70
1) Subsidiaries of Efes Moscow, which are consolidated under its financial statements.
(ii) Following revised IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), a further 9.15% and 6.70% interest has also been
consolidated for Efes Moscow and KV Group, respectively.
(iii) Subsidiaries of KV Group, which are consolidated under its financial statements.
(iv) Subsidiaries that are either dormant or in the process of being liquidated.

®)



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. GENERAL (Continued)
Environments and Economic Conditions of Subsidiaries

The countries, in which the consolidated subsidiaries are operating, have undergone substantial, political and economical
changes in the recent years. Accordingly such markets do not possess well-developed business infrastructures and the
operations in such countries might carry risks, which are not typically associated with those in more developed markets.
Uncertainties regarding the political, legal, tax and / or regulatory environment, including the potential for adverse
changes in any of these factors, could significantly affect the subsidiaries’ ability to operate commercially.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, which comprise standards approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The consolidated financial statements also comply with the interpretations issued
by Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
appointed by the IASC . The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the historical cost
convention with some items are presented at fair value, as disclosed in below notes.

Changes in Accounting Policies

The Company followed the same accounting policies and methods while preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year 2007 as compared to 2006 except for the new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations. These are:

IFRS 7 “ Financial Instruments : Disclosures”, IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, IAS 19 “Employee
Benefits”, IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”, IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, IFRIC 5 “Rights to Interests arising
from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds” and IFRIC 6 “Liabilities arising from
Participation in a Specific Market-Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment”

The Company reviewed the new standards, changes to the existing standards and interpretations. They have not had any
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of Preparation

The Company maintains its books and records in accordance with the requirements of the Netherlands’ civil code. The
subsidiaries maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial statements in their local currencies and
in accordance with the regulations of the countries in which they operate. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared from financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and presented in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by EU in U.S. Dollars. In December 2000, ERIC and Efes Productie adopted a plan of liquidation and as a result
changed their basis of accounting, from the going-concern basis to a liquidation basis.

Foreign Currency Translation
The Company is domiciled in the Netherlands. The Group transacts most of its business in U.S. Dollars, loans granted by
the Company are denominated in U.S. Dollars, and contributions to the capital of the subsidiaries are denominated in

U.S. Dollars and dividends from subsidiaries are received in U.S. Dollars.

Accordingly, the USD was determined to be the Company’s functional and presentation currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Company.

©



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Local Functional Functional

Currency Currency Currency
Efes Moscow RUR RUR RUR
KV Group RUR RUR RUR
Efes Karaganda KZT KZT KZT
Efes Ukraine UAH UAH UAH
Efes Vitanta MDL MDL MDL
Efes Weifert RSD RSD RSD
Efes Zajecar RSD RSD RSD
Euro Asian EUR UsSD USD
Efes Commerce RSD RSD RSD
ERIC ROL ROL ROL
Efes Productie ROL ROL ROL

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the exchange
rates existing at the dates of the transactions or a weighted average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences
arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of the equity. On disposal of a foreign entity,
accumulated exchange differences (currency translation reserve) are recognised in the income statement as a component
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Each entity within the Group translates its foreign currency transactions and balances into its functional currency by
applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at
the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting
monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the period or reported in
previous financial statements are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is treated as an asset of the acquiring company and is translated
and recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses are eliminated.
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in
similar circumstances.

The purchase method of accounting is used for acquired businesses. Subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include Efes Breweries International N.V. and the companies which it
controls. This control is normally evidenced when the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the
voting rights of a company’s share capital and is able to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as
to benefit from its activities. The equity and net income attributable to minority shareholders’ interests are shown
separately in the balance sheets and income statements, respectively.

(10)



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand
and short-term deposits with the maturities of three months or less.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables, are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Provision
is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will no longer be able to collect the debts. Bad debts are written
off when identified.

The Group sells their products in non-returnable bottles, returnable bottles and other containers. For returnable bottles,
there is no deposit obligation of the Group. The Group accounts for bottles and other containers in inventory.

Available-for-sale Investments

Investments classified as available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured by alternative valuation methods are measured at cost. The carrying
amounts of such investments are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group
commits to purchase or to sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Inventories

Inventories, including work-in-process are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, after provision for
obsolete items. Net realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion,
marketing and distribution. Cost is determined by weighted average and first in first out methods. For processed
inventories, cost includes the applicable allocation of fixed and variable overhead costs based on a normal operating
capacity. Unrealizable inventory has been fully written off.

(an



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2007

(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Land is
not depreciated.

Depreciation which is calculated on straight-line basis method over the estimated useful life of the assets is as follows:

Buildings 10-40 years
Infrastructure 5-40 years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Furniture and Fixtures 3-15 years
Other tangible assets 2-14 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in
use. At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to weather there is any indication that previously recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated and the impairment loss is reversed.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset
that does not generate independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Cash generating units are the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Impairment losses are recognised in
the income statement.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognized.

The residual value of assets, useful life and depreciation methodologies are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.

Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition, and is included under the
caption of intangible assets. In 2004, IASB issued IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, revised IAS 36 ‘Impairment of
Assets’ and revised IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ which should be applied on acquisitions to the accounting for goodwill in
business combinations for which the agreement date is after 31 March 2004.

In addition, starting from January 1, 2005, goodwill acquired in a business combination prior to 31 March 2004 is no
longer amortised but tested for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that it may be
impaired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 31 March 2004 is not amortised but subject to impairment test annually.
The previous version of IAS 38 was requiring that the useful life of an intangible asset can not exceed twenty years.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment in value.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The Group allocates goodwill to the business segments which are the countries in which it
operates.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Brand

The cost of brands acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, the brands are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful live for the brands is
assessed to be indefinite and therefore brands are not amortised. The brands are tested for impairment annually. The useful
live is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capitalized at cost which is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Other intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalized separately from
goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. Other intangible assets, excluding development
costs, created within the business are not capitalized and expenditure is charged against profits in the year in which it is
incurred.

Following the initial recognition, other intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets which are identified to have a finite useful life are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the periodically reviewed best estimate of useful lives and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. The carrying values of other intangible assets which are identified
to have an indefinite useful life are not amortised but reviewed for impairment annually and when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The cost of acquisition of new software is capitalized and treated as an intangible asset if these costs are not an integral
part of the related hardware. Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 1 to 5 years.

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or financial liability in its balance sheet when and only when it becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial asset or a portion of financial asset when
and only when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire or the Group transfers the contractual
rights to receive cash flows together with the risks of the asset or assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows
from a financial asset to one or more recipients under an additional agreement.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when and only when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another liability from the same lender on
substantially different terms or if the terms of the existing financial liability are substantially modified, such exchange or
modification is treated as derecognition of the existing liability and the recognition of the new liability.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial Liabilities

Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the
amortisation process.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs include interest charges and other costs incurred in
connection with the borrowing of funds. A revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs was issued in March 2007, and becomes
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised on
qualifying assets with a commencement date after 1 January 2009. No changes will be made for borrowing costs
incurred to this date that have been expensed.

Leases

The Group as Lessee

Finance Lease

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly to the income statement. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of
the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the
lease term.

Operating Lease

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenues are stated net of discounts, value added and sales taxes.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
a) Sale of Goods

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the
buyer and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that
are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

» where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

* in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

» where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

* in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in
joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable
right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attached to such grants, and that the grants will be received. They are recognised to income over the period to match them
with the related costs that they are intended to compensate. Income relating to government grants is recognised as a
deduction from the appropriate expense.

Subsequent Events

Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the balance sheet date or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate (adjusting events), are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when
material.

(15)



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the balance sheet. Actual results may vary from the current estimates. These estimates are reviewed
periodically, and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become
known.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Segment Reporting

Following the acquisition of KV group the Management has changed the primary reporting segment from business
segment to geographical segments. To be comparable; prior period statements were also rearranged.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment, which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
The Group's risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different countries which
are considered to be the primary segment and the secondary segment is the business. The Group is in a single product
business and products other than beer represent less than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Other

Other operating income and other operating expense are shown separately both in the face of the statement of income
and in related disclosure.

3. CHANGES IN GROUP’S ORGANIZATION

For the year 2007

In February 2007, Efes Vitanta, subsidiary of the Company in Moldova, reached an agreement with The Coca-Cola
Company (“TCCC”) to sell Efes Vitanta’s soft drink brand called “Viva” as well as “Real” brand of bottled water to
TCCC.

The Company acquired 6.25% of Efes Weifert in October 2007 through takeover bid process for a total cash

consideration of USD 3,144. The excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price was USD 2,610 and
has been recognized as goodwill (Refer to Note 9).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. CHANGES IN GROUP’S ORGANIZATION (continued)

For the year 2006

The Company acquired 92.3% of KV Group located in Russia, in February 2006 with a total cash consideration of USD
366.7 million (including costs directly attributable to acquisition of USD 1.2 million). In June 2006, with a total cash
consideration of USD 1.6 million, the Company additionally acquired 0.5% of KV Group from minority shareholders.
The excess of the acquisition costs over the fair values of the net assets acquired was USD 85,481 for the initial acquisition
and USD 9 for the minority buyout, and has been recognised as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet (Refer to Note
25). The goodwill is justified by acquired market share which has consolidated the Groups existing Russian business at
fourth position in the market, operational synergies, production optimisation across the Group’s brewing platforms, a lower
cost base through a higher sales volume and logistical advantage through more extensive geographical coverage.

Financial statements of the KV Group and its subsidiaries until 28 February 2006 had been prepared in accordance with
Regulations on Accounting and Reporting of the Russian Federation (Russian GAAP). Russian GAAP differs in certain
respects from IFRS. KV Group has prepared its financial statements under IFRS for the first time as of February 28, 2006
and recognised the fair values of its assets and liabilities at carrying value, in compliance with IFRS 1 “First time
adoption of IFRS”. Therefore, it is impracticable for the Company to disclose the information about the carrying values
on the date of acquisition and the comparative figures as required by IFRS 3.

The Company has gone through a substantial integration exercise which was intended to align the KV Group business
into the Company’s current Russian system. The principal integration goals were focusing on deriving benefit from areas
that evidence scope for rapid synergies. The previous business model of KV Group has been significantly changed
through cross-brewing, sales, distribution and marketing. KV Group has commenced producing brands of Efes Moscow
and Efes Moscow has commenced producing brands of KV Group. The selling and distribution model of KV Group via
trading houses has been ceased and all selling and distribution activities have been transferred to Efes Moscow.

As a result, KV Group has been restructured as a production centre. Therefore, financial performance of KV Group does
not reflect the contribution of the integrated business model to the consolidated income statement of the Company.

Relating to the put option granted to Amsterdam Brewery Investments B.V., the Company acquired 12.4% of Efes
Moscow for a total cash consideration of USD 108.9 million and increased its shareholding percentage in Efes Moscow
to 83.4% in February 2006. Following revised IAS 32, the liability for the put options was measured, and the excess of
the liability for puttable instrument over the fair value of the net assets of Efes Moscow amounting to USD 81,429 was
for the first time recognised as goodwill as of December 31, 2005. Due to the difference between the estimated valuation
and the actual cash consideration, the Company has recognized an additional goodwill of USD 740.

In August 2006, the Company sold all of its shares in Interbrew Efes, together with Anadolu Efes to InBev. The
Company received USD 26.6 million for 49.99% of the share capital of Interbrew Efes. On disposal of Interbrew Efes, an
accumulated currency translation difference of USD 7,825 was recognised in the income statement as a component of the
gain on sale of joint venture (Refer to Note 25).

Interbrew Efes contributed USD 13,956 (2005 - USD 18,858) and USD 2,126 (2005 - USD 4,445) to consolidated
revenue and consolidated net income, respectively.

In October 2006, the Company has acquired 7.50% of Efes Moscow from EL & EL for a total cash consideration of USD
88.5 million and increased its shareholding percentage to 90.85%. For the remaining 0.39% shares owned by EL & EL,
EBI has been granted a call option. The excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price was USD
68,063 and has been recognised as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet.

In December 2006, the Company acquired another 7.47% of share capital in Efes Weifert by cash contributions to its share

capital and accordingly increased its share in the subsidiaries up to 90.97%. The excess of fair value of net assets
acquired over the purchase price was USD 1,674 and has been recorded as goodwill.
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2007 2006
Cash on hand 170 53
Banks accounts (including short-term time deposits) 58,273 163,765
Other 83 43
Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated cash flow statement 58,526 163,861

Loans utilized by Efes Karaganda of USD 13,056 (2006-USD 17,927) and by Efes Moscow of USD 16,590 (2006-USD
18,764) as of December 31, 2007 are secured with cash amount of USD 30,304 at banks (Refer to Note 12) (2006-USD
51,409).

Time deposits are made for varying periods up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group and earn interest between 3.4% and 8.6%(2006-3.7%-7.5%).

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2007 2006
Accounts Receivable 96,644 58,752
Others 2,798 1,852
Less: provision for doubtful accounts (11,302) (10,974)
Total 88,140 49,630

6. INVENTORIES

2007 2006
Raw materials 122,755 57,565
Supplies and spare parts 19,019 13,615
Finished goods 22,358 17,191
Work-in-process 11,888 7,359
Others 27,203 14,261
Less: reserve for obsolescence (15,182) (12,078)
Total 188,041 97,913

7. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2007 2006
Advances given to suppliers 18,305 11,718
VAT deductible 29,262 37,822
Other receivables 9,895 7,275
Prepaid expenses 3,997 1,067
Less: provision for other receivables (1,619) (1,460)
Total 59,840 56,422
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Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2007
(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Machinery Furniture Other Construction
and and Tangible in 2007

Land Buildings Infrastructure  Equipment Vehicles Assets Progress Total
Cost
January 1, 2007 10,670 251,686 16,558 496,280 22,492 22,135 24,995 844,816
Additions - 1,219 - 1,490 4,306 9,505 109,183 125,703
Disposals - (575) 94) (9,196) (1,959) (958) (13) (12,795)
Currency translation
difference 775 19,226 1,417 39,699 2,750 1,889 2,670 68,426
Transfers - 24,995 5,451 42,140 5,241 323 (78,150) -
December 31, 2007 11,445 296,151 23,332 570,413 32,830 32,894 58,685 1,026,150
Accumulated Depreciation
and Impairment Losses
January 1, 2007 - 38,129 3,788 158,644 8,053 7,652 - 216,266
Depreciation for the year - 8,550 719 53,084 4,234 5,327 - 71,914
Impairment losses - 232 - (2,430) - - - (2,198)
Disposals - (177) (47 (4,089) (850) (932) - (6,095)
Currency translation -
difference - 3,477 292 14,214 1,091 699 19,773
Transfers - (92) - (610) 772 (70) - -
December 31, 2007 - 50,119 4,752 218,813 13,300 12,676 - 299,662
Net book value 11,445 246,032 18,580 351,600 19,530 20,216 58,685 726,490

Machinery Furniture Other Construction
and and Tangible in 2006

Land Buildings Infrastructure  Equipment Vehicles Assets Progress Total
Cost
January 1, 2006 3,629 117,810 10,777 322,284 15,850 13,689 26,754 510,793
Additions - 354 - 2,313 1,248 4,078 114,620 122,613
Disposals - (196) (330) (4,8806) (1,717) 918) (1,083) (9,130)
Addition through
subsidiary acquired 5,319 100,600 2,974 89,190 3,892 3,928 1,081 206,984
Disposal through
subsidiaries sold (13,282) - (31,070) (433) (2,089) (1,322) (48,196)
Currency translation
difference 705 18,308 999 36,948 1,794 889 2,109 61,752
Transfers 1,017 28,092 2,138 81,501 1,858 2,558 (117,164) -
December 31, 2006 10,670 251,686 16,558 496,280 22,492 22,135 24,995 844,816
Accumulated Depreciation
and Impairment Losses
January 1, 2006 - 31,059 3,302 119,802 6,572 6,456 - 167,191
Depreciation for the year - 7,097 462 43,948 2,283 2,847 - 56,637
Impairment losses - - - 70 - - - 70
Disposals - 87) (120) (2,624) (1,152) (1,135) - (5,118)
Disposal through
subsidiaries sold - (3,330) - (14,408) (265) (799) - (18,802)
Currency translation
difference - 3,390 144 11,856 615 283 - 16,288
December 31, 2006 - 38,129 3,788 158,644 8,053 7,652 - 216,266
Net book value 10,670 213,557 12,770 337,636 14,439 14,483 24,995 628,550
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, certain property, plant and equipment are pledged as security for short-term and
long-term loans and borrowings of the Group. (Refer to Note 12).

1) Equipment under finance lease
The cost of property, plant and equipment held under finance lease is USD 824 and USD 535 and has a net book value of
USD 655 and USD 376 as at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (Refer to Note 27).

2) Impairment losses
In 2007, a net impairment reversal gain of USD 2,198 (2006 impairment loss: USD 70) was recognised (Refer to Note
19).

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other Other
intangible 2007 intangible 2006

Goodwill Brands assets Total Goodwill Brands assets Total
Cost
January 1 434,306 89,675 5,610 529,591 219,031 3,794 222,825

83,960

Additions 2,610 1,952 4,562 190,072 1,580 275,612
Disposals - (151) (152) - - (14) (14)
Disposals through subsidiaries sold - - - - - (59) (59)
Currency translation difference 15,237 2,941 565 18,743 25,203 5,715 309 31,227
December 31 452,153 92,616 7,976 552,745 434,306 89,675 5,610 529,591
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses
January 1 10,553 4,069 14,622 10,215 - 3,401 13,616
Amortisation for the year - 664 664 - - 445 445
Disposals - (148) (148) - - (14) (14)
Disposals through subsidiaries sold - - - - - (59) (59)
Currency translation difference 288 370 658 338 - 296 634
December 31 10,841 4,955 15,796 10,553 - 4,069 14,622
Net book value 441,312 - 3,021 536,949 423,753 89,6" 1,541 514,969

As a Group policy, the management performs impairment test for goodwill and brands with an indefinite useful life on
an annual base. Based on the impairment test for goodwill and brands, no grounds were identified for impairment charge
as of December 31, 2007. The recoverable amount of cash generating units, which is determined by discounting the
future cash flows, exceeded the carrying amount of the cash generating units including goodwill and brands. The
goodwill of USD 422,146 was attributable to the cash generating unit in Russia and the remaining goodwill of USD
19,166 was attributable to the other cash generating units as of December 31, 2007. The brands of USD 92,616 were
attributable to the cash generating unit in Russia as of December 31, 2007.

Cash flows were projected with a combination of the strategic business plans of the Company for the period 2008 till
2010 and were extrapolated for the period 2011 till 2017. Key assumptions such as country specific market growth rates,
GDP per capita and consumer price indices were derived from external sources. Main estimates such as beer and resin
prices, working capital requirements and capital expenditures were based on key assumptions and historical operating
data. The market growth and volume growth rates were estimated to be between 22.5% and 2%, and 29.5% and 2%,
respectively. The consumer price indices were estimated to be between 15% and 4%, and selling prices were estimated to
increase in line with inflation. These projections were discounted at the weighted average cost of capital of the cash
generating units ranged primarily between 8.93% and 12.68%.
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
The Company believes that all of its management estimates and key assumptions are reasonable. Management believes

that no reasonable possible change in any of the disclosed key assumptions would cause the carrying value materially
exceed its recoverable amount.

10. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2007 2006
ZAO Mutena Maltery (Mutena Maltery) 1,511 1,511
Others 10 64
Total — non-current 1,521 1,575

Mutena Maltery (11.09%) is carried at cost, since it does not have a quoted market price in an active market and its fair
value cannot be reliably measured by alternative valuation methods.

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006
Trade accounts payable 49,818 31,337
Taxes payable other than income tax 15,509 32,036
Accrued expenses 3,226 2,385
Payable for acquired shares - 28914
Liability for puttable instrument (note 30) 127,009 24,202
Other short-term payables 30,211 26,896
Total 225,773 145,770
Trade payables are non interest bearing and generally on 30-90 days’ term.
12. BORROWINGS
2007 2006
Current
Bank borrowings (including current portion of long-term borrowings) 203,212 160,360
Finance lease liabilities 219 90
203,431 160,450
Non-current
Bank borrowings 342,344 310,910
Finance lease liabilities 254 198
342,598 311,108
Total borrowings 546,029 471,558

A syndication loan amounting USD 300,000 originated in September 2006. Issue costs of USD 3,717 associated with the
loan has been netted off. The amortised cost for 2007 is USD 1,241 (2006-USD 208) and has been recognised as finance

expense in income statement.
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12. BORROWINGS (continued)

As of December 31, 2007, USD 343,566 (2006 — USD 383,203) of the total borrowings are secured with the followings:
- Cash collaterals amounting to USD 30,304 (2006 — USD 51,409)

- Efes Moscow's and Efes Karaganda's immovable and movable properties, including inventory balances; the
assignment of the rights regarding insurance coverage in respect of Efes Moscow's and Efes Karaganda's property
amounting to USD 2,515.

- 43% of Efes Moscow's shares and all shares of Efes Karaganda held by the Company.

- The ability of Efes Karaganda to declare dividends is subject to prior consent of the EBRD under the provisions of
the loan agreements.

- A Corporate guarantee amounting to USD 310,000 provided by Anadolu Efes.

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2007 2006

Bank borrowings
Non-current

USD and EURO denominated borrowings Base rate + (1.55%-3.55%) Base rate + (1.55%-3.65%)

Current
USD and Euro denominated borrowings Base rate + (0.5%-2.95%) Base rate + (0.5%-2.95%)
1.0% -7.5%
Other currency denominated borrowings Base rate + (0.24%0-1.5%) Base rate + 0.24%
7.75%-11.0% 7.9%-11.5%
Finance lease liabilities 12.25%-14.5% 14.5%-15.0%

Repayments of long-term debt are scheduled as follows (excluding finance lease obligation):

2007 2006

2007 - 22,204
2008 14,603 12,834
2009 299,119 298,075
2010 2,161 -

Thereafter 41,064 -

356,947 333,113

Future minimum lease payments for finance lease liabilities are as follows:

2007 2006
Next 1 year 267 139
1 to 5 years 277 236
After 5 years - -
Total minimum lease obligations 544 375
Interest (71) (87)
Present value of minimum obligations 473 288
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13. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2007 2006
Liability for puttable instrument - 103,100
Others 346 786
Total 346 103,886

Other non current liabilities mainly consists of employee termination benefit reserve for Efes Weifert and Efes Zajecar.
The Company has no other employee termination benefit reserve.

14.  SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2007 2006
Number of shares Number of shares

Common shares, par value of EUR 1
Authorized 250,000,000 250,000,000
Issued and outstanding 211,428,569 211,428,569

Movement in share capital

The movement of the share capital of the Company during 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2007 2006
Number of shares USD  Number of shares USD
At January 1, 211,428,569 237,488 148,000,000 156,921
Shares issued - - 63,428,569 80,567
At December 31 211,428,569 237,488 211,428,569 237,488

During 2006, the Company conducted a share rights offering for 63,428,569 new ordinary shares, with a nominal value
of EUR 1 to its existing shareholders Anadolu Efes, the Company's principal shareholder, and The Bank of New York, as
depositary of the GDRs. The new ordinary shares of 18,891,340 out of for 63,428,569 new shares were offered in the
form of GDRs, each representing five new ordinary shares. Anadolu Efes has participated in the share rights offering to
the full extent of its holding of 70.22 per cent of the Company’s share capital. The Bank of New York has subscribed for
3,524,717 new GDRs and HSBC Bank plc has subscribed for the remaining 253,551 new GDRs.

(23)



Efes Breweries International N.V. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2007

(Currency — Thousands of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated)
14.  SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, the composition of shareholders and their respective % of ownership can be
summarised as follows:

2007 2006
Anadolu Efes 70.22% 70.22%
Public 29.78% 29.78%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

Currency Translation Reserve

The currency translation reserve is used to record the exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

15.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (EPS), which is same as fully diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computation:

2007 2006
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 37,470 20,608
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 211,428,569 157,036,399
EPS (in full U.S. Dollars) 0.18 0.13
16. COST OF REVENUE
Cost of revenue comprised the following expenses:

2007 2006

Inventory used 348,722 235,380
Depreciation & Amortisation 47,259 41,136
Personnel expenses 23,633 20,793
Energy Expenses 20,600 16,928
Repair and maintenance expenses 12,916 10,206
Other expenses 8,970 4,400
Total expenses 462,100 328,843
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17. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses are analyzed as follows:

2007 2006
Marketing and advertising expenses 73,056 70,283
Distribution expenses 67,009 51,583
Personnel expenses 34,142 26,781
Depreciation & Amortisation 20,009 12,170
Other expenses 14,998 19,796
Total expenses 209,214 180,613
18. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses include the following:

2007 2006
Personnel expenses 37,689 28,583
Depreciation & Amortisation 5,009 3,776
Consulting and legal fees and other business services 8,659 7,367
Taxes and duties 10,009 8,120
Management fees and technical assistance 6,099 6,119
Rent expenses 662 1,638
Bad debt provision 972 134
Insurance expenses 1,365 1,352
Royalty 6,434 2,237
Representation and communication 1,651 1,347
Vehicle Expenses 1,315 1,039
Waste 2,381 2,687
Water, energy,sewage,fuel and heating 152 27
Other (tare losses) 486 -
Travel 631 351
Security 348 325
Repair and maintanence 1,096 988
Other expenses 9,861 7,711
Total expenses 94,819 73,801
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19. OTHER OPERATING INCOME / (EXPENSE)

Other Operating Expense:

2007 2006
Cost of sale of soda drinks - (854)
Provision for obsolete inventory (3,951) (1,834)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,138) (813)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Refer to Note 8) (232) (70)
Other expense (417) (2,556)
Total other operating expenses (5,738) (6,127)
Other Operating Income:
2007 2006
Disposal of Intangible assets 3,712 -
Income on sale of soda drinks - 952
Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary (Refer to Note 3) - 1,779
Release of unused provision for property, plant and equipment 2,430 -
Dividend income 136 173
Income from toll filling of Viva and Real 730 -
Net income from sale of treber and various materials 1,329 489
Income from equipment renting 825 88
Write-off expenses/payables 407 195
Release of unused provision -bad debt 1,083 687
Release of unused obselence - inventory 970 148
Other income 4,565 1,329
Total other operating income 16,187 5,840
20. PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
2007 2006
Wages and salaries 80,638 65,596
Other social expenses 14,826 10,561
Total expenses 95,464 76,157
The average number of employees for the years was:
2007 2006
Russia 2,710 2,909
Moldova 541 630
Kazakhstan 713 668
Serbia and Montenegro 391 445
Ukraine 53 98
Romania - 114
The Netherlands 8 8
4,416 4,872
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21. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSES

2007 2006

Property, plant and equipment
Cost of revenue 47,224 41,070
Selling and marketing 19,998 12,158
General and administrative 4,391 3,409
Other operating income/expense 301 -
Sub-total depreciation expense 71,914 56,637
Intangible assets
Cost of revenue 35 66
Selling and marketing 11 12
General and administrative 618 367
Sub-total amortisation expense 664 445
Total depreciation and amortisation expenses 72,578 57,082
22. FINANCIAL INCOME/ (EXPENSE)

2007 2006
Interest income 4,744 5,685
Foreign currency exchange gains 6,604 8,768
Total financial income 11,348 14,453
Interest expense on borrowings (36,437) (38,261)
Interest expense on finance lease (54) (157)
Foreign currency exchange losses - -
Other financial expense (3,781) (2,589)
Total financial expense (40,272) (41,007)
Net financial expense (28,924) (26,554)
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23. INCOME TAXES

2007 2006
Current tax expense (18,909) (13,327)
Deferred tax income/(expense) relating to the origination
and reversal of temporary differences 4,629 5,908
Total income tax (14,280) (7,419)
The reconciliation of the total income tax to the theoretical amount is as follows:

2007 2006
Profit before tax 51,627 28,831
Dividend income (136) (173)
Gain on sale of joint venture and subsidiary - (1,779)
Tax effect of loss making subsidiaries 10,170 11,100
Taxable profit 61,661 37,979
Tax calculated at the Company’s tax rate of 25.5% in 2007 and 29.6% in 2006 (15,724) (11,242)
Impact of different tax rates in other countries 1,782 3,622
Non deductible expenses (2,914) (3,332)
Over provided in prior years (520) 1,895
Utilization of previously unused tax losses 75 1,619
Effect of tax incentives 1,262 1,350
Tax losses carried forward - 495
Change in tax rate (1,005) (63)
Other reconciling items 2,764 (1,763)
Effective tax rate 27,7% 25,7%
Total income tax (14,280) (7,419)
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24 DEFERRED TAXES

Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Assets Liabilities Net

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Accruals 12,024 9,792 - - 12,024 9,792
Inventory 499 342 - (160) 499 182
Tax loss carried forward 13,005 10,305 - - 13,005 10,305
Prepayments 1,011 - - (198) 1,011 (198)
Tangible assets - - (26,347) (19,164) (26,347) (19,164)
Other 2,702 61 - (2,539) 2,702 (2,478)
29,241 20,500 (26,347) (22,061) 2,894 (1,561)

Net deferred income tax liability (10,912) (12,260)
Deferred income tax asset - tax loss carried forward 13,806 10,699

2,894 (1,561)

Deferred tax arises on the above in the following circumstances:

- property, plant and equipment: accelerated tax depreciation lead to tax bases lower than carrying amounts;

- Dbuildings and other investments (available-for-sale and trading investments) have different tax bases and carrying
amounts because revaluation is only done for accounting purposes. In the case of buildings carried at revalued
amounts and of available-for-sale investments, deferred tax is taken directly to equity (except when revaluation
increase or decrease is recognised in income);

- inventories may have carrying amounts lower than tax bases due to the elimination of unrealized profits on
intercompany sales;

- deferred charges are in some countries allowed to be fully deducted in the period in which they are incurred whereas
they may be charged to income over a longer period;

- some provisions may not be tax deductible in some countries until a payment is made to settle the obligation;

- fair value adjustments upon acquisition of a subsidiary may impact all of the above captions.

As of December 31, 2007, a deferred tax assets of USD 4,427 (2006 - USD 2,660) has not been recognised related to tax

losses carried forward, which are not expected to be utilised in the foreseeable future. Tax losses of USD 995 and USD
358 will expire within 1 and 7 years, respectively, while USD 3,073 will expire between 8 and 10 years.
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24. DEFERRED TAXES (continued)

Movements in deferred tax during the year 2007 are as follows:

Balance at Additions Disposals Recognised Translation Balance at
January 1, through through in income effect December 31,
2007 subsidiary subsidiary statement 2007
acquired sold

Accruals 9,792 - - 1,481 751 12,024
Inventory 182 - - 266 51 499
Tax loss carried forward 10,305 - - 2,694 6 13,005
Prepayments (198) - - 928 281 1,011
Tangible assets (19,164) - - (5,705) (1,478) (26,347)
Other (2,478) - - 4,965 215 2,702
(1,561) - - 4,629 (174) 2,894

Movements in deferred tax during the year 2006 are as follows:
Balance at Additions Disposals Recognised Translation Balance at
January 1, through through in income effect December 31,
2006 subsidiary subsidiary statement 2006

acquired sold

Accruals 7,475 - - 1,580 737 9,792
Inventory 372 143 - (331) 2) 182
Tax loss carried forward 3,307 84 - 6,883 31 10,305
Prepayments (162) - 97 (149) 16 (198)
Tangible assets (21,425) 5,098 199 (1,532) (1,504) (19,164)
Other (1,627) (316) 3 (543) 5 (2,478)
(12,060) 5,009 299 5,908 (717) (1,561)
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25. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Cash flows from acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries:

2007 2006

Acquisitions Disposal Acquisitions Disposal
Cash and cash equivalents - - 50,133 (24)
Trade receivables - - 2,670 (42)
Due from related parties - - 1,293 (9,610)
Inventories-net - - 27,641 (2,511)
Other current assets - - 16,255 (135)
Property, plant and equipment-net - - 206,985 (29,393)
Intangible assets - - 83,960 -
Deferred tax assets - - 5,009 -
Other non-current asset - - 10 (1,683)
Trade and other payables - - (4,714) 2,440
Due to related parties - - (1,804) 2,677
Short-term loans - - (62,279) 2,813
Other current liabilities - - (20,633) 1,932
Income tax payable - - @) 99
Long-term debt — net of current portion - - - 517
Deferred tax liability - - - 299
Accumulated exchange differences - - - 7,825
Fair value of net assets - - 304,522 (24,796)
Net assets acquired/sold - - 281,196 (24,796)
Recognised as decrease in retained earnings - - - -
Goodwill - - 85,481 -
Gain on sale of shares of subsidiary - - - 1,779
Total purchase/sale consideration - - 366,677 (26,575)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary - - (50,133) -
Net cash sold with subsidiary - - - 24
Net cash inflow/outflow for the initial acquisition - - 316,544 (26,551)
Disposal of an available-for-sale investment - - - (155)
Acquired minority shares of Efes Ukraine - - - -
Acquired minority shares of KV Group - - 1,627 -
Acquired minority shares of Efes Moscow - - 168,494 -
Acquired minority shares of Efes Weifert 3,144 - - -
Net cash outflow/inflow for the period ended 3,144 - 486,665 (26,706)

In October 2007, the Company acquired 6.25% of Efes Weifert shares for a total cash consideration of USD 3,144 (Note
3). In 2006, the net assets acquired of USD 281,196 represents 92.3% of KV Group’s net assets and net assets disposed
of USD 24,796 represents 49.99% of Interbrew Efes’ net assets which was consolidated on a proportionate basis till the

date of disposal.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of bank borrowings and finance leases. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise financing for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments
such as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk
and credit risk. The Group’s management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are
summarized below. The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

The categories as defined by IFRS 7 are included on the face of the balance sheet and that these categories are in line
with the classes of financial instruments as applied by the company. In addition, no differences exist between the carrying
value and the fair value of financial instruments

Financial Risk Management
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party
to incur a financial loss. The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. Maximum credit
risk on the Group is limited to the amounts disclosed on the financial statements. The Group has its credit control policies
and procedures in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit risk arising from the
transactions with customers is mitigated through operating with agreed credit limits and diversification of customers.
Management believes that the provisions made are sufficient to cover expected losses. The highest amounts of trade
receivables are approximately 9%, 3%, and 3% respectively of Group accounts receivable at December 31. 2007 (2006 —
4%, 4%, 3%) and there is no other significant concentration of credit risk.

Interest rate risk

Certain parts of the interest rates related to borrowings are based on market interest rates; therefore the Group is exposed
to interest rate fluctuations on domestic and international markets. The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations. The Group mainly enters into LIBOR based contracts in
its financial borrowings. As of December 31, 2007, 2% of the Group’s long-term debt was at fixed rates (December 31,
2006, 2%).

The weighted average effective interest rates which are calculated from different types of currencies, as at December 31,
2007 are as follows:

Fixed rate bank loans & bonds 9.3%
Floating rate bank loans Applicable Base Rate + 1.6%

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax:

Interest rate increase (%) Effect on profit before tax
2007 2006
USD denominated 1% 434 404
EURO denominated 1% 111 -
Other 1% 27 -
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currencies play a significant role in the economies of the territories where the most of the subsidiaries of the
Company are operating. The significant part of cash outflows related to financing activities as well as some part of
accounts payable balances are hard currency denominated, while cash inflows are primarily denominated in national
currencies. Significantly material part of company’s sales is recognized in local currencies where its subsidiaries operate.
Consequently, any significant decline in the value of the measurement currencies of the subsidiaries against U.S. Dollars
may have a negative effect on the subsidiaries’ financial position and results of their operations.

The subsidiaries generally do not hedge their foreign currency risks. The governments of these countries have established
strict currency controls, which place restrictions on the conversion of national currencies into hard currencies and
establish requirements for conversion of hard currency sales to national currencies.

Net foreign currency exposure for the consolidated group companies as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are presented
below:

2007 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 12,345 33,021
Trade receivables 699 268
Due from related parties 9,838 5,284
Other receivables 10,512 596
Foreign currency assets 33,395 39,169
Short-term borrowings 79,658 54,270
Current portion of long-term borrowings 8,152 12,457
Trade payables 18,983 20,044
Due to related parties 11,859 12,029
Other liabilities 645 1,543
Long-term borrowings 2,287 9,556
Foreign currency liabilities 121,584 109,899
Net foreign currency liability (88,189) (70,730)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rate, with all
other variables held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

Currency Change (%) Effect on Profit Before Tax
2007 2006
USD/EUR 10% (2,125) 554
RUB/USD 10% (988) (2,688)
KZT/USD 10% (4,467) (3,955)
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle obligations to the Group within the
normal terms of trade. To manage this risk the Group periodically assesses the financial viability of customers.

The following table demonstrates the due dates of assets and liabilities according to the balance sheet date.

December 31, 2007 On Demand Less than 3 months 3to0 12 months 1to5years > 5 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 5,797 52,729 - - - 58,526
Due from related parties - 8,161 - - - 8,161
Trade receivables - 85,368 2,772 - - 88,140
Total assets 5,797 146,258 2,772 - - 154,828
Short term loans - 34,495 168,936 - - 203,431
Long term loans - - - 342,598 - 342,598
Lease obligations - - - - - -
Due to related parties - 23,339 - - - 23,339
Trade payables - 50,406 - - - 50,406
Total liabilities - 108,240 168,936 342,796 - 619,774
Net liquidity gap 5,797 38,018 (166,163) (1342,796) - (464,946)
December 31, 2006 On Demand Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1to 5 years > 5 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 9,074 154,787 - - - 163,861
Due from related parties - 3,475 - - - 3,475
Trade receivables - 47,815 1,815 - - 49,630
Total assets 9,074 206,077 1,815 - - 216,966
Short term loans - 99,526 60,924 - - 160,450
Long term loans - - - 311,108 - 311,108
Lease obligations - - - - - -
Due to related parties - 9,745 12,403 - - 22,148
Trade payables - 32,727 - - - 32,727
Total liabilities - 141,998 73,327 311,108 - 526,433
Net liquidity gap 9,074 64,078 (71512) (311,108) - (1309,467)
Fair Values

The fair values of trade receivables and other current assets (net of provision) and trade and other payables are estimated
to approximate carrying value due to their short-term nature.

The fair values of short-term and long-term leasing obligations approximate their carrying values since they are
denominated in foreign currencies and revalued at year-end exchange rates.

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated to approximate its carrying value since it is primarily denominated in

foreign currencies and is revalued at year-end exchange rates, a substantial portion of long-term debt carries variable
interest rates.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Following table shows the development of allowances on trade receivables:

2007 2006

As of January 1 10,974 3,884
Addition 972 134
Reversal of unused provision (1,083) (687)
Addition through subsidiary acquired - 6,630
Disposal through subsidiary sold - 3)
Currency translation differences 902 1,028
Other (463) (12)
11,302 10,974

The following table shows the analysis of the age of past due trade receivables:

Of which: neither Of which: not impaired on the reporting date and

impairment nor past past due in the following periods
due on the reporting lessthan 30  between 30 and between 61 and
date days 60 days 90 days
Trade receivables 2007 74,476 6,930 1,428 4,073
Trade receivables 2006 38,249 7,417 1,715 624

USD 1,980 of trade receivables would be overdue if the terms have not been changed.

27. LEASES

Lessee - Finance Lease

Property leased by the Group includes buildings, machinery and equipment. The most significant obligations assumed
under the lease terms, other than rental payments, are the upkeep of the facilities, insurance and property taxes. Lease

terms generally range from 3 to 25 years with options to renew at varying terms.

The following is an analysis of assets under finance leases:

2007 2006
Machinery and equipment - 119
Other tangible assets 884 416
Accumulated depreciation (229) (159)
Net book value 655 376

Lessee - Operating Lease

The brewery of Efes Moscow is situated on a site leased from the Moscow City Government under a 49-year lease
contract to be expired by 2048. The lease rights, as well as fixed assets, are mortgaged for the full carrying amounts to
secure obligations of Efes Moscow under the loan agreements with the EBRD. The fair value of the future payment
obligations of Efes Moscow to Moscow City Government under the land lease agreement for the remaining life time of

the contracts amount to USD 1,338 (2006 — USD 1,944)
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28. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group's risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different countries which is
considered to be the primary segment and the secondary segment is the business. The Group is in a single product
business and products other than beer represent less than 10% of the Group’s revenue. Segment information is presented
in respect of the Group’s geographical segments based on location of its assets and customers. Segment results include
items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Russia & Kazakhstan Serbia & Moldova Others* & Eliminations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
External Revenues 763,791 566,628 74,688 60,653 (2,244) 11,648 836,235 638,929
Gross Profit 344,051 284,201 31,212 22,736 (1,127) 3,149 374,135 310,086
Operating expenses (-) (269,378) (224,342)  (24550)  (26,399) 344 (3,960)  (293,584) (254,701)
Operating Income 74,673 59,859 6,662 (3,663) (783) (811) 80,551 55,385
Financial Expense - net (13,609) (8,229) (1,124) (1,075)  (14,191) (17,249)  (28,924) (26,553)
Profit Before Tax 61,064 51,630 5,538 (4,738) (14,974) (18,060) 51,627 28,832
Segment Assets 1,113,042 396,342 129,155 94,139 440,698 1,037,284 1,682,895 1,527,765
Investment in Associates - - 10 64 1,511 1,511 1,521 1,575
Total Assets 1,113,042 396,342 129,165 94,203 442,209 1,038,795 1,684,416 1,529,340
Segment Liabilities 474,863 134,910 59,263 33,777 277,281 588,629 811,407 757,316
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (108,655) (105,169)  (17,829)  (15,288) 782 (3,796)  (125,703) (122,613)
Depreciation& Amortization
expenses 62,158 46,710 9,891 7,926 529 2,446 72,578 57,082
Other non cash items 3,463 532 1,914 1,778 (2,494) (2,142) 2,883 168

* Others include EBI Holding Company and other subsidiaries included in consolidated financial statements.
29. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the shareholders of the Company and their associates and the
companies, which are identified to be controlled by/associated with them, are referred to as related parties.

1) Balances with Related Parties

Balances with related parties as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, which are separately classified in the consolidated
balance sheet, are as follows:

Due from related parties 2007 2006
Efes Holland Technical Management Consultancy N.V. (Efes Holland) (2) 2,727 2,439
Coca-Cola Bottlers Kazakhstan Almaty (Coca-Cola Almaty) (2) 111 370
Coca-Cola Bishkek Bottlers C.J.S.C (Coca-Cola Bishkek) (2) 1,970 519
Mutena Maltery (3) 343 147
Anadolu Efes (2) 63 -
Anadolu Efes TMC (2) 2,947 -
Total 8,161 3,475
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29. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Due to related parties 2007 2006
Efes Holland TMC (2) 12,624 15,434
Mutena Maltery (3) 5,169 4,327
Oyex Handels Gmbh (2) 3,583 1,540
Efpa (2) - 10
Anadolu Efes (1) 1,287 118
ABH (2) 656 719
Efes Tur (2) 20 -
Total 23,339 22,148

2) Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions with related parties are done at normal market conditions. The most significant transactions with related
parties during the year ended December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Nature of Transaction Related Party Amount
Management and license fee expense to; Efes Holland (2) 7,799
Sale of beer to; Coca-Cola Bishkek (2) 3,394
Sale of beer to; Coca-Cola Almaty (2) 2,442
Purchase of soda drinks from; Coca-Cola Almaty (2) 91
Purchase of raw materials from; Oyex Handels Gmbh (2) 9,724
Purchase of beer from; Anadolu Efes (1) 3,004
Purchase of beer from,; Anadolu Efes (1) 67
Processing services from; Mutena Maltery (3) 9,503
Heating and water services given to; Mutena Maltery (3) 1,277
Dividend income from Mutena Maltery (3) 136
Processing services from; Efes Tur (2) 89
Purchase of service from; ABH (2) 1,631

(1)  The ultimate shareholder of the Company
(2)  Related party of Anadolu Efes
(3)  Company’s investment

3) Emoluments of the Board of Directors

a) The remuneration of management board of USD 578 (2006 — USD 284) and supervisory board of USD 174
(2006 — USD 125) were included in personnel expenses. The remuneration of management board consists of
salary and bonus.

b) No shares are held by the members of directors of the Company.
c) There are no share options granted to the directors of the Company.
d) No loans have been granted to the directors of the Company.
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30. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Put options

A put option has been granted to the EBRD by the Company that may be exercisable between 2008 and 2011. By such
put option, the EBRD will be entitled to sell its 8.8% of Efes Moscow shares to the Company at an option price to be
determined by an independent valuation.

A put option has been granted to the OAO Krasny Vostok Agro that may be exercisable between 2007 and 2009. By such
option, OAO Krasny Vostok Agro will have right to sell its 6.7% of KV Group shares to the Company at an option price
either at in full USD 0.395 multiplied by number of shares plus interest accrued from the date of the option until the date
of completion at a rate of LIBOR plus 4.9% or the consolidated EBITDA multiplied by a multiple of nine minus net
indebtedness.

Following revised IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), the obligation for the participating
interest related with put options have been regarded as ‘liability for puttable instruments’ in the Group’s financial
statements, to be stated at fair value. The liability for the put option has been measured by applying a weighting of
different valuation techniques based on best estimates currently available. Subsequent changes to the valuation of the put
options have been recorded as changes to ‘liability for puttable instruments’ and to goodwill, without any direct impact
on the consolidated income statement.

The contingent considerations related with the put options granted to EBRD and OAO Krasny Vostok Agro of USD
102,807 and USD 24,202 have been presented as ‘liability for puttable instruments’ in trade and other payables in the
consolidated balance sheet. In order to give effect to the recognition of the liability for puttable instruments, the equity
and net income attributable to the interest of minority shareholders of Efes Moscow and KV Group have been decreased
by 8.8% and 6.7%, respectively.

Tax and legal matters

Legislation and regulations regarding taxation and foreign currency transactions in most of the territories in which the
Group operates continue to evolve as the government manages the transformation from a command to a market-oriented
economy. Various regulations are not always clearly written and their interpretation is subject to the opinions of the local,
regional and national tax authorities, the Central Bank and Ministry of Finance. Tax declarations, together with other
legal compliance areas (for example, customs and currency control matters) are subject to review and investigation by a
number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose significant fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts
create tax risks in the territories in which the Group operates substantially more than typically found in countries with
more developed tax systems.

Management believes that all applicable taxes have been paid or accrued and the ultimate liability, if any, arising from

such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future
operations of the Group.
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31 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2008, the Company reached an agreement with Heineken International B.V. (“Heineken™) to establish a joint
venture to jointly invest in Uzbekh market. The Company and Heineken will have 60% and 40% shares in the joint
venture, respectively, whereas the Company will have the management control.

In February 2008, the Company has announced that it has completed the acquisition of 100% shares of Joint Stock
Company Lomisi (JSC Lomisi), a brewery in Georgia with an annual brewing capacity of 0.55 mlh and an estimated

market share of 42% by volume in 2007.

The Company executed a Share Purchase Agreement regarding the sale of all shares currently owned by the Company,
representing 92.9% of the voting shares of KV Group, to MEB.

A loan agreement has been signed between MEB and HSBC amounting to USD 120,000 on March 19, 2008.
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